

Biosimilars: A global roadmap for policy sustainability

Authored by

Tim Wilsdon, Michele Pistollato, Kirsty Ross-Stewart, Rowan Saada, Pablo Barquin

Charles River Associates

8 Finsbury Circus, London EC2M 7EA

Co-authored by

Dr. Khalid Alnaqbi,ⁱ Alex Brill,ⁱⁱ Dr. Gilberto Castañeda Hernández,ⁱⁱⁱ Dr. Ana Clopés Estela,^{iv} Dr. Olga Delgado Sánchez,^v Dr. Pilar García Alfonso,^{vi} Pius Gyger,^{vii} Daniel Heinrich,^{viii} Germain Hezard,^{ix} Dr. Adriana Kakehasi,^x Cheryl Koehn,^{xi} Dr. Olivier Mariotte,^{xii} Prof. Francesco Mennini,^{xiii} Prof. Sonia Mayra Pérez Tapia,^{xiv} Dr. Tadanori Sasaki,^{xv} Prof. Steven Simoens,^{xvi} George Tambassis,^{xvii} Prof. Dr. med. Marc Thill,^{xviii} Dr. Gustavo Werutsky,^{xix}

ⁱ Tawam Hospital; College of Medicine & Health Sciences, UAE University; ⁱⁱ Matrix Global Advisors; American Enterprise Institute, USA; ⁱⁱⁱ Centro de Investigación y de Estudios Avanzados del Instituto Politécnico Nacional (CINVESTAV), Mexico; ^{iv} Catalan Oncology Institute, Barcelona, Spain; ^v Espases University Hospital, Palma de Mallorca, Spain; ^{vii} Hospital Gregorio Marañon, Madrid, Spain; ^{vii} Previous member of Swiss Federal Commission of Drugs, Switzerland; ^{viii} Innlandet Hospital Trust Gjøvik, Norway; ^{ix} Nile, France; [×] Federal University of Minas Gerais (UFMG), Brazil; ^{xii} Arthritis Consumer Experts, Canada; ^{xii} Nile, France; ^{xiii} University of Rome "Tor Vergata"; Italian Society of Health technology Assessment (SiHTA), Italy; ^{xiv} Unidad de investigacion, desarollo e innovacion medica y biotecnologica (UDIMEB); Unidad de desarollo e investigacion de bioterapeuticos (UDIBI), Mexico; ^{xv} Showa University, Japan; ^{xvi} KU Leuven University, Belgium; ^{xvii} Australian Biosimilars Academy, Australia; ^{xviii} Agaplesion Markus Hospital, Frankfurt, Germany; ^{xix} São Lucas Hospital da PUCRS, Brazil

Geographical Background	Co-author	Role				
Australia	George Tambassis	Current Chair of the Australian Biosimilars Academy; former President of the Pharmacy Guild of Australia				
Belgium & the Netherlands	Steven Simoens	Professor of Pharmaco-economics at KU Leuven University, Belgium				
Provil	Dr. Gustavo Werutsky	Assistant Professor of Medical Oncology, Hospital São Lucas da PUCRS				
Drazii	Dr. Adriana Kakehasi	Associate Professor of Rheumatology, Federal University of Minas Gerais (UFMG)				
Canada	Cheryl Koehn	Founder and President of Arthritis Consumer Experts				
France	Dr. Olivier Mariotte	Founder of Nile				
France	Germain Hezard	Consultant at Nile				
Germany	Prof. Dr. med. Marc Thill	Chief of Gynecology and Gynecological Oncology, Agaplesion Markus Hospital, Frankfurt				
Italy	Prof. Francesco Saverio Mennini	Professor of Health Economics and Microeconomics, EEHTA-CEIS Director, University of Rome "Tor Vergata"; President of Italian Society of Health Technology Assessment (SiHTA)				
Japan	Dr Tadanori Sasaki	Specially Appointed Professor, Showa University				
	Sonia Mayra Pérez Tapia	Executive Director UDIMEB, CEO UDIBI, Research Professor of Immunology				
Mexico	Gilberto Castañeda Hernández	Senior Investigator of Pharmacology, Centro de Investigación y de Estudios Avanzados del Instituto Politécnico Nacional (CINVESTAV)				
Norway	Dr. Daniel Heinrich	Consultant Clinical Oncologist, Chair of the Board of the Norwegian Association of Oncology				
	Dr. Olga Delgado Sánchez	Director of Hospital Pharmacy in the Son Espases University Hospital, Palma de Mallorca				
Spain	Dr. Ana Clopés Estela	Pharmacist and Deputy Director of Catalan Oncology Institute, Barcelona				
	Dr. Pilar García Alfonso	Head of Medical Oncology, Hospital Gregorio Marañon, Madrid				
Switzerland	Pius Gyger	Independent consultant, previously member of Swiss Federal Commission of Drugs				
UAE	Dr. Khalid A. Alnaqbi	Consultant & Chief of Rheumatology, Tawam hospital; Clinical Assistant Professor, College of Medicine & Health Sciences, UAE University				
USA	Alex Brill	CEO, Matrix Global Advisors; Senior Fellow, American Enterprise Institute				

Alnaqbi, K.A., Barquin, P., Brill, A., Castañeda Hernández, G., Clopés Estela, A., Delgado Sánchez, O., García Alfonso, P., Gyger, P., Heinrich, D., Hezard, G., Kakehasi, A., Koehn, C., Mariotte, O., Pérez Tapia, S.M., Pistollato, M., Mennini, F., Ross-Stewart, K., Saada, R., Sasaki, T., Simoens, S., Tambassis, G., Thill, M., Werutsky, G., Wilsdon, T. 2022. Biosimilars: A global roadmap for policy sustainability.4

Any correspondence to be directed to Michele Pistollato at <u>mpistollato@crai.com</u>.

This report was commissioned and funded by Organon International ("Organon"). The report was authored by individual country experts and Charles River Associates ("CRA"), who received honoraria from Organon. In particular, individual country experts were engaged by Organon and were compensated based on locally approved fair market value rates. Although editorial control remained with the authors, Organon provided commentary and review throughout the development of this report.

The conclusions set forth in this report are based on independent research, publicly available material and the contributions of the contracted experts. The views expressed in this report are the views and opinions of the authors and do not necessarily reflect or represent the views of Organon, CRA, or any of the organisations with which the authors are affiliated.

Detailed information about Charles River Associates, a trade name of CRA International, Inc., is available at www.crai.com.

Copyright © 2022 Charles River Associates.

Abbreviations

AAM	Association for Accessible Medicines
AE	adverse event
ANVISA	Agência Nacional de Vigilância Sanitária [Brazilian regulatory agency]
ASMR	amélioration du service médical rendu [improvement of medical benefit]
AU / AUS	Australia
BE / BEL	Belgium
BPD	Biosimilar Product Development
BR / BRA	Brazil
CA / CAN	Canada
CADTH	Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health
CCG	Clinical Commissioning Groups
CEIS	Centre for Economic and International Studies
CEO	Chief Executive Officer
CH / CHE	Switzerland
CHF	Swiss francs
CINVESTAV	Centro de Investigación y de Estudios Avanzados del Instituto Politécnico Nacional [centre of research and advanced studies from the National Polytechnic Institute]
COFEPRIS	Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios (Federal Committee for Protection From Sanitary Risks)
COFEPRIS COVID	Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios (Federal Committee for Protection From Sanitary Risks) COVID-19, Coronavirus
COFEPRIS COVID pCPA	Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios (Federal Committee for Protection From Sanitary Risks) COVID-19, Coronavirus pan-Canadian Pharmaceutical Alliance
COFEPRIS COVID pCPA CRA	Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios (Federal Committee for Protection From Sanitary Risks) COVID-19, Coronavirus pan-Canadian Pharmaceutical Alliance Charles River Associates
COFEPRIS COVID pCPA CRA CT	Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios (Federal Committee for Protection From Sanitary Risks) COVID-19, Coronavirus pan-Canadian Pharmaceutical Alliance Charles River Associates Commission de la Transparence (Transparency Committee)
COFEPRIS COVID pCPA CRA CT DE / DEU	Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios (Federal Committee for Protection From Sanitary Risks) COVID-19, Coronavirus pan-Canadian Pharmaceutical Alliance Charles River Associates Commission de la Transparence (Transparency Committee) Germany
COFEPRIS COVID pCPA CRA CT DE / DEU DNA	Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios (Federal Committee for Protection From Sanitary Risks) COVID-19, Coronavirus pan-Canadian Pharmaceutical Alliance Charles River Associates Commission de la Transparence (Transparency Committee) Germany deoxyribonucleic acid
COFEPRIS COVID pCPA CRA CT DE / DEU DNA DPC	Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios (Federal Committee for Protection From Sanitary Risks) COVID-19, Coronavirus pan-Canadian Pharmaceutical Alliance Charles River Associates Commission de la Transparence (Transparency Committee) Germany deoxyribonucleic acid Diagnostic Procedure Combination
COFEPRIS COVID pCPA CRA CT DE / DEU DNA DPC EEHTA	Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios (Federal Committee for Protection From Sanitary Risks) COVID-19, Coronavirus pan-Canadian Pharmaceutical Alliance Charles River Associates Commission de la Transparence (Transparency Committee) Germany deoxyribonucleic acid Diagnostic Procedure Combination Economic Evaluation and HTA
COFEPRIS COVID pCPA CRA CT DE / DEU DNA DPC EEHTA EMA	Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios (Federal Committee for Protection From Sanitary Risks) COVID-19, Coronavirus pan-Canadian Pharmaceutical Alliance Charles River Associates Commission de la Transparence (Transparency Committee) Germany deoxyribonucleic acid Diagnostic Procedure Combination Economic Evaluation and HTA European Medicines Agency
COFEPRIS COVID pCPA CRA CT DE / DEU DNA DPC EEHTA EMA ES / ESP	Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios (Federal Committee for Protection From Sanitary Risks) COVID-19, Coronavirus pan-Canadian Pharmaceutical Alliance Charles River Associates Commission de la Transparence (Transparency Committee) Germany deoxyribonucleic acid Diagnostic Procedure Combination Economic Evaluation and HTA European Medicines Agency Spain
COFEPRIS COVID pCPA CRA CT DE / DEU DNA DPC EEHTA EMA ES / ESP EU	Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios (Federal Committee for Protection From Sanitary Risks) COVID-19, Coronavirus pan-Canadian Pharmaceutical Alliance Charles River Associates Commission de la Transparence (Transparency Committee) Germany deoxyribonucleic acid Diagnostic Procedure Combination Economic Evaluation and HTA European Medicines Agency Spain European Union
COFEPRIS COVID pCPA CRA CT DE / DEU DNA DPC EEHTA EMA ES / ESP EU FDA	Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios (Federal Committee for Protection From Sanitary Risks) COVID-19, Coronavirus pan-Canadian Pharmaceutical Alliance Charles River Associates Commission de la Transparence (Transparency Committee) Germany deoxyribonucleic acid Diagnostic Procedure Combination Economic Evaluation and HTA European Medicines Agency Spain European Union Food and Drug Administration
COFEPRIS COVID pCPA CRA CT DE / DEU DNA DPC EEHTA EMA ES / ESP EU FDA FR / FRA	Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios (Federal Committee for Protection From Sanitary Risks) COVID-19, Coronavirus pan-Canadian Pharmaceutical Alliance Charles River Associates Commission de la Transparence (Transparency Committee) Germany deoxyribonucleic acid Diagnostic Procedure Combination Economic Evaluation and HTA European Medicines Agency Spain European Union Food and Drug Administration France
COFEPRIS COVID pCPA CRA CT DE / DEU DNA DPC EEHTA EMA ES / ESP EU FDA FR / FRA FTA	Comisión Federal para la Protección contra Riesgos Sanitarios (Federal Committee for Protection From Sanitary Risks) COVID-19, Coronavirus pan-Canadian Pharmaceutical Alliance Charles River Associates Commission de la Transparence (Transparency Committee) Germany deoxyribonucleic acid Diagnostic Procedure Combination Economic Evaluation and HTA European Medicines Agency Spain European Union Food and Drug Administration France free-trade agreements

GDPR	General Data Protection Regulation
GEK	Gmuender Ersatzkasse [statutory sick fund]
GKV	Gesetzliche Krankenversicherung-Spitzenverband [statutory health insurance]
GSAV	Gesetz für mehr Sicherheit in der Arzneimittelversorgung [<i>law for more safety in the supply of medicines</i>]
HAS	Haute Autorité de Santé [high authority of health]
НСР	healthcare professional
HPV	Human papillomavirus
HSA	health sciences authorities
HTA	health technology assessment
ICS	integrated care systems
IGBA	International Generic and Biosimilar Medicines Association
INESSS	Institut national d'excellence en santé et en services sociaux [national institute of health and social services excellence]
INN	international non-proprietary name
IP	intellectual property
IT / ITA	Italy
IV	intravenous
JP / JPN	Japan
KBV	Kassenärztlichen Bundesvereinigung [association of statutory health insurance physicians]
KSA / SAU	Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
KU	Katholieke Universiteit [Catholic university]
KV	Krankenversicherung [statutory health insurance system]
LoE	loss of exclusivity
LMI	Legemiddelindustrien [pharmaceutical industry association]
MEX/MX	Mexico
MHRA	Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency
MNGHA	Saudi Ministry of National Guard Health Affairs
MOHAP	Ministry of Health and Prevention
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NL / NLD	Netherlands
NMS	non-medical switching
NO / NOR	Norway
PAG	patient advocacy group
PBAC	Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee

PDP	product development partnership
PUCRS	Pontifícia Universidade Católica do Rio Grande do Sul [Pontifical Catholic University of Rio Grande do Sul]
Q4	fourth quarter
R&D	research and development
RD	rare disease
RWE	real world evidence
SAU	Saudi Arabia
SC	subcutaneous
SL	specialities list
SPC	supplementary protection certificate
ТА	therapeutic area
TGA	Therapeutic Goods Administration
UAE	United Arab Emirates
UDIBI	Unidad de Desarrollo e Investigación de Bioterapéuticos [biotherapeutic research and development unit]
UDIMEB	Unidad de Investigación, Desarrollo e Innovación Meédica y Biotecnológica [medical and biotechnological research, development and innovation unit]
UFMG	Universidade federal Minas Gerais [Federal University of Minas Gerais]
UN	United Nations
US / USA	United States of America
USPTO	US Patent and Trademark Office
USTR	US Trade Representative
VR	verification route
WHO	World Health Organization

Table of Contents

1 – Introduc	tion	1
1.1.	Background	1
1.2.	What is 'sustainability' of biosimilars and why may it be an issue?	3
1.3.	Geographic scope of the analysis	4
1.4.	Structure of the white paper	5
2 – White pa	aper methodology	6
2.1.	Stage 1 – A literature review was undertaken to develop a 'sustainability scorecard'	7
2.2.	Stage 2 – Country policy landscape assessments were based on secondary research and local interviews	t 9
2.3.	Stage 3 – Two international advisory board meetings were held to inform the developmer of actionable policy recommendations for long-term biosimilar sustainability	ıt 12
3 – Biosimil	ar policy evaluation for long-term biosimilar sustainability	13
3.1.	Manufacturing and R&D	14
3.2.	Regulatory Approval	17
3.3.	Health Technology Assessment	19
3.4.	Pricing and reimbursement	22
3.5.	Contracting	28
3.6.	Biosimilar education and understanding	33
3.7.	Prescribing	35
3.8.	Dispensing	40
3.9.	Monitoring	43
4 – Cross-c	ountry sustainability assessment	46
4.1.	Manufacturing and R&D	48
4.2.	Regulatory approval	49
4.3.	Health technology assessment	50
4.4.	Pricing and reimbursement	51
4.5.	Contracting	52
4.6.	Biosimilar education and understanding	53
4.7.	Prescribing	54
4.8.	Dispensing	55
4.9.	Monitoring	56
5 – Policy re	ecommendations for a sustainable long-term biosimilar environment	58
5.1.	Manufacturing and R&D	58

5.2.	Regulatory approval
5.3.	Health technology assessment
5.4.	Pricing and reimbursement61
5.5.	Contracting
5.6.	Biosimilar education and understanding64
5.7.	Prescribing
5.8.	Dispensing67
5.9.	Monitoring
5.10.	Overarching learnings
Appendix 1	
Bibliography	72

Executive summary

Introduction

A biosimilar is a biological medicine which has been shown not to have any clinically meaningful differences from the originator medicine in terms of quality, safety and efficacy. The manufacture of biologics from living organisms subjects them to various modifications intrinsic to biology and nature. The first regulatory pathway for biosimilars to be commercialised was established in 2005 in Europe and the first European biosimilar approved in 2006.¹ Since then, the European Medicines Agency (EMA) has approved 55 biosimilars (with 65 marketing authorisation decisions) for 16 different reference products. In the US, a biosimilars pathway was created in 2010, and the first US biosimilar was approved in 2015. As of April 2022, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has approved 30 biosimilars for 10 reference products.² Canada has 46 biosimilars approved for 14 different reference products.³ Other countries also have official biosimilar guidelines, including Japan⁴ and Saudi Arabia.⁵ The biosimilar pipeline in different countries will continue to evolve as biologics in new therapeutic areas approach patent expiry. Biologics expected to lose exclusivity in the EU and the US in the next five years include golimumab for musculoskeletal disorders in 2024 and belimumab for musculoskeletal and haematological disorders in 2026. Although the number of biologics facing loss of exclusivity (LoE) is continuing to grow, it cannot be expected that there will necessarily be biosimilars manufactured for all of these biologic products (especially within orphan indications).⁶ Furthermore, not all biosimilars approved by the EMA are available in the majority of European countries, reflecting potential sustainability limitations across existing policy frameworks. It will be important that adaptations to existing policy frameworks are managed such that they create a sustainable environment for newer biosimilar products in the long term.

Given the potential of biosimilars to control healthcare expenses, it is not surprising that there is a growing literature on the long-term sustainability of market for biosimilars. A number of existing studies have sought consensus on how to define sustainability.^{7,8} We have chosen to use the definition developed by Vulto et al. (2020),⁹ which defines a sustainable biosimilar market as an environment where "all stakeholders, including patients, benefit from appropriate and reliable access to biological therapies. Competition leads to a long-term predictable price level, without compromising quality, while delivering savings that may be reinvested."

The need to understand how policy can improve sustainability of the biosimilar market is clear:

- Variation in biosimilar uptake: As of 2021, biosimilars capture 10% of the total biologic pool in Europe, 7% of this share having been achieved in the last five years, demonstrating their growth.¹⁰ Biosimilar uptake in countries such as Japan and the US has been significantly slower, although this can vary widely across products. This suggests that the potential for biosimilars has not been completely realised.
- The issue of market confidence persists: Misconceptions around the safety of biosimilars as non-identical molecular entities result in mistrust among physicians and even patients that can affect usage.¹¹
- The effectiveness of biosimilar practices and policy is questioned: Policies in some markets have led to debates between payers/governments and manufacturers. For example, the lack of specific pricing mechanisms accounting for biosimilar differences in Brazil can result in biosimilars being priced similarly to generics, attracting industry criticism. As a result, there are ongoing negotiations with governments focused on introducing biosimilar pricing reforms with biosimilar-specific considerations.¹²

• Policymakers continue to apply policy designed for generic small molecules inappropriately to biosimilars: Many biosimilar policies draw on the experience of the small molecule generic market. Moreover, many markets do not differentiate between these two very different products. There is a concern that applying small molecule policies to the biosimilar market is unsustainable; for example, when markets are overly dependent on a small number of suppliers, this may increase the risk of supply shortages.

This paper addresses three key questions:

(1) Can we define an 'ideal' biosimilar policy toolkit that will ensure long-term sustainability that is applicable across different market circumstances, across different types of biosimilars?

(2) To what extent does existing biosimilar policy across a global selection of countries promote a long-term sustainable environment benefitting all stakeholders?

(3) Can we provide countries with tangible and actionable recommendations for meaningful improvements to the biosimilar sector applicable to different types of biosimilars?

To tackle these three questions, we undertook a literature review, which was followed by external consultation with country experts. A long list of biosimilar policies across nine key biosimilar policy areas (**Table 1**), developed on a basis of secondary research, was validated by experts. Two international advisory board meetings, made up of these experts, were held in order to develop actionable policy recommendations regarding the most appropriate policies to ensure a sustainable biosimilar environment in the long term. This evaluated the pros and cons of each of the policies regarding their contribution to long-term sustainability for biosimilars, drawing on real-life experience. We then were able to assign 'sustainability ratings' for each policy area for 17 countries: Australia, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Mexico, Netherlands, Norway, Saudi Arabia, Spain, Switzerland, United Arab Emirates, the UK and the US.

	Manufacturing and R&D	Local manufacturing incentivesManufacturing exemption waivers
<u>^</u>	Regulatory approval	 Streamlined evidence requirements Simplified regulatory approval through international collaboration Regulatory support for biosimilar submission
R	Health technology assessment	Exemption from HTA requirementsSimplified assessments
₁ ×	Pricing and reimbursement	 Automatic reimbursement following regulatory approval Full coverage or partial coverage Exclusionary contracts Mandatory discounts for biosimilars and/or originators Tiered price discounts for subsequent biosimilar products Progressive price discounts, applied over time Reference pricing (both internally and internationally)
	Contracting	Direct contracting with providersTendering procedures
İ	Biosimilar education and understanding	 Healthcare professional (HCP) and pharmacist educational programs Patient educational programs
Ę	Prescribing	 Clinical recommendations for prescriber-initiated prescription of biosimilars Mandated switching Prescription quotas for volume of biosimilar prescription Financial incentives linked to volume of biosimilar prescription Financial penalties linked to volume of biosimilar prescription International non-proprietary name (INN) prescribing
666	Dispensing	 Automatic substitution Regressive retailer markups Reduced patient co-payments
~~	Monitoring	 Post-commercialisation pharmacovigilance measures Transparency in usage reporting Monitoring of product ability to supply

Table 1: Biosimilar policies evaluated acro	oss nine key policy areas
---	---------------------------

Source: CRA

1 – Can we define an 'ideal' biosimilar policy toolkit that will ensure long-term sustainability?

Based on secondary research, there are some areas where there is a clear consensus on 'ideal' sustainable biosimilar policies. For example, policies ensuring safe and high-quality biosimilars are consistently considered sustainable (e.g. post-commercialisation pharmacovigilance measures – although, even here, countries recognised that this went beyond biosimilars and would take years to fully implement in some markets). Similarly, policies supporting mitigation of frequently held biosimilar misconceptions were also considered prerequisites for sustainability (e.g. multi-stakeholder educational programs led by patient advocacy groups and/or governmental organisations). However, there are also many instances where seemingly similar policies are being applied in different markets, but they are seen as sustainable in some and unsustainable in others. For example, use of healthcare professional

(HCP) incentives in the UK to drive initial uptake of biosimilars is seen as a means of improving sustainability. However, such measures have been highlighted as unsustainable in Latin America countries like Mexico, given the lack of transparency around them and the perception that this inappropriately influences physician behaviour. In other markets, incentives are seen as a temporary policy to boost biosimilar initial adoption that should slowly be removed as the community gains knowledge and experience with biosimilars. Similarly, the sustainability of a given policy can vary depending on the type of biologic used for treatment. For example, incentivising switching to best alternative treatments can be seen as a positive regulation to increase biosimilar uptake in areas like oncology, where the focus is on initiation of new patients, as treatment is of a shorter duration. However, there are different concerns for chronic diseases where patients will be on treatment for an extended duration and patients and physicians may have preferences for a particular manufacturer and hence, there are different considerations regarding any proposal to switch.

More generally, the sustainability of many policies depends on the nature of the healthcare system, the way that the biosimilar is prescribed or dispensed and the history and experience with biosimilar use. A clear example of the latter are policies promoting the use of 'best value biologics', which are unlikely to result in a sustainable environment if the relevant stakeholders (e.g. physicians, pharmacists and patients) have different views on how to define biosimilar value. Some argue that the concept of best value biologics places biosimilars and their innovative counterparts on the same level and allows for a fair competitive baseline. Furthermore, it promotes the use of biologics (either biosimilar or originator) from the perspective of their specific added value in a given situation, without establishing policies to restrict the use of one or the other. However, it also has implication beyond a biologic and its biosimilar, so can be perceived as excessively complicated. This indicates that while there are some general 'biosimilar policy sustainability principles', the ultimate 'ideal policy environment' will vary from country to country and with the type of biologic losing protection. This is particularly the case for biosimilar policies relating to 'pricing and reimbursement', 'contracting' and 'dispensing'. Therefore, this study has instead defined a set of 'ideal policy sustainability elements' that should underpin biosimilar policy development over time, as biosimilars become more established (**Figure 1**).

Key findings

- Biosimilar policy environments cannot be considered in isolation, and therefore the 'ideal biosimilar policies' vary across countries depending on:
 - The country's level of experience with current biosimilars
 - The country's existing pharmaceutical policies, including pricing and reimbursement processes, contracting approaches
 - The type of product under consideration
- Across the nine areas, we find that policies which do not differentiate between biosimilars and generics are generally more likely to be unsustainable. There is a need for a specific set of biosimilar policies.
- Although the sustainability provided by a specific policy can differ between countries, and there exist few policies that are universally sustainable, we can define a set of 'ideal policy sustainability principles, or elements' to govern the development of biosimilar policy.
- Biosimilar policy should be developed over time (Figure 1):
 - Initially, biosimilar policies should focus on ensuring the safety and quality of biosimilars, safeguarding healthy levels of supply and delivering a level of cost savings.

- As biosimilars become more established, policies should seek to optimise uptake, and combat any misconceptions regarding biosimilars.
- Ultimately, countries should aim for biosimilar policies that encourage competition, broadening treatment options and ensuring a sustainably functioning biosimilar market.

Figure 1: A 'sustainability scorecard' comprising the multi-stakeholder benefits to be realised in a sustainable biosimilar policy environment

Sustainable biosimilar policies should:

INITIA	INITIALLY AND AT A MINIMUM						
1	Ensure safe and high-quality medicines	Policies should ensure high quality medicines with robust and transparent evaluations, and monitoring systems to give confidence to patients and healthcare professionals	$\textcircled{\bullet}$				
2	Facilitate cost savings for healthcare providers	Policies should facilitate cost savings for healthcare systems to ensure long-term budget sustainability					
3	Ensure healthy levels of supply	Policies should minimise risks of supply shortage and ensure there is sufficient demand for biosimilars to avoid wastage or incentives to sell at unsustainable prices					
4	Maintain incentives for continued biologic research & innovation	Policies should ensure that sufficient incentives for manufacturers remain in place to ensure that there is continued research to launch new biologic products					
AS BI	OSIMILAR POLICY MATURES						
5	Mitigate against biosimilar misconceptions	Policies should seek to address common concerns surrounding biosimilars to optimise uptake and ensure informed decision-making across all stakeholders					
6	Facilitate efficient & streamlined patient access	Policies should encourage streamlined access procedures without compromising safety to ensure eligible patients have unrestricted access to life-saving medicines					
7	Encourage multi-stakeholder decision-making	Policies should ensure that all key stakeholders (payers, physicians, pharmacists and patients) play a role within decision-making to optimise multi-stakeholder benefits					
FINA	LLY TO ENSURE LONG-TERM SUSTAINABILITY						
8	Facilitate sustainable levels of biosimilar competition	Policies should ensure that market competition is incentivised to ensure long-term predictable price levels, while delivering savings that may be reinvested					
9	Increase prescribing options for patients & healthcare professionals	Policies should encourage availability of multiple prescribing options to maintain flexibility in treatment regimens to address individualised patient needs					
10	Maintain predictable market functioning	Policies should ensure that market volatility is kept to a minimum and that policies are transparent to maintain attractivity of the market					
BENE	BENEFITS FOR: 🏤 = All stakeholders 🕀 = Patients 😲 = Healthcare Professionals 🚔 = Payers / Budget Holders 🔛 = Biosimilar & Originator Manufacturers						

Source: CRA

2 – To what extent does existing biosimilar policy across a global selection of countries promote a long-term sustainable environment?

Across each of the nine biosimilar policy areas defined, the policies in each country have been assessed and rated according to the level of sustainability of the current biosimilar policy environment (**Table 2**). We find there is room for improvement in all 17 countries in at least one of the nine areas that determine sustainability. European countries, which tend to have more experience with biosimilar products and more developed policy, generally have higher long-term sustainability scores. Key successes include: high levels of uptake driven by acceptance and trust from physicians and patients and efficient access due to streamlined manufacturing and regulatory approaches, and exemption from health technology assessment (HTA). Conversely, the experience outside of Europe is much more mixed. In some markets there are a series of challenges reducing long-term sustainability of biosimilars. Key challenges include minimal differentiation between biosimilar and generic policies, decreased traceability, and high levels of mistrust in biosimilars based on miseducation or limited transparency and clarity in approval and regulatory processes within the market.

However, the assessment is often more nuanced, varying by patient setting and type of product. It is often the case that policies that are sustainable for biosimilars dispensed in the inpatient setting are unsustainable when considering outpatient medicines. For example, Japanese prescribing policy is significantly more sustainable in the inpatient setting given the role of indirect incentives, which promote biosimilar use in a manner not seen in the outpatient setting.

Key findings

- Generally, current approaches to biosimilar manufacturing and R&D incentives and exemptions to the application of HTA to biosimilars are sustainable.
- Across countries there is room for improvement with regards to biosimilar contracting approaches and with ensuring biosimilar education and understanding.
- European markets, which tend to have more experience with biosimilar products and more developed policy, generally have higher long-term sustainability ratings. Key successes include:
 - o High levels of uptake driven by acceptance and trust from physicians and patients
 - o Efficient access due to streamlined manufacturing, regulatory and HTA approaches
- Conversely, markets with more limited experience with biosimilars (e.g. Saudi Arabia, Japan) have more limited biosimilar policy, resulting in higher risks to long-term sustainability of the market. Key challenges include:
 - o No differentiation between biosimilar and generic policies
 - o Decreased traceability in pharmacovigilance systems
 - High levels of mistrust in biosimilars based on miseducation or limited transparency in regulatory processes within the market
- Given the differences in US markets, it is unsurprising there are some different challenges and policy solutions to promote biosimilar entry (e.g., the first biosimilar product deemed interchangeable is entitled to exclusive interchangeability for one year).

The summary of the sustainability ratings across markets in **Table 2** also allows for identification of best practice examples across each policy area. Some of these examples have been summarised in **Table 3**.

	Policy Area	₩. AUS	BEL	SRA	CAN	FRA	DEU	GBR	ITA	• JPN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	se esp	CHE	UAE	USA
	Manufacturing and R&D		\bigstar	\bigstar	\bigstar	\star	\bigstar	\bigstar	\bigstar	\bigstar		\bigstar	\star	\bigstar	\bigstar	\star	\star	\bigstar
	Regulatory approval	\bigwedge			\bigstar	\searrow		\bigstar	${\swarrow}$		\bigwedge	\bigwedge		\bigwedge	\bigwedge	\bigstar	\bigwedge	\bigwedge
R	Health technology assessment	\checkmark	\checkmark	Priv. & Pub. Pub. HC	\bigstar	\checkmark	\bigstar	\bigstar	\bigstar	\bigstar	\star	\star	\star	\star	\bigstar	\star	\star	\star
- × –	Pricing and reimbursement	**	\bigstar	\bigstar	Pub. Priv.	\checkmark	\bigstar		\bigstar	\bigstar	\bigstar		Inp. Out.	\bigstar	\bigstar	\bigstar	\bigstar	Pub. Com
1000	Contracting		Inp. Out.	Pub. Priv.	Pub. Priv.		\bigstar	\checkmark	${\swarrow}$	N/A	\bigstar	Inp. Out.	Inp. Out.	\bigstar	Inp. Out.	\bigstar	\checkmark	Pub. Com
	Biosimilar education and understanding	\checkmark	\checkmark	\bigstar	\bigstar	\checkmark	\bigstar	\bigstar	\star	\bigstar	\bigstar	\bigstar	\star	\bigstar	\checkmark	\bigstar	\checkmark	
	Prescribing	$\sum_{i=1}^{n}$	Inp. Out.	\bigstar	Pub. Priv.			\bigstar	${\swarrow}$	Inp. Out.	\checkmark	\bigwedge	\star		\bigwedge	\bigstar	\checkmark	Pub. Out
	Dispensing	\checkmark				\bigstar			\checkmark	\bigstar				N/A	Inp. Out.		\bigstar	Pub. Com
~~	Monitoring			\bigstar							\checkmark			\bigstar		\star		
*	The policy area is considered to be sustainable for all stakeholders	s s	Some mino were iden sustainable e insustainabl	r areas for i tified to resi environment e policies in	mprovement ult in a fully t; however, r npact the are	t no 🔀	Some ma were ide sustainable unsustaina	jor areas for entified to re environme ble policies	r improvem esult in a full ent; howeve impact the	ent ly r, no area	There a whic presen the	re sustainat ch are being ce of unsus same/differ	ble policies i negated by ainable poli ent policy a	n place the icies in rea	Consi unsust	e (lack of) p dered to act ainable poli majority o	olicies in pl tively contri cy environr f stakehold	ace are bute to an nent for the ers

Table 2: Sustainability ratings across countries in scope for each policy area

Note: Further rating detail can be found in Table 7. Com. - Commercial plans; HC. - High-cost biosimilars; Inp. - Inpatient; Out. - Outpatient; Pub. - Public sector; Priv. - Private sector

Table 3: Examples	of best practices	by policy area
-------------------	-------------------	----------------

Policy area		Best policy examples				
-	Manufacturing and R&D	European Union (EU) legislation streamlines preparation for biosimilar entry prior to the loss of exclusivity, enabling rapid launch post patent-expiry.				
<u>*</u>	Regulatory approval	The Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) in the UK no longer requires clinical comparability studies for all products given latest research regarding their lack of additional value to regulatory assessments.				
e e	Health technology assessment	Many countries like the Netherlands waive the need for biosimilar HTA provided the indications included in the biosimilar label are the same as the originator.				
 	Pricing and reimbursement	In the Netherlands, biosimilars can launch at the same price as their originators, encouraging entry, then competition is used to promote cost savings. Moreover, pricing and reimbursement are applied as a single process, ensuring biosimilars' automatic reimbursement.				
	Contracting	In the UK, long-term supply plurality has been provided for adalimumab biosimilars, given that the market has been divided into 11 hospital groups. These groups are allocated a specific biosimilar or originator product, with degressive market shares for those products dependent on the competitiveness of the tender price they have offered.				
	Biosimilar education and understanding	European educational campaigns spearheaded by the EMA are often supplemented with national-level education in European countries, for example at hospital/provider level to ensure holistic understanding of value across the country.				
Ę	Prescribing	In the UK, non-mandatory prescribing quotas still serve as an incentive for healthcare professionals. Moreover, gain-sharing mechanisms implemented at some local Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) have ensured that savings driven by biosimilars are reinvested in healthcare systems, improving their perception.				
စီမီစ	Dispensing	In France, current dispensing policies in place do not undermine physicians' autonomy but instead promote shared decision-making also with pharmacists. Moreover, substitution policies do not interfere with robust tracing systems used for safety monitoring, and patients can have their voices heard without any misconceptions around biosimilar value being able to influence dispensing decisions.				
~~	Monitoring	US has leading pharmacovigilance systems ensuring full transparency in monitoring, for example by assigning a suffix to the biosimilar name in regulatory documents to distinguish different biosimilars.				

Source: CRA analysis

3 – Can we provide countries with tangible and actionable recommendations for meaningful improvements to the biosimilar sector that consider their specific policy market archetype and different types of biosimilars?

Outputs from the two advisory board meetings were synthesised into a series of policy recommendations across each of the nine policy areas (e.g. manufacturing, regulatory approval, HTA, etc.). While the ideal set of biosimilar policies may vary from country to country, there are common themes and recommendations across each of the nine policy areas that should be followed when developing biosimilar policy to ensure a sustainable environment in the long term (**Table 4**). Additional considerations relating to country-specific archetypes have been listed as well.

Table 4: Biosimilar policy recommendations across the nine key policy areas, including specific nuances based on country characteristics and biosimilar archetypes

Policy Area		Recommendations
-	Manufacturing and R&D	 Biosimilar manufacturing policies should ensure the highest standard of quality and allow for prompt submission to regulatory authorities upon originator LoE while respecting intellectual property. Countries which have previously faced supply issues (e.g. Brazil) could provide incentives for sustainable manufacturing to reduce supply shortages, and boost national economies, provided competition is encouraged, and as long as they do not penalise biosimilars manufactured in other countries, so as not to disrupt global supply chains.
<u>*</u>	Regulatory approval	 Biosimilar regulatory processes should seek efficiencies to accelerate access timelines while maintaining robust processes that will ensure safety of biosimilars. Regulators should consider the biosimilar type, number of biosimilars already available and the submitted indication to determine required evidence for submission. Regulatory processes should be consistent and transparent across global markets, facilitating countries with smaller regulatory agencies (e.g. Saudi Arabia or the United Arab Emirates (UAE)) to leverage experience and real-world evidence generated by those with greater biosimilar presence. Regulatory processes should ensure quality and safety but still have clear and transparent requirements. Where possible, regulatory processes, following the example of the US FDA, to facilitate their submission and accelerate biosimilar approval. However, the evidence requirements should reflect the disease and associated care pathway, this may allow evidence to vary between some chronic diseases (e.g., rheumatoid arthritis), where patients stay on treatment for a significant period of time, as compared to acute oncologic treatments for example.
	Health technology assessment	Conventional HTAs should be unnecessary given the similarity of biosimilars. However, it might be warranted in cases where: the originator biologic is not reimbursed, biosimilars offer a different route of administration than the originator, or biosimilars are considered to provide added-value services compared to the originator. ¹³ If used, HTA should not delay access and should provide tangible benefits to the assessed product, such as ability to differentiate within tenders.

		 In countries where originator biologics are not consistently reimbursed (e.g. Brazil, Mexico), biosimilars will need to be more frequently subjected to HTAs to evaluate their benefits. HTA bodies should seek temporary reimbursement practices to avoid access delays, although accommodations may be required for patients (e.g. 'grandfathering') if the HTA is subsequently negative. Policies should distinguish between biosimilars and small molecule
X -	Pricing and reimbursement	 generics. Depending on the policy landscape, either mandatory price controls or dynamic price controls (reliant on market competition) can be considered sustainable provided there are safeguards to ensure competition and sustainable price levels. Where mandatory discounts are applied (e.g. France, Spain and Italy), policies should recognise that a one-size-fits-all approach for biosimilars may not be sustainable in the long term and consider differences across therapeutic areas, the number of competitors and population size. Where dynamic price controls are applied (e.g. the Netherlands), policies should safeguard multiple market participants to ensure sufficient levels of competition are maintained. This will need to be refined in the future as more orphan biologics face biosimilar competition. These are associated with smaller patient volumes and potentially fewer competitors, which may necessitate refinement of rare disease (RD) pricing policy.
****	Contracting	 Awarding of contracts (whether through direct negotiation or tendering) should include input from multiple stakeholders and allow for factors beyond price (e.g. quality and value) to contribute to decision-making. Policies should also facilitate competition between multiple suppliers for a country to minimise risk of supply shortages. Where tendering processes are the primary procurement method (e.g. Spain and the UK), award criteria should extend beyond price and consider elements of value (e.g. added services) and ability to supply. Where direct contracting is the main procurement method (e.g. US and Belgium outpatient), exclusionary contracts should be avoided, since this could result in limited biosimilar competition as a result of contracts with first-to-market products. Contracts should be tailored to the type of product being procured. Where there is a goal to reduce potential treatment switching (e.g. between biosimilars with different routes of administration), products with longer treatment durations may be less suited to short-term tender contracts compared to those planned for acute treatment. The smaller patient volumes for rare disease biosimilars may increase the importance of minimum volume guarantees in tenders.
	Biosimilar education and understanding	Biosimilar education is important for all key stakeholders (e.g. governments, budget holders, HCPs, pharmacists and patients) to ensure a holistic understanding of biosimilar value. The source of educational campaigns is critical to ensure trust in messaging, and peer-to-peer education is often an optimal educational method.

In countries where there is greater biosimilar uptake	e (e.g. the UK),
the experience of physicians can be shared with	physicians and
patients in specialities newer to biosimilars.	
In countries where there are persistent biosimilar i	misconceptions
(e.g. Japan and Brazil), education of the m	nost influential
stakeholders (e.g. policymakers) should be a priority	y to ensure that
policy supports uptake.	
Education is important for all patients and HCPs	but even more
important for patients with chronic disease who mi	ight experience
switches during their disease and require re	eassurance of
biosimilars' efficacy/safety. Clear messaging fro	om prescribing
physicians and pharmacists about their safety a	and efficacy is
particularly important.	,
Use of the 'best value' biologic(s) should be encourage	ed. considerina
price data on switching prior treatment history value a	added services
quality and supply. There is a role for multidisciplinary in	nut to decision-
making but with physicians ultimately responsible for an	suring the most
appropriate biologic is prescribed for each individual pati	ent
• Where there is widespread support for the use of he	et value
biologics (o g. Bolgium, Cormony), the need for long	st value
biologics (e.g. beigium, Germany), the need for long	J-lenn unect
healtheare systems should indirectly appropriate edu	acription of
Prescribing Prescribing	
best value products, reducing need for formal incent	lives.
Where there is less consensus of biosimilar value (e	.g. Japan),
incentives can stimulate initial uptake but may be a	temporary
measure which is withdrawn as prescriber education	n and
experience improves.	
In countries where financial incentives to HCPs are	seen as an
unsustainable measure, due to lack of transparency	[,] (e.g. Mexico),
indirect incentives could provide a more traceable sy	ystem to still
motivate biosimilar prescription (e.g. gain sharing).	
There is a debate regarding the role of substitution in n	nany countries.
Any decision should be based on multidisciplinary inpu	t to ensure the
best outcomes for patients and best value for the health	icare system. It
should be recognised that no 'one size fits all' approach	will work while
there variation in available switching data, setting of car	e (inpatient vs.
outpatient) and individual therapies.	
Financial incentives for pharmacists should not pena	alise
prescription of biosimilars (e.g. through lower margin	ns for lower-
cost products) and ideally should be aligned to the in	ncentives in
place for prescribing physicians.	
In markets where outpatient substitution is used (e.g	n Brazil
Mexico), measures to minimise friction between diffe	J. DIAZII,
stakeholders (e.g. pharmacists and physicians) sho	erent
implemented, for example physician notification.	erent uld be
	uld be
Chronic treatments can be more frequently dispense	erent uld be ed in the
Chronic treatments can be more frequently dispense outpatient setting compared to acute oncologic drug	erent uld be ed in the infusions;
Chronic treatments can be more frequently dispense outpatient setting compared to acute oncologic drug therefore, robust communication between physician	erent uld be ed in the i infusions; s and

		 Oncology treatments in the inpatient setting require multidisciplinary decisions from a variety of experts to ensure optimal patient outcomes.
~~	Monitoring	 Biosimilars should be subject to the same pharmacovigilance standards as all biologics. Any policies implemented that risk decreasing biosimilar traceability should be mitigated by additional pharmacovigilance measures. Furthermore, transparency into biosimilar supply and demand can ensure healthy levels of supply are maintained. In those countries where pharmacovigilance systems are still developing, it is important that biosimilar policies do not undermine pharmacovigilance.

Source: CRA

Overarching learnings

The implementation of sustainable policies is very specific to each country situation. However, across the nine therapy areas, there are some overarching learnings that can be drawn out:

- The introduction of biosimilar policy should be anchored in supporting the goal of sustainability in the short and medium term, ensuring cross-stakeholder perspectives are captured.
- As a country's biosimilar landscape matures over time and stakeholder experience increases, there is a need to periodically evaluate and update policies to ensure sustainability is maintained.
- Policies are less effective when implemented in a piecemeal fashion, hence implementation should consider the existing policy environment and where synergies can be leveraged across policy areas.
- Similarly, policies should adapt to reflect the changing types of biologics losing exclusivity.
- Cultivation of a sustainable global biosimilar landscape requires sharing of learning and best practices across markets, to support accelerated development of countries with less mature biosimilar landscapes.

Introduction

1 – Introduction

Organon asked Charles River Associates ("CRA") to work with a group of national and international biosimilar experts to identify the optimal, sustainable biosimilar policies and to develop actionable policy recommendations to improve biosimilar sustainability for a wide set of countries. Further, given the increasing relevance of biosimilars in the specific therapeutic areas of chronic, oncologic and orphan diseases, and the wide variation expected from sustainable policies across them, this research aimed to tailor recommendations, when applicable, to these three biosimilar archetypes. In particular, this research considers:

- The effects of individual biosimilar policies including policies affecting biosimilar manufacturing and research and development (R&D), regulatory approval, health technology assessment (HTA), pricing, contracting, public health education, prescribing, dispensing and monitoring – on key stakeholders (patients, healthcare professionals, payers and manufacturers)
- The extent to which we can identify an 'ideal biosimilar policy landscape' to ensure sustainable conditions for long-term biosimilar competition and cost savings, supply, access and innovation
- The degree to which the findings regarding sustainable long-term biosimilar policies can be extrapolated beyond the countries in the scope of the research to tailor specific actionable recommendations to promote long-term benefits in other countries

1.1. Background

A biosimilar medicine is a biological medicine which has been shown to have no clinically meaningful differences from the originator medicine in terms of quality, safety and efficacy. Biosimilars are officially approved versions of original 'innovator' products and can be manufactured when the original product's patent expires. This possibility provides several benefits to multiple stakeholders leading to an overall increased pool of biopharmaceutical options, which improves healthcare professionals' (HCPs') and pharmacists' treatment decisions, finally resulting in an overall faster and broader access for patients to treatment.

Unlike small molecule generics, biosimilars are not identical copies of the originator molecule.¹⁴ The manufacture of biologics from living organisms subjects them to various modifications intrinsic to biology and nature. Given such complexity, slight changes in manufacturing protocols can result in modifications to their sophisticated molecular structures, potentially affecting their effectiveness, quality or safety.¹⁵ Complex analytical techniques are required to monitor the quality of biosimilars in order to ensure that relevant quality attributes are comparable to those of the originator.¹⁶

Due to the complexity of their production process, the costs of developing and manufacturing biosimilars are substantially higher than those of small molecule generics.¹⁷ Estimates suggest generic small molecule drugs require an investment of around \$2m–\$3m for their development, while biosimilar development costs require an investment closer to \$3bn. This is caused not only by increased manufacturing costs but also by the increased time taken to develop these products: generic drugs can reach the country in a period of two to three years, but a biosimilar drug needs approximately seven to eight years of development, due to the numerous studies currently required for their authorisation, usually including safety and efficacy studies in comparison with originator biologic molecules.¹⁸

Therefore, due to their inherent differences, biosimilars require specific policies to promote their sustainable use and dynamics throughout their whole life cycle. For example, while there is wide acceptance that biosimilars are indeed 'similar' to their originators, bioequivalence cannot be taken for granted.¹⁹ This has implications for the regulatory environment. Equally, while biosimilars present an opportunity to significantly reduce spending on biologic healthcare, submitting them to equal pricing policies as small molecule generics can be considered unrealistic, and can lead to decreased competition due to manufacturers dropping the country in the long term.

Introduction

A wide range of biologic medicines are now available (with the development pipeline continuing to expand), which have provided access to treatment for a number of serious diseases.²⁰ The first biologic to formally see entry of biosimilars following loss of exclusivity (LoE) was Genotropin (somatropin) for which the first biosimilar was approved in the European Union (EU) in 2006 under the brand name Omnitrope.²¹ Since then, as of 2019, the European Medicines Agency (EMA) has made 65 marketing authorisation decisions for 55 approved biosimilars for 16 different reference products.ⁱ The number of biosimilars authorised for use varies across countries; for example, as of 2021, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has approved 30 biosimilars for 10 reference products;^{ii,22} 21 of these biosimilar products are marketed in the US.²³ While some countries, such as Canada, follow a similar trend (46 biosimilars from 14 different products are currently approved in Canada),²⁴ official biosimilar guidelines were only developed in 2009 in Japan,²⁵ and in 2016 in Saudi Arabia.²⁶ It is therefore fair to assume that the biosimilar experience of different countries is reflected in their policy frameworks. Further to this, certain characteristics intrinsic to countries can also influence the effectiveness or impact that equal policies can have across landscapes. For example, promotion of local manufacturing policies for biosimilars can have positive implications in large countries that have seen their supply affected due to the COVID-19 pandemic but can have lower benefits in smaller geographies.

Biosimilars in different therapy areas can face different challenges owing to differences in patient numbers/epidemiology and clinical characteristics of these diseases. Currently, biosimilars marketed in the EU and US fall into therapeutic areas of inflammatory, oncology, immunology, or haematology. Not only the number of products but also the epidemiology and patient volume differs across countries or areas. For example, while chronic diseases affect a higher percentage of the global population and their treatment requires prolonged timelines, oncological therapies are normally used for shorter treatment cycles.^{27,28} Higher volumes of patients can increase the number of biosimilar competitors for therapies, which can lead to unsustainable price reductions if not controlled properly. Conversely, shorter treatment cycles for oncologic products can increase the impact of non-medical switching (NMS) policies on biosimilar uptake and manufacturers. Overall, the challenges that have been faced by more recently launched oncologic biosimilars have been different to those experienced by the first biosimilars, and it is likely that as the biologic pipeline evolves, new challenges will continue to arise.

The number of biologics on the horizon of patent expiry across therapeutic areas and classes is bringing a broad range of opportunities for biosimilar entry. Five different orphan biologics are losing exclusivity in the EU and the US in the coming five years (e.g. golimumab for musculoskeletal disorders in 2024 or belimumab for musculoskeletal and haematological disorders in 2026), as well as five more biologic medicines within oncology. Moreover, the first vaccines generated through recombinant DNA technology are beginning to lose their patents (e.g. the HPV vaccine) and are expected to lose exclusivity as of 2021 (Europe) and 2028 (US).²⁹ Although the development of policies to promote of biosimilars for vaccines are out of the scope of this research, it would surely lead to an interesting opportunity to open new debates around sustainable landscapes. This continued evolution in the biologic pipeline indicates that policy frameworks in place now, may not be fit-for-purpose to ensure a sustainable environment for newer biosimilar products in the long term. Although the number of biologics facing LoE is continuing to grow, it cannot be expected that there will be biosimilars manufactured for all of these biologic products (especially within orphan indications).³⁰ Furthermore,

ⁱ Originator biologics with biosimilar products available in Europe as of 2019: MabThera (rituximab); Eprex/Erypo (epoetin alfa); Eprex/Erypo (epoetin zeta); Herceptin (trastuzumab); Neupogen (filgrastim); Neulasta (pegfilgrastim); Remicade (infliximab); Enbrel (etanercept); GONAL-f (follitropin alfa); Avastin (bevacizumab); Humira (adalimumab); Lantus (insulin glargine); Humalog (insulin lispro); Genotropin (somatropin); Clexane (enoxaparin sodium); Forsteo (teriparatide)

ⁱⁱ Neupogen (filgrastim); Neulasta (pegfilgrastim); Avastin (bevacizumab); Herceptin (trastuzumab); Remicade (infliximab); Eprex/Erypo (epoetin alfa); Rituxan (rituximab); Lantus (insulin glargine); Enbrel (etanercept); Humira (adalimumab)

Biosimilars: A global roadmap for policy sustainability

Introduction

not all biosimilars approved by the EMA are available in the majority of European countries, reflecting potential sustainability limitations across existing policy frameworks. It will be important that adaptations to existing policy frameworks are managed such that they create a sustainable environment for newer biosimilar products in the long term.

As a result, the definition of an ideal sustainable environment for biosimilars might be currently outdated, and will need to evolve in parallel to the biosimilar pipeline. Furthermore, such an ideal environment must account for intrinsic differences across countries and understand that the one-size-fits-all approach is not always the best exercise to promote long-term sustainability for biosimilars.

1.2. What is 'sustainability' of biosimilars and why may it be an issue?

Many publications regarding the off-patent biological and biosimilar market reference the importance of sustainability with regards to policy development, application and execution with the objective of ensuring wider uptake of biosimilars in the short and long term. While many do not define sustainability explicitly, concepts common across papers include: 'balance between incentives for all key stakeholders/multi-stakeholder benefits',^{31,32,33,34} 'cost savings/sustainability for budgets',^{35,36,37} 'sustainable price competition', 'increased/broader patient access',³⁸ 'sustained innovation',^{39,40,41} 'increased levels of competition and choice',^{42,43,44,45} 'attractivity for continued investment',⁴⁶ and 'sustainable supply'.^{47,48}

Given the expected increasing role for biosimilars, it is not surprising that there is a growing literature on the long-term sustainability of market for biosimilars. A number of existing studies have sought consensus on how to define sustainability:

- **Vulto et al. (2020):** Defines a sustainable biosimilar market: "All stakeholders, including patients, benefit from appropriate and reliable access to biological therapies. Competition leads to a long-term predictable price level, without compromising quality, while delivering savings that may be reinvested".⁴⁹
- **The Pugatch Consilium (2019):** Defines the three pillars of a sustainable European market for off-patent biologics: (1) rewarding and incentivising biopharmaceutical innovation and biosimilar development; (2) recognising the need for health system efficiencies; (3) providing patients and health care providers with freedom of choice and improved access to treatment.⁵⁰
- **IQVIA (2018):** Defines a sustainable biosimilar environment as one that "improves patient access and physician prescription choice of safe and high-quality biologic medicines, provides a means to manage existing healthcare budgets while safeguarding a healthy level of competition and supply", thus considering the needs of all key stakeholders (patients, healthcare professionals/providers, payers and manufacturers).⁵¹

There are a number of reasons why 'sustainability' is seen as a significant issue for the biosimilar market:

• Variation in biosimilar uptake: As of 2021, biosimilars capture 10% of the total biologic pool in Europe, 7% having been achieved in the last five years, demonstrating their growth.⁵² However, biosimilar uptake in countries such as Japan, the US and Canada has been significantly lower. From this it can be inferred that, in some countries, policies to increase patient use of biosimilars might not be efficient enough, limiting the the total benefits they can have (e.g. on payers' budget).

Biosimilars: A global roadmap for policy sustainability

Introduction

- **Country confidence:** Misconceptions persist around the safety of biosimilars as non-identical molecular entities, resulting in mistrust among physicians and even patients, which can affect usage.⁵³
- Uncertainty regarding biosimilar practices and policy: Policies in some countries have been subject to legal battles between payers/governments and manufacturers questioning the rules applied to biosimilars. For example, inconsistent contracting practices for biosimilars in Mexico have led to a lack of stable and transparent procurement methods.⁵⁴
- Conflation of the application of policy issues to biosimilars and generic small molecules: Many biosimilar policies draw on the experience of the small molecule generic market. Moreover, many countries do not differentiate between these two very different products. There is a concern that applying small molecule policies to the biosimilar market is unsustainable and will reduce the number of biosimilar launches within specific markets, potentially resulting in higher prices and increased risk of supply shortages.

This paper builds on these analyses, synthesising the key components highlighted in this literature to develop a series of multi-stakeholder benefits that should be realised in the long term in a sustainable biosimilar environment, and seeks to address three key questions:

(1) Can we define an 'ideal' biosimilar policy toolkit that will ensure long-term sustainability?

(2) To what extent does existing biosimilar policy across a global selection of countries promote a long-term sustainable environment benefitting all stakeholders?

(3) Can we provide countries with tangible and actionable recommendations for meaningful improvements to the biosimilar sector that consider their specific policy country situation and different types of biosimilars?

1.3. Geographic scope of the analysis

Given the focus on developing a global assessment of sustainability, we adopted a wide geographic scope with 17 countries across the globe, including the regions of both Americas, Asia-Pacific, Europe and countries from the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC). The full list of countries included is depicted in **Figure 2**.

Such selection was made to ensure coverage of countries in different stages of development with regards to penetration of biosimilars, and countries from many different policy archetypes (e.g. public insurance vs. strong presence of the private sector; wide use of tendering procedures vs. direct contracting agreements) ensuring a broad selection of biosimilar policies are assessed. This selection also ensures that policy recommendations developed in this white paper are based on expertise from several archetypes, increasing the relevance of said recommendations for countries that are not included in this study.

Introduction



Source: CRA analysis

The biosimilar policy history of the countries in scope is captured in **Table 5**, showing that they range from those that pioneered biosimilar policy (e.g. the European Medicines Agency introduced their first policies in 2006) to those that are just beginning to develop their biosimilar policy (e.g. Swissmedic recently introduced Switzerland's first set of biosimilar policies in 2017).

Table 5: Year of introduction of biosimilar-specific policy across countries in scope of research

₩ AUS	BEL	SRA	CAN	FRA	DEU	GBR	ITA	• JPN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	se e se	t Che	UAE	USA
2008	2006	2010	2009	2006	2006	2006	2006	2009	2009	2006	2006	2010	2006	2017	2019	2010

Source: CRA analysis

1.4. Structure of the white paper

The rest of the white paper is structured as follows:

- In Chapter 2, we outline the research methodology used to develop this white paper. This white paper is based on a structured literature review first conducted to collect information regarding the biosimilar policy landscape in each country in scope and subsequently looking at the existing evidence that different policies support a sustainable biosimilar environment in the long term. Hypotheses regarding the most sustainable policies for biosimilars, including specific considerations for different country situations and types of biosimilar, were then tested with biosimilar experts consulted during a series of engagements in 2021 and 2022, including individual country interviews and two advisory board meetings.
- Chapter 3 describes the policy framework and our hypotheses regarding the sustainability of the different biosimilar policies in place across countries, including specific considerations for different country situations and types of biosimilar.
- Chapter 4 summarises the biosimilar policy landscape of the countries in scope and the perceived sustainability of each country as validated by biosimilar country experts.
- Chapter 5 summarises actionable policy recommendations for countries to support a sustainable biosimilar environment in the long term, including specific recommendations for different country situations and types of biosimilars.

2 – White paper methodology

The research had three stages, with each stage composed of both a structured literature review and expert validation. The stages are summarised below and in Figure 3:

- Stage 1 A literature review was undertaken to develop a 'sustainability scorecard'. Based on existing literature regarding sustainability for biosimilars, a 'sustainability scorecard' was developed comprising 10 elements that characterise a sustainable environment for biosimilars in the long term. The 10 elements on the 'sustainability scorecard' were validated through expert review and in-depth 1:1 discussions which indicated that biosimilar policy sustainability should be developed over time. Initial elements of policy should provide a strong foundation for future biosimilar launches, and as biosimilars become more integrated in countries over time, policy should evolve to ensure long-term sustainability within the market.
- Stage 2 Country policy landscape assessments were based on secondary research and local interviews. A research framework was developed to guide a consistent landscape analysis across countries to summarise the biosimilar-specific policies in place in each country through country-specific literature reviews, and validated with country experts. The long-term sustainability of the biosimilar policy environment in each country was then assessed using the sustainability scorecard developed in Stage 1. This allowed for the identification of the policy areas where sustainable practices provided broad benefits, as well as the areas with room for improvement. The assessments were validated through expert review and in-depth 1:1 discussions.
- Stage 3 Two international advisory board meetings were held to inform the development of actionable policy recommendations for long-term biosimilar sustainability. Given the broad and global scope of the research, two meetings were held in order to accommodate time zones, bringing together international experts to discuss recommendations for an ideal, long-term sustainable policy environment for biosimilars. Findings obtained in these meetings led to the development of actionable policy recommendations, including specific recommendations by country situation and type of biosimilar.



Figure 3: Three stages of the white paper development methodology

Source: CRA analysis

2.1. Stage 1 – A literature review was undertaken to develop a 'sustainability scorecard'

A structured literature review of existing publications regarding biosimilar sustainability was conducted. Papers were selected according to their technical robustness and relevance to the topic, with the most recent definitions of biosimilar sustainability used preferentially over those in older papers (**Table 6**).

Торіс	Description
Key search terms	'biosimilar', 'sustainability', 'definition', 'policy', 'long term'
Search engines	Google Scholar, Google, PubMed
Date range	Earliest date of publication was limited to 2014.
Search language	English
Reviewing process	Peer-reviewed papers and white paper reports with relevant titles and abstracts were first selected for thorough reading and consideration for development of the sustainability scorecard
Selection process	The search included academic journals and articles, governmental official sources, media reports and formal white papers from national/pan-national/international regulatory authorities

Table 6: Structured literature review of biosimilar sustainability

A total of 27 papers / white papers (**Appendix 1**) were assessed in depth to synthesise a 'sustainability scorecard' comprising 10 elements that are consistently used across literature to characterise a sustainable biosimilar policy environment. Input from experts across countries indicated that biosimilar policy sustainability should be built over time, starting with ensuring basic elements that provide a strong foundation for future biosimilar, and as biosimilars become more integrated in countries over time, policy should evolve to eventually ensure long-term sustainability of the market (**Figure 4**).

Figure 4: A 'sustainability scorecard' comprising the multi-stakeholder benefits to be realised in a sustainable biosimilar policy environment

Sustainable biosimilar policies should:

INITIA	ALLY AND AT A MINIMUM					
1	Ensure safe and high-quality medicines	Policies should ensure high quality medicines with robust and transparent evaluations, and monitoring systems to give confidence to patients and healthcare professionals	\bullet			
2	Facilitate cost savings for healthcare providers	Policies should facilitate cost savings for healthcare systems to ensure long-term budget sustainability	•			
3	Ensure healthy levels of supply	Policies should minimise risks of supply shortage and ensure there is sufficient demand for biosimilars to avoid wastage or incentives to sell at unsustainable prices				
4	Maintain incentives for continued biologic research & innovation	Policies should ensure that sufficient incentives for manufacturers remain in place to ensure that there is continued research to launch new biologic products				
AS B	IOSIMILAR POLICY MATURES					
5	Mitigate against biosimilar misconceptions	Policies should seek to address common concerns surrounding biosimilars to optimise uptake and ensure informed decision-making across all stakeholders				
6	Facilitate efficient & streamlined patient access	Policies should encourage streamlined access procedures without compromising safety to ensure eligible patients have unrestricted access to life-saving medicines	\bullet			
7	Encourage multi-stakeholder decision-making	Policies should ensure that all key stakeholders (payers, physicians, pharmacists and patients) play a role within decision-making to optimise multi-stakeholder benefits				
FINA	LLY TO ENSURE LONG-TERM SUSTAINABILITY					
8	Facilitate sustainable levels of biosimilar competition	Policies should ensure that market competition is incentivised to ensure long-term predictable price levels, while delivering savings that may be reinvested				
9	Increase prescribing options for patients & healthcare professionals	Policies should encourage availability of multiple prescribing options to maintain flexibility in treatment regimens to address individualised patient needs	ۍ ل			
10	Maintain predictable market functioning	Policies should ensure that market volatility is kept to a minimum and that policies are transparent to maintain attractivity of the market				
BEN	BENEFITS FOR: 💒 = All stakeholders 💮 = Patients 🔮 = Healthcare Professionals 💮 = Payers / Budget Holders 🕍 = Biosimilar & Originator Manufacturers					

Source: CRA analysis

The aim of these elements was to develop an objective rating system to evaluate the level of sustainability of biosimilar policy environment in each country in scope. Therefore, a 'sustainability rating scale' was developed to rate the extent to which the 10 multi-stakeholder sustainability benefits are met. This scale was designed to allow for clear comparison across policy areas and across countries, allowing differentiation between sustainable areas that grant full benefit for all stakeholders (five stars) and policy areas / countries that might lag behind in some of the elements and can therefore be further improved (four stars or lower) (**Table 7**).

Table 7: Sustainability rating scale

*****	The policy area is considered to be sustainable for all stakeholders
★★★☆☆	Some minor areas for improvement were identified to result in a fully sustainable environment; however, no unsustainable policies impact the area
★☆☆☆☆	Some major areas for improvement were identified to result in a fully sustainable environment; however, no unsustainable policies impact the area
*****	There are sustainable policies in place which are being negated by the presence of unsustainable policies in the same/different policy area
*****	The (lack of) policies in place are considered to actively contribute to an unsustainable policy environment for the majority of stakeholders

Source: CRA analysis

2.2. Stage 2 – Country policy landscape assessments were based on secondary research and local interviews

An assessment framework was developed to guide a consistent landscape assessment of each country. This assessment framework is based on the nine key stages of the biosimilar life cycle, starting with manufacturing and then regulatory approval policy considerations through to pricing and reimbursement measures before going through prescribing and dispensing practices and ending with policy considerations on the monitoring of biosimilar products (**Table 8**). Within each of the nine policy areas, different policies specific to biosimilars were characterised and subsequently assessed. In addition, we investigated whether different policies are considered for different types of biosimilars (e.g. biosimilars of orphan drugs).

3	Manufacturing and R&D	Policies incentivising local/regional manufacturing or investing in biosimilar R&D
<u> </u>	Regulatory approval	Policies ensuring streamlined or accelerated regulatory pathways at national or regional level
Ð	Health technology assessment	Policies allowing for reduced or differentiated HTA requirements for biosimilars
×	Pricing and reimbursement	Policies mandating price reductions for biosimilars or originator products or affecting reimbursement
	Contracting	Policies governing purchasing, including national/sub-national tendering and procurement of biosimilars
	Biosimilar education and understanding	Policies or initiatives supporting education around biosimilars
	Prescribing	Policies affecting physician uptake and prescribing
	Dispensing	Policies operating at pharmacy level affecting dispensing of biosimilars
~~~	Monitoring	Policies ensuring monitoring of safety and efficacy of biosimilars

Table 8: Policy area assessment framework

Source: CRA analysis

Landscape assessments of the 17 countries in scope were conducted to populate the policy assessment framework. Initial secondary research was conducted through country-specific literature reviews. Papers were selected according to their technical robustness and relevance to the topic (**Table 9**). The review of academic literature included peer-reviewed articles contained in open-source and academic databases. In order to prompt a more accurate research, relevant information was tailored via keyword search.

#### Table 9: Literature review approach for country-specific landscape assessments

Торіс	Description
Key search terms	'[country]', 'biosimilar', 'policy', 'manufacturing', 'regulatory assessment', 'HTA', 'health technology assessment', 'reimbursement', 'pricing', 'price discounts', 'launch pricing', 'contracting', 'tendering', 'provision', 'prescribing', 'prescribing incentives', 'prescribing practices', 'switching', 'dispensing', 'substitution', 'education', 'campaigns', 'misconceptions', 'monitoring', 'pharmacovigilance'
Search engines	Google Scholar, Google (including local Google sites), PubMed
Date range	Earliest date of publication was limited to 2014
Search language	English and local languages (e.g. Portuguese, Spanish)
Reviewing process	Papers with relevant titles and abstracts were first selected for thorough reading, although only those with robust content specific for biosimilars were finally kept for the white paper

White paper methodology	
Selection process	The search included academic journals and articles, governmental official sources (e.g. legislation and health policy plans), media reports and formal white papers from national/pan-national/international regulatory authorities

Source: CRA analysis

Research findings were then validated with industry experts and 23 international and local non-industry experts. One to three biosimilar non-industry experts in each country were selected based on their previous publication history, contribution to current biosimilar policy and level of expertise (**Table 10**). Across countries, a range of experts with different backgrounds were selected to ensure a range across patient representatives, physicians, pharmacists and payers / health economists.

Table 10: Non-industry country experts and experience

Geographical background	Expert experience
Australia	Current Chair of the Australian Biosimilars Academy;
Australia	former President of the Pharmacy Guild of Australia
Belgium & the Netherlands	Professor of Health Economics, KU Leuven
	Assistant Professor Medical Oncology, Hospital São Lucas da PUCRS
Brazil	Associate Professor of Rheumatology, Federal University of Minas Gerais (UFMG)
Canada	Founder and President of Arthritis Consumer Experts
	Hospital pharmacist
France	Founder of Nile
	Consultant at Nile
Germany	Chief of Gynecology and Gynecological Oncology, Agaplesion Markus
Cornary	Hospital, Frankfurt
	Professor of Health Economics and Microeconomics, EEHTA-CEIS Director,
Italy	University of Rome "Tor Vergata";
	President of Italian Society of Health Technology Assessment (SiHTA)
Japan	Specially Appointed Professor, Showa University
	Executive Director UDIMEB, CEO UDIBI, Research Professor of Immunology
Mexico	Senior Investigator of Pharmacology, Centro de Investigación y de Estudios
	Avanzados del Instituto Politecnico Nacional (CINVESTAV)
Norway	Consultant Clinical Oncologist
	Professor of Pharmaceutical Chemistry
	de Melleree
Spain	Pharmacist and Deputy Director of Catalan Oncology Institute, Barcelona
	Head of Medical Opcology Hospital Gregorio Marañon, Madrid
	Independent consultant, previously member of Swiss Federal Commission of
Switzerland	Drugs
	Consultant & Chief of Rheumatology, Tawam hospital, UAE
UAE	Clinical Assistant Professor, College of Medicine & Health Sciences, UAE
	University, United Arab Emirates
UK	Commissioning pharmacist within an integrated care system (ICS)

USA	CEO, Matrix Global Advisors; Senior Fellow, American Enterprise Institute

# 2.3. Stage 3 – Two international advisory board meetings were held to inform the development of actionable policy recommendations for long-term biosimilar sustainability

A comparison of the expert-validated country policy landscapes was brought together, and two international advisory board meetings held where experts were asked to discuss the key areas for biosimilar policy improvement across countries. Overall, the key objective of the advisory boards was to develop actionable policy recommendations. This was guided by three key questions regarding the overall trends for biosimilar sustainability, any considerations of country situation, and any key differences for various types of biosimilar (**Figure 5**).

Figure 5: Overall objective and key questions for advisory board discussion



Source: CRA analysis

Outputs from the advisory board meetings were synthesised into a series of policy recommendations across each of the nine policy areas (e.g. manufacturing, regulatory approval, HTA etc.). Any specific considerations for country situations or different biosimilars were specified. These outputs were reviewed offline by attendees to ensure alignment across all stakeholders and refined for the purposes of this white paper. However, the development of recommendations and their tailoring to different contexts (e.g. adaptation based on different biosimilar types) should be understood as a starting point for achieving biosimilar sustainability. Integration of further expert input across different biosimilar contexts will be required in order to identify the best approach to implement these recommendations.

# 3 – Biosimilar policy evaluation for long-term biosimilar sustainability

This chapter provides an overview and a sustainability analysis of different biosimilar policies in place across countries in scope of this research. A long-list of biosimilar policies has been developed based on country-specific secondary research conducted by CRA and validated by country experts. Subsequently, an assessment of the pros and cons of each policy regarding long-term sustainability for biosimilars has been conducted. This assessment leverages key 'policy sustainability elements' synthesised from definitions of long-term biosimilar sustainability in recent literature.

The chapter is structured in nine sections, reflecting the nine policy areas of focus for this white paper. For each section, an introduction and overview of relevant policies in the countries in scope is summarised, followed by the assessment of the pros and cons of each policy identified, supported by case study examples and existing literature. This analysis results in hypotheses for the 'ideal long-term sustainable policy environment' for biosimilars within each area, and how this may vary across different archetypes and/or different types of biosimilars.

#### Biosimilar policy evaluation for long-term biosimilar sustainability

#### 3.1. Manufacturing and R&D

The production of biologics (and, consequently, of biosimilars) is more complex than that of most small molecule medicines. This increased level of complexity arises from the nature of biological molecules, where small batch-to-batch differences at the manufacturing level, if undetected, can affect originator or biosimilar efficacy, safety or stability. Therefore, strict manufacturing standards have been established for biologics and biosimilars. In addition to the regulatory policies that have been implemented to guarantee the quality of the manufacturing process, a couple of biosimilar-specific policies have been implemented across the studied countries to promote local production.

## Biosimilar policies regarding manufacturing and R&D observed across countries include (Table 11):

- Local manufacturing incentives
- Manufacturing exemption waivers: allowing for biosimilar manufacturing licenses to be obtained ahead of originator LoE

₩. AUS	BEL	SRA	CAN	FRA	DEU	GBR	ITA	<b>J</b> PN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	SESP	+ CHE	UAE	USA
Local manufacturing incentives																
0	0	✓	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O ⁱⁱⁱ	✓	~	0	0
Early biosimilar manufacturing license																
0	$\checkmark$	0	0	~	~	~	✓	0	0	✓	✓	0	✓	~	~	0
		-	-	-	~	Policy applied in the country					0	Policy not identified or not applied				

#### Table 11: Manufacturing and R&D policies observed across countries in scope

Source: CRA analysis

#### Local manufacturing incentives

**Pros:** Policies to incentivise the local manufacturing of biosimilars have been used by some countries not only as a way to improve their uptake and boost healthcare access, but also to enhance the industry growth within the country. A clear example of this is the industrial policy for the creation of Productive Development Partnerships (PDP) in Brazil, which promotes the close collaboration of international manufacturers and local laboratories for the production of biosimilars. Other countries, such as Switzerland, have included local production of biosimilars in the criteria for awarding tenders, allowing for wider elements of value to drive decision-making.⁵⁵ The benefit of these types of policies is that they can reduce import costs in the long term, and also reduce the risk of supply shortages (especially in larger countries such as Brazil), while supporting national manufacturers and boosting the country's biotechnological industry.⁵⁶ Benefits and savings obtained through local manufacturing could partly be reinvested in the innovative biopharmaceutical industry, contributing to further progress on research and development of new therapeutic targets and driving the industry forward. In this way, benefits obtained from biosimilars can ensure long-term incentives for continued biologic innovation.

ⁱⁱⁱ Current initiatives and investments within the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia aim at establishing a minimum of 40% of medicinal products to be produced inside the country. These policies include, but are not specific to, biosimilars.

#### Biosimilar policy evaluation for long-term biosimilar sustainability

Generally, policies that have resulted in the preferential treatment of foreign suppliers have been widely criticised as they can represent a deterrent to local manufacturing. This has been the case in Mexico, where policies to facilitate international supply and avoid shortage ended in unequal approval conditions for local companies, which need to undergo longer licensing processes (180–240 days) than foreign manufacturers (5 days).⁵⁷

**Cons:** On the other hand, the importance of global supply cannot be disregarded, and local manufacturing incentives could penalise foreign importation if not applied appropriately. Given the tight margins for off-patent biologics and the barriers they often need to overcome for market access, international collaboration and global supply chains play an important role in ensuring efficient access. Foreign import is still needed and can benefit countries where local manufacturing capabilities are limited. Moreover, it is critical to continue to prioritise the assurance of biosimilars' comparative quality, efficacy and safety to their originator. For this, manufacturing requirements need to be consistent across biosimilar producers, and authorities need to ensure that manufacturing guidelines are transparent and clear, as they should not present a barrier to timely biosimilar entry. As a result, any local manufacturing should be accompanied by strong, secure regulation and enforcement to guarantee these three principles, and countries that are to encourage local manufacturing practices should also promote well-established regulatory frameworks in order to safeguard sustainability of local manufacturing.

Sustainability evaluation: Local manufacturing incentives provide an alternative to boost countries' economies and reduce dependencies on importation for supply. This is especially relevant for larger countries which are geographically distant from the main global manufacturing hubs (e.g. Brazil). However, to establish sufficient local manufacturing, incentives may be required to support a national manufacturing industry which is competitive against internationally established manufacturers. Moreover, it can allow for easier monitoring of supply and quality and improve the understanding of value and perception of biosimilars in the country, as well as driving innovation forwards when savings are reinvested in the biopharmaceutical industry. Nevertheless, implementation of such incentives can be limited in most countries, and international supply chains still provide a solid approach to maintain market competition and provide alternative sources to avoid procurement shortages, providing sustainable criteria are used for such contracts. Policies encouraging foreign manufacturing solely on the basis of price can demotivate certain manufacturers to commercialise their products in the country, impacting competition and limiting cost savings and treatment options for patients. Such an unsustainable environment can also lead to an overall long-term erosion of the biosimilar industry in the country. Therefore, an ideal sustainable environment will find the balance between local and international supply in order to benefit all stakeholders, providing fair criteria for global procurement.

#### Manufacturing exemption waivers

Marketing authorisation for medicinal products can require long periods of time, which can also vary across countries and depending on the health authorities responsible for their revision – from a maximum of 240 days by Mexican COFEPRIS,⁵⁸ a median review time of 303 for the US FDA, or up to a median of 369 days for the EMA.⁵⁹ Given this situation, biosimilars can sometimes face slow processes for their authorisation, despite their generally streamlined regulatory (and other, e.g. HTA or reimbursement) assessment requirements in most countries.^{60, 61}

**Pros:** A potential way to accelerate access to biosimilars is to enable biosimilar manufacturing licenses to be obtained ahead of patent expiry of the originator so that biosimilars can seek regulatory approval soon after originator LoE (with appropriate protections to ensure that entry does not occur prior to loss of exclusivity). Theoretically, faster access can lead to the multi-stakeholder benefits of biosimilars to be realised sooner. This is the case for the United Arab Emirates (UAE), where manufacturers can apply for regulatory approval of biosimilars two years before their originator has lost its exclusivity in the
country.⁶² Similarly, the EU allows for the manufacturing of biosimilars for storing during the six months prior to the expiration of Supplementary Protection Certificates (SPCs), therefore allowing biosimilars an immediate launch on day-one after SPC expiring.⁶³ With these waivers, originators' exclusivity needs to be respected, and there could be an advantage if transparency in this process allows them to plan in advance their post-LoE strategy. Moreover, earlier realisation of savings obtained from biosimilars, as explained above, can serve as a way to support investment in R&D if savings are used appropriately, driving forward innovation in the health and biopharmaceutical industry.

**Cons:** However, there are concerns about such rules and how they are implemented to avoid unintended consequences.⁶⁴ Further, it was also highlighted that such waivers are not common in other jurisdictions resulting in incompatibility across Free Trade Agreements (FTAs) with key international partners such as the US, Japan and South Korea, as well as others, potentially introducing additional competitive biases across international biosimilar markets.⁶⁵

**Sustainability evaluation:** Policies to encourage early biosimilar entry, ensure originators are able to benefit from their full exclusivity period, while simultaneously fast and efficient access for biosimilars is facilitated. Manufacturing waivers could provide advantages in some markets, but they need to be designed with care taking into account market circumstances so that they are not anticompetitive and in conflict with existing FTAs with countries/jurisdictions that do not allow for such waivers.

# 3.2. Regulatory Approval

Biosimilars are not like generics in that their development requires additional quality and comparability studies, as well as clinical studies of immunogenicity, safety and efficacy, due to the inherent biological variability associated with such large and structurally complex molecules.⁶⁶ Therefore, specific policies can be implemented on the regulatory approval level in order to grant a sustainable environment to safeguard biosimilars' quality and to promote accelerated access to ensure that the multi-stakeholder benefits of biosimilars are realised as quickly as possible.

# Biosimilar policies regarding regulatory approval observed across countries include (Table 12):

- Streamlined evidence requirements
- Simplified regulatory approval through international collaboration
- Regulatory support for biosimilar submission

<mark>₩</mark> AUS	BEL	SRA	<b>*</b> CAN	FRA	DEU	GBR	ITA	<b>J</b> PN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	s ESP	+ CHE	UAE	USA
Stre	amlin	ed ev	videnc	e req	uirem	ents										
✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	~	✓
Sim	Simplified regulatory approval through international collaboration															
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	✓	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Reg	ulato	ry sup	oport	for bi	osimi	lar su	bmis	sion	-	-	-	-	-			-
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	✓
L	<u>-</u>	<u>.</u>	<u>.</u>	<u>-</u>	~	Policy	/ applie	d in the	e countr	У	0	Policy	not ide	ntified c	or not ap	oplied

## Table 12: Regulatory approval policies observed across countries in scope

Source: CRA analysis

## Streamlined evidence requirements

At the regulatory level, the process is streamlined compared to the authorisation of the originator, but biosimilar policies should ensure rapid approval while still guaranteeing safety and efficacy standards.

**Pros:** Regulatory requirements are needed to ensure there have been sufficient safety and efficacy assurances but these should reflect the risks and benefits of the technologies being assessed. One clear example of such regulatory approaches and how they can be tailored for the approval of biosimilars is found in the UK. The Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) has recently announced an innovative new approach to biosimilar approval which will not require *in vivo* studies in animals to support biosimilar approval, and the comparative efficacy trial requirements have been changed in most cases. This approach is grounded in both science and real-world experience and reportedly takes "a pragmatic approach to biosimilar approvals". It has been reported that this change in legislation could lead to a "biosimilar boom".^{67,68}

This has been supported by retrospective reviews, where in 95% of biosimilar development programs requiring a comparative efficacy study, this information was reported as adding no scientific value to

the review process.⁶⁹ The white paper concludes that moving away from routinely requiring comparative clinical efficacy studies will ensure that the assessment of quality, safety and efficacy of a biosimilar will remain uncompromised, while contributing to a sustainable multi-source medicine environment.⁷⁰

While the MHRA is the first agency to routinely take this innovative approach to biosimilar approvals, some other agencies allow for comparative clinical efficacy studies to be waived in some instances. For example, in Switzerland, biosimilar manufacturers can apply to Swissmedic for 'submission with reduced documentation', which may be granted based on an individual assessment of the type of biosimilar, the employed analytical and manufacturing methods and available experience from the reference product.⁷¹ Similarly, in the US the FDA waived the need for comparative clinical efficacy trials in the case of Retacrit (erythropoietin), Nivestim (filgrastim), and Udenyca (pegfilgrastim).⁷² Overall, the implementation of these policies could result in an overall more streamlined process to grant biosimilars approval without increasing safety risks, by leveraging others' experience if applied appropriately, as proven in the described studies.

Lastly, streamlined evidence requirements are also implemented by some regulatory agencies (e.g. Swissmedic, MHRA, ANVISA) for biosimilar indication expansions where clinical comparability to the originator only needs to be proven for one indication (e.g. that with the largest patient population), and indication expansions can happen more efficiently thereafter. There are studies showing that these policies can avoid unnecessary duplicated comparability assays and provide a way to broaden the access of biosimilars to more patients, which can be of greater interest in high-volume therapy areas like inflammatory disease.⁷³

**Cons:** If based on as assessment of the risks and benefits of a given products, and applied appropriately, there are no negative effects on long-term sustainability for biosimilars have been identified for this policy; however, it has been highlighted during expert discussion that this needs to reflect market circumstances. Waiving the need for comparative clinical effectiveness studies across the board could exacerbate existing mistrust of biosimilar products among some prescribers and pharmacists. Without appropriate education, this could further limit uptake due to a lack of understanding of the differences between originator biologics and biosimilars.

**Sustainability evaluation:** Streamlining approval processes, in particular waiving clinical comparative effectiveness studies, can accelerate biosimilars' access to a broader range of patients without compromising their quality and safety when used appropriately. These measures can also result in streamlined broadening of access if applied to indication expansions as well as initial launch indications. However, studies proving equal clinical effectiveness between originators biologics and biosimilars can improve the public understanding and perception of biosimilars.

# Simplified regulatory approval through international collaboration

Another potential way to accelerate biosimilars' access without compromising their quality and safety can be the sharing and use of scientific evidence already generated by other international organisations. Countries with smaller national regulatory agencies could consider an 'abbreviated regulatory approval' process that can be used when other larger or pan-national regulatory agencies (e.g. EMA and US FDA) have granted approval to the medicine in question.

**Pros:** An abbreviated route would enable national regulatory authorities with more limited capacity and typically longer timelines to leverage foreign assessment reports to form the basis of their own evaluation, requiring only adaptation for the expected use and target population in the new market. For example, in Singapore, regulatory legislation allows the Health Sciences Authority (HSA) to leverage foreign reports to grant marketing authorisation. The HSA accepts reference reports from the EMA, US FDA, Health Canada, Australia's Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) and MHRA. New drug

applications that have received prior approval from at least two of these agencies can be assessed through an abbreviated route called the 'Verification Route (VR)', which takes 60 days (excluding clock stops) instead of the standard 270 days.⁷⁴

A way to further facilitate such extrapolations of approvals would be granting better reproducibility across regulatory processes. Manufacturers have called for greater uniformity in requirements across regulatory agencies, which would provide benefits to better understand other regulatory agencies' rationale and criteria, leveraging this information for the described purposes. With new regulatory legislation coming into force from the UK's MHRA and different requirements across the EMA and US FDA, variation will remain in the requirements from different regulators.

**Cons:** No negative effects on long-term sustainability for biosimilars have been identified as long as the simplified regulatory approval provision is applied in agreement with the biosimilar's manufacturer.

**Sustainability evaluation:** Leveraging evidence from the regulatory assessments of other authorities can provide a way to accelerate biosimilar approval and therefore access to the market. By accelerating the approval of biosimilars, multi-stakeholder benefits of biosimilars can be realised more quickly by all stakeholders. Further, an environment that allows for increased collaboration will allow for increased transparency in regulatory assessments, therefore facilitating greater understanding of biosimilars among key stakeholders.

# Regulatory support for biosimilar submission

Complexities in the process of attaining marketing authorisation and the requirements needed for submission are reported to be a regulatory barrier for manufacturers, especially those with minimal experience of the regulatory process.⁷⁵

**Pros:** Policies in place that encourage regulatory support to be provided to biosimilar manufacturers can result in fewer misunderstandings in the long term, provide better clarity around legislation, and ultimately lead to more efficient access. Across countries, just one regulatory body has established a specific support program for biosimilar manufacturers: the US FDA has established a Biosimilar Product Development (BPD) Program where all manufacturers (of both new and already marketed biosimilars) are able to enrol and receive detailed, product-specific advice to support them to meet the FDA's regulatory requirements.⁷⁶ The adoption of these policies by further regulatory agencies could provide better ways to optimise support programs and encourage manufacturers to undergo approval processes, facilitating wide approval for a same product in different geographical scopes, especially in those countries where manufacturers struggle with the national requirements.

**Cons:** Providing enhanced support programs might require significantly increased time and resource commitments for regulatory authorities; hence, increased assessment or submission fees might be required by authorities in order to ensure their robust assessment procedures are not compromised.

**Sustainability evaluation:** Receiving support directly from regulatory authorities on the requirements needed for approval can lead to faster biosimilar access in the long term. Additionally, this support may enable manufacturers to more accurately communicate their biosimilar's value, supporting perceptions of its quality. Overall, this regulatory support will be most relevant for manufacturers which are less established and might be launching their first biosimilar product.

# 3.3. Health Technology Assessment

Generally, HTA is used to inform decision-making about innovative therapeutic options and whether they add therapeutic benefit and represent value for money.⁷⁷ Assessments of a specific technology's impact on health and the related social, economic, organisational and ethical aspects are conducted.

Given the similarity of biosimilars to their originators, which themselves will likely have undergone an HTA, the value of repeating HTA for biosimilar products needs to be articulated.

# Biosimilar policies regarding health technology assessments observed across countries include (Table 13):

- Lack of full-length HTA requirements for biosimilars
- Simplified assessments specific to biosimilars

## Table 13: HTA policies observed across countries in scope



Source: CRA analysis

# Lack of full-length HTA requirements for biosimilars

Most countries do not apply HTA to biosimilars. Given that manufacturers need to undergo a process to determine similarity and safety, it is established that there is little role left for HTA bodies as the value the biosimilar is expected to bring to the patients is the same as the originator.

**Pros:** By not conducting an HTA, the barriers for launching a biosimilar (e.g. administrative) are reduced, increasing the attractiveness of launch and accelerating the timelines. Consequently, more biosimilars are likely to enter the country, promoting competition. This was recognised by the Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH), following an internal review which assessed the streamlined biosimilar review processes that had been introduced in 2018. The conclusion of this internal review was that their assessments were non-essential and delayed the country access to biosimilars.⁷⁸

**Cons:** Biosimilars are normally reviewed from a non-inferior therapeutic perspective, and their costeffectiveness is assumed, removing the need to undergo full HTA processes to grant access and reimbursement. However, there can be some value to conducting an evaluation of biosimilars to quantify their impact on systemic cost savings. It has been suggested that these evaluations could be conducted retrospectively or in the form of multiple technology assessments once several biosimilar products for the same originator are available. This might enable biosimilars to launch in indications for which the originators were not previously deemed cost-effective. Discussions held among experts also emphasised the value of such analyses to consider during contracting discussions, as it is currently regarded in the Italian budgetary law and *'accordo quadro'*.

**Sustainability evaluation:** Conducting a full-length HTA for a biosimilar launching into the same indication as the originator product is largely considered as unnecessary, adding an additional hurdle for biosimilar access and decreasing the long-term sustainability of the biosimilar market. However,

developing certain analysis to understand the extent of biosimilars' organisational impact can provide better comprehension of the benefits they can provide to the system, improving their uptake among stakeholders.

# Simplified HTA submission requirements

In countries where HTA for biosimilars is conducted, policies usually involve streamlining the submission (e.g. evidence) requirements, given the existence of a previous HTA report for the originator that can allow for efficiencies in the process.

**Pros:** Development of certain economic evaluation of biosimilars might add specific value in those cases where **(1)** the originator biologic is not reimbursed, **(2)** biosimilars present a different form of administration than its originator, and **(3)** biosimilars are considered to provide added-value services compared to the originator.⁷⁹ This reduces the burden for both the assessment agency and the submitting manufacturer, promoting increased biosimilar competition and hence providing additional prescribing options for physicians. Though not always the case, reducing this burden normally leads to accelerated reimbursement. In Australia, biosimilars that do not apply for indications beyond those of the originator are eligible to make a 'Category 3' submission to the Pharmaceutical Benefit Advisory Committee (PBAC) prior to their assessment. Although this submission route still results in an assessment of clinical need and effectiveness, it excludes the economic evaluation. Furthermore, this submission route also requires a lower application fee, reducing the cost for the manufacturer.⁸⁰ Similarly, in Quebec, Canada, the Institut national d'excellence en santé et en services sociaux (INESSS) conducts abridged HTAs in the form of 'mini-HTAs'.⁸¹ These streamlined assessments exclude the need to conduct systematic reviews of clinical evidence or of the potential risk of biases.⁸²

In some countries, HTAs are only conducted when a biosimilar launches in an indication for which the originator has not been assessed. In the UK for example, given the lower pricing of biosimilars relative to originators, biosimilars are often considered to be more cost-effective. Consequently, it is possible for the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) to approve biosimilars for use in earlier lines of treatment than the originator is recommended for (within the same disease area), following a streamlined assessment of the indication extension. For example, biosimilar filgrastim was moved to first-line cancer treatment in the UK as a result of its improved cost-effectiveness when compared to alternative (originator) treatments.⁸³

**Cons:** There are some instances where HTAs are required for biosimilars without a clear rationale for their requirement, thus resulting in additional administrative hurdles without added value, delaying time to biosimilar access. This is exemplified in France, where the Commission de la Transparence (CT) conducts rapid biosimilar HTA reviews on behalf of Haute Autorité de Santé (HAS). The assessment process is meant to be accelerated by removing cost-effectiveness and economic modelling, as well as critical appraisals of the quality of evidence and considerations of ethical implications.⁸⁴ Furthermore, biosimilars are predefined with an *amélioration du service médical rendu* (ASMR) designation prior to the HTA without requiring CT advice release. However, although HTA for biosimilars is accelerated, this still introduces a certain delay compared to the complete absence of HTA, without granting additional benefit.

**Sustainability evaluation:** The outcomes of HTA processes can provide designations for biosimilars beyond 'non-inferiority' or 'cost saving' status and potentially increase better understanding of biosimilar value. This can help improve their uptake and lead to broader access of biosimilars and long-term cost savings.⁸⁵ However, when HTA is conducted for biosimilars without clear benefits for any stakeholders obtained from the assessment, this procedure can be considered an additional and unnecessary hurdle

to access. Importantly, there can be value to conducting an HTA if the biosimilar is launching in an indication in which the originator has not launched yet.

# 3.4. Pricing and reimbursement

Biosimilars are also playing an important role in supporting budget management in many countries.⁸⁶ Given the opportunity that biosimilars represent for healthcare cost savings, pricing and reimbursement policies are a high-profile topic; however, it is critical that policies in place are mindful of a long-term sustainable environment for all stakeholders, ensuring cost savings but also prioritising patient access, physician choice and predictability for manufacturers. In this regard, it is also necessary to consider the impact of biosimilar policies on originator pricing and long-term incentives for continued biologic innovation.

# **Reimbursement policies**

# Biosimilar policies regarding reimbursement observed across countries include (Table 14):

- Automatic reimbursement following regulatory approval and submission
- Full coverage or partial coverage of the cost of the biosimilar for the healthcare provider
- Exclusionary contracts preventing sales from biosimilar competitors

₩ AUS	BEL	SRA	CAN	FRA	DEU	GBR	ITA	<b>J</b> PN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	s ESP	+ CHE	UAE	USA
Auto	omati	c rein	nburs	emen	t follo	wing	regul	atory	appr	oval a	and su	ubmis	sion			
0	0	0	0	~	~	✓	~	0	0	✓	~	0	~	0	0	✓
Full	Full coverage vs. partial coverage															
0	✓	0	✓	0	✓	0	✓	0	0	✓	0	0	0	✓	0	0
Excl	usior	n cont	racts	<u>.</u>	<u>.</u>	·							<u>.</u>			·
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	$\checkmark$
	-	-	-	÷	~	Policy	/ applie	d in the	e countr	У	0	Policy	not ide	ntified c	or not a	pplied

## Table 14: Reimbursement policies observed across countries in scope

Source: CRA analysis

Automatic reimbursement

Reimbursement of biosimilars is often automatic provided pricing rules are applied to the list price.

**Pros:** In countries where no HTA is required, automatic reimbursement following regulatory approval facilitates fast or immediate access to biosimilar products. Alternatively, where biosimilar automatic reimbursement is subject to administrative requirements, certain streamlining in the reimbursement process could still accelerate biosimilars entry (e.g. earlier initiation of negotiations). However, such streamlined processes should present certain value and utility, and be avoided if their outcomes are predefined. For example, the EU transparency directive sets a maximum of 180 days for member states to approve reimbursement of biosimilar products arriving in the market.⁸⁷ Considering that this

reimbursement process has already occurred for the originator product within its approved indications, this bureaucratic burden in EU member states should be reduced to the minimum possible to assure faster reimbursement for biosimilars. In certain countries where some bureaucracy needs to be submitted to grant biosimilar reimbursement, criticism has been raised given the lack of value of such processes. For example, submission of documents to grant biosimilar reimbursement in Belgium, though reduced to 90 days for biosimilars compared to the 120 days required for originators, is still believed to be unnecessary.

**Cons:** In certain countries, it was discussed that potential issues could arise with automatic reimbursement if the timelines that support approval processes are not transparent and there is no notice of upcoming launch until the biosimilar enters the market. Biosimilar entrance with little-to-no warning for existing therapeutic alternatives (both other biosimilars on the market and originator products) can impact their supply management, potentially resulting in sudden drops in demand and wasted stock. This is currently a hypothetical issue, not observed in any of the countries in scope.

**Sustainability evaluation:** To accelerate patient access, automatic reimbursement is favoured in most countries. However, there should be a transparent regulatory process regarding upcoming products to provide enough predictability for biosimilar and originator manufacturers with marketed products and inform their supply decisions. Better visibility into ongoing regulatory assessments should be prioritised in countries where these processes are currently opaque (e.g. Australia and Mexico) as this can allow marketed competitors to forecast potential impacts on their supply chain and adapt their strategies to new market dynamics. As a result, automatic reimbursement of biosimilar products without additional delay can be ensured while avoiding short-term over-supply.

# Full coverage vs. partial coverage

Reimbursement/coverage can range from 100% to partial reimbursement, depending on the country. Reimbursement of the biosimilars is often consistent with the price of the innovative products, although some countries have set fixed reimbursement levels aligned to lowest-cost treatment options. As a result, any product having a higher price than the lowest-cost options would be subjected to certain co-payments either by the patient or the healthcare provider (e.g. hospital or pharmacy). In other countries, such as Spain, prices of originators and biosimilars are unified through a reference pricing system, so full (100%) reimbursement can be maintained for both of them.

**Pros:** Setting reimbursement levels to the lowest-cost option is intended to drive uptake of biosimilar products and can therefore improve their adoption. This provides an incentive for patients where they would otherwise have to cover the excess cost of a more expensive originator therapy. Implementation of such policies has shown to increase cost savings, as with outpatient small molecule generics in Italy.

Alternatively, other regulations have established fixed reimbursement percentages (rather than numerical levels) for originator vs. biosimilar drugs. This also acts to provide an incentive for patients to receive the biosimilar, since prescription is associated with lower co-payments. For example, this case has been observed in Switzerland, where co-payment rates can be higher for drugs for which a cheaper option is included in the specialities list (SL) (e.g. originator products). A price limit is calculated by adding 10% to the average ex-factory price of the cheapest one third of all drugs on the specialities list with the same active ingredient composition.⁸⁸ If the originator exceeds such limit, patients need to pay 20% of costs in excess of the annual deductible compared to the normal 10%. This situation does not apply if the physician specifically prescribes the originator.⁸⁹

Fixed reimbursement percentages do not have to be equivalent across biosimilars and originators. In the US, multiple biosimilar manufacturers have proposed that a higher reimbursement percentage for biosimilars could provide an incentive for biosimilar uptake.

A similar principle applies in countries that use fixed reimbursement levels for providers. For example, in Japanese hospitals, the Diagnostic Procedure Combination (DPC) reimburses hospitals with a fixed amount of the fee per inpatient day. The system does not set any specific requirements on the drug selected for inpatient treatment and, therefore, hospitals tend to use biosimilars as the cheapest therapeutic options, to profit from the system as much as possible. This is the reason why inpatient biosimilars, such as filgrastim, are leaders in the country.⁹⁰

**Cons:** Although it encourages utilisation of the biosimilar, setting reimbursement levels to the lowestcost options has been reported to destabilise competitive countries, especially for higher-cost biologics, and discourage manufacturers' participation/launch into a country.^{91,92}

**Sustainability evaluation:** While policies limiting the level of reimbursement to the cheapest alternative can drive considerable cost savings to the system, this can encourage prescribing that is not in line with medical rationale and remove the potential for physician/patient choice (e.g. in situations where a specific mode of administration is linked with patient compliance). Further, continuous changes in reimbursement levels upon entrance of cheaper alternatives to the market can affect patients already initiated on a treatment and prompt excessively frequent switches, as well as suddenly affecting demand for marketed products, which could lead to over supply or shortages. In order to provide a fully sustainable environment, establishment of fixed reimbursement percentages can still benefit biosimilars and drive cost savings, in the end broadening their access and accelerating their uptake.

# Exclusionary contracts

In some countries, 'exclusionary contracts' have been made between originator manufacturers or manufacturers of first-to-market biosimilars and payers that can inhibit the subsequent reimbursement and access of other biosimilar products. For example, in the US, some commercial plans require patients to receive access to originator products prior to a biosimilar.^{93,94}

**Pros:** No positive effects on long-term sustainability for biosimilars have been identified with exclusionary contracts.

**Cons:** Exclusionary contracts are set up in such a way that payers (e.g. commercial plans in the US) derive higher benefits through confidential rebates/discounts applied by contracted manufacturers, provided an agreed level of market share is retained by the originator. The extent of the discount applied is not known, given the confidentiality of the agreements, but the net prices are expected to be significantly lower than the original list price and therefore perceived to be good value for payers. However, these exclusionary contracts limit the ability of biosimilar products to be successful in the country, thus resulting in limitations on the extent of cost savings that can be realised and decreased available market share for biosimilar products. Further to this, exclusionary contracts have been criticised as obstructive policies, inhibiting access to biosimilars, and sometimes referred to as 'rebate traps'.⁹⁵

**Sustainability evaluation:** The implementation of exclusionary contracts might be beneficial for certain manufacturers, but if they have the effect of reducing potential for biosimilar success, the overall effect on the market leads to decreased competition, negating basic cost savings and ultimately reducing the variety of available treatment options for HCPs and patients. This may also have negative impacts on the attractiveness of the market for future biosimilars in other therapeutic areas, eroding competition and increasing potential pricing.

# **Pricing policies**

In some countries there are policies governing the list price of a biosimilar (and sometimes also originator) at time of biosimilar launch. Approaches to list-price setting ranges from free-pricing policies to pre-agreed price reductions.⁹⁶ It is critical that pricing policies in place are mindful of a long-term sustainable environment for all stakeholders, ensuring cost savings but also prioritising patient access, physician choice and predictability for manufacturers. In particular, list-pricing policies should be mindful of subsequent practices within the country such as tendering or further contracting negotiations. When combined with net price discounts, aggressive list-pricing policies could result in unsustainable levels of price reduction, leading to manufacturers' withdrawal from the market.

Ο

 $\checkmark$ 

0

0

0

0

0

0

 $\checkmark$ 

0

Policy not identified or not applied

Ο

# Biosimilar policies regarding pricing observed across countries include (Table 15):

- Mandatory discounts for biosimilars and/or originators •
- Tiered price discounts for subsequent biosimilar products
- Progressive price discounts, applied over time

At launch – reference pricing mechanisms

0

 $\checkmark$ 

✓

0

Discounts applied at launch

Source: CRA analysis

Implementation of reference pricing (both internally and internationally)



### Table 15: Pricing policies observed across countries in scope

Mandated fixed discounts for biosimilars: In order for biosimilar products to secure reimbursement, they are often required to launch with a list price at a certain discount from the existing originator's list price. For example, in Italy, biosimilars must launch with a list price of at least a 20% discount to the

Policy applied in the country

0

originator list price in order to be reimbursed,⁹⁷ and in France biosimilars in the retail setting must be discounted by 40%.⁹⁸ In the majority of cases, this discounted list price is subject to further confidential price reductions through tendering and/or contracting mechanisms.

**Mandated fixed discounts for originators.** In addition to mandating discounts for biosimilars, many countries also mandate originator discounts when a biosimilar launches. For example, in France, originators are required to discount their list price by 20% in the retail setting and 30% in the hospital setting upon biosimilar launch. In countries where originator discounts are not mandated, manufacturers are able to voluntary decrease their product's price, but this is a decision made by the manufacturer.

**Tiered discounts for biosimilars at launch:** An extension of mandated list-price discounts for biosimilars is the concept of tiered discounts. For example, in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (KSA), discounts applied at launch vary from entrant to entrant, with the first biosimilar being subject to smaller discounts than later entrants (the first biosimilar marketed cannot exceed 75% of the originator's list price, and the second and third biosimilars cannot exceed 65% and 55%, respectively).⁹⁹

**Pros:** Discounts applied at time of biosimilar launch can be effective ways for payers to guarantee cost savings in the short term. Through these mechanisms, many countries have seen significant cost savings to healthcare expenditure. This can be useful in small countries (e.g. the KSA) where high levels of competition are not expected in subsequent contracting mechanisms, or patient volumes are also significantly smaller. In order to realise biosimilars' benefits to the system, set discounts at launch in these smaller countries can mimic the same force that would drive net price discounts in bigger ones, where more competition is expected. Moreover, list-price discounts set at launch can serve as a means to ensure predictability for manufacturers.

**Cons:** While mandated price reductions might lead to a downward trend in pricing, fixed discount levels can sometimes be seen as arbitrary and do not allow for differentiation across therapy areas where a smaller or larger discount may be more appropriate (depending on, for example, the clinical value of the product, available market share or originator list price). Moreover, list-price discounts may be particularly problematic in those countries where biosimilars are not perceived as a specific category within pricing guidelines (e.g. Brazil), which can lead to unfair, and hard to achieve, discounts closer to the range for generic chemical medicines.

List prices are often not the final prices paid for a biosimilar, and therefore, in some countries, these mandatory list-price discounts have instead resulted in unsustainable levels of price reduction in the long term.¹⁰⁰ For example, the recent retraction of the filgrastim biosimilar Zarzio from the Belgian market in 2019 and the absence of insulin (lispro and aspart) or teriparatide biosimilars have been reported as the first indications of a non-sustainable situation in the retail setting where there are no limits on discount level and no volume guarantees applied.

Similarly, tiered discounts can incentivise fast access of biosimilars, but they can also disincentivise subsequent competition by disincentivising later entrants, which are accepted to be necessary to achieve sustainable levels of cost savings within a country. With limited competition within the country, the incentive to reduce pricing is minimal.

Overall, significant mandatory price reductions for both biosimilar and reference products limit the space for further price competition. Without volume guarantees for biosimilar products, ongoing and unrestricted price revisions at regular intervals are not likely to be sustainable in the future as biosimilar manufacturers might opt out of the market.

**Sustainability evaluation:** Although they might be useful for certain smaller countries with lower expected levels of competition, overall, significant mandatory price reductions for both biosimilar and reference products limit the space for further price competition. Without volume guarantees for biosimilar products, ongoing and unrestricted price revisions at regular intervals are not likely to be

sustainable in the long term. Fixed discounts do not account for market dynamics and can have a more negative impact in therapy areas with smaller volumes and competitors expected (e.g. rare diseases). Moreover, list-pricing discounts can further jeopardise biosimilar sustainability when their differences with respect to generic medicines are not understood and gathered in pricing mechanisms. Additionally, mandated discounts for originators can disincentivise manufacturers to invest in innovation and development of new drugs.

# Discounts applied over time

**Progressive price discounts:** List prices can continue to be lowered over time, based on either new entrants, time or market dynamics. For example, in Norway, the original price set for biosimilars when they enter the country is not static. The discount level continues to increase with time and as the country competition gets higher.¹⁰¹

**Reference pricing mechanisms:** In other countries, revisions to the list price are mandated over set periods of time and are applied through the creation of reference price groups or price disclosure mechanisms, as seen for example in Australia.

**Pros:** Discount levels that are dictated by market dynamics instead of arbitrary thresholds/rules have been praised as more sustainable discounting options that allow for differences in therapy areas to be recognised. These policies can incentivise competition and, in the long term, result in sustainable levels of cost savings, although it should also be highlighted that achieving the lowest possible price for biosimilars should not be the goal, to safeguard the sustainability of the market.¹⁰²

This is the case in the Netherlands, where biosimilars can officially launch at the same price as their reference biologics, although subsequent reference pricing mechanisms sets the conditions for both and can lead to price decrease.¹⁰³ Internal reference pricing also applies in certain countries, such as Spain, where products are gathered in unified groups by their active compound and their prices are agreed depending on the basket average.¹⁰⁴

**Cons:** However, these additional progressive discounts can often be seen to lead to unsustainable prices, especially in cases where volumes / market share of products is not guaranteed. Moreover, reference-pricing policies can homogenise pricing across all products with the same active ingredient, thus not allowing for differentiation across entrants (e.g. citrate-free, low-volume adalimumab).

Reference pricing mechanisms can sometimes be too aggressive and equally result in dramatic cost reductions that could jeopardise long-term sustainability. In Belgium, for example, 'the cliff' cost containment policies allow for steep price decrease of products when certain criteria are met (e.g. certain market share). In the case of the 'biocliff', both originator and biosimilar undergo high price discounts upon the market entrance of the latter, leaving room for unpredictability.¹⁰⁵ Therefore, reference pricing systems must still safeguard fair mechanisms and realistic criteria to drive cost containment.

**Sustainability evaluation:** Although internal reference pricing can equalise competition between biosimilars and originators and establish fair basis for cost savings, it also does not allow for any price differentiation and can result in unsustainable price reductions if volumes are not guaranteed. Pricing over time, based on market dynamics, allows for differences across therapy areas to be recognised in ways that fixed discount levels do not, but fair levels of price reduction need to be ensured to maintain incentives for competition and innovation, and to ensure predictability for businesses.

# 3.5. Contracting

Pricing and reimbursement policies set the baseline for list-price discussions. However, further contracting agreements are often made to determine access and net prices. Contracting mechanisms vary across countries and are often agreed via direct negotiation or through tenders. Given that these contracting mechanisms often agree additional price discounts, there is also the potential for excessive price erosion, which in some cases can be significant enough to affect most stakeholders involved, causing manufacturers to leave the market, and potentially resulting in supply shortages, affecting treatment access for HCPs and patients. Therefore, it is necessary that contracting policies provide clear limitations to ensure a sustainable long-term environment for biosimilar access and supply, ensuring cost savings are realised but not in a manner that is unsustainable for manufacturers.

# Biosimilar policies regarding contracting observed across countries include (Table 16):

- Direct contracting with providers
- Tendering procedures



## Table 16: Contracting policies observed across countries in scope

Source: CRA analysis

# Direct contracting with providers

Signing of contracts for the supply of biologics directly with manufacturers is an established trend in the US, where health plans and private insurance providers can reduce their costs via direct negotiations to include certain drugs on their formulary.¹⁰⁶ Additionally, other countries can enter into contracts directly with suppliers, such as private sector providers in Brazil and Mexico, or outpatient providers in Belgium. Direct contracting can take place at the national or sub-national level.

**Pros:** National direct contracts can enable faster (and potentially broader) access to treatments, providing equal supply for all regions across the country. However, competition needs to be at all times ensured. One way of maintaining competition is for contracts to be agreed between manufacturers and sub-national authorities, as contracts can vary from one region to the other and offer a wider opportunity for manufacturers to gain a portion of market share.¹⁰⁷ Moreover, committing to contracts for regional populations can decrease risk of supply issues and provide opportunities for smaller manufacturers to hold a position in the market, although regions need to be large enough to also provide a fair division.

Countries which do not practice tendering for biosimilars, such as Canada, can realise additional benefits relative to tendering markets. For example, price negotiations led by the pan-Canadian Pharmaceutical Alliance (pCPA) resulted in greater reductions in biosimilar pricing than were seen in the EU, once their negotiators became aware of the level of discount conceded in the EU as a result of tenders.

**Cons:** While these contracting practices, on both the national and sub-national level, can offer longterm savings to the system, they may also disadvantage second-to-market biosimilars where there is a perceived lower need to arrange additional agreements if providers are satisfied with the first arrangement. Experts believe that establishing several different sub-national contracts can be limiting, given the increased administrative burden for suppliers, which can result in access delays. This is especially relevant in cases where contracts are agreed for very small patient populations (e.g. at individual hospital levels), further reducing incentives for contract agreements to be made and driving disparities in product access within a single country. Moreover, monitoring and regulation enforcement where there are numerous sub-national contracts is likely to be more difficult, as different criteria might apply across fragmented regions and therefore impede governmental authorities from easily ensuring that suppliers are sticking to the requirements.

It has been reported that, theoretically, originator manufacturers can participate in direct procurement negotiations shortly before the market launch of biosimilar competitors, potentially excluding these biosimilars due to their advantage position as incumbents.¹⁰⁸ As a result, direct contracts need to avoid exclusionary, anticompetitive behaviours, and regulations must apply to consider certain dynamics on their renewals, giving chances for all new biosimilar entries to gain market shares.

Lastly, direct contract decisions between suppliers and payers tend to leave out the input from healthcare professionals and pharmacists, who are the ultimate stakeholders who will decide on biosimilar treatment to better benefit the patient. As a result, multidisciplinary decision-making involving all key contributors of the healthcare system is a rare practice, and prescribing/dispensing treatment options are often reduced, resulting in less autonomy for professionals and reduced patient access to novel biologics.

**Potential sustainability benefits:** While national contracts can provide fairer and more unified treatment alternatives for HCPs and patients, they might reduce competition if the number of selected suppliers is not enough. Regional contracts can ensure multiple suppliers within any given country but can lead to increased administrative burden, access delays and more complex monitoring and regulation efforts. Further, if sub-national agreements are made at a too-small scale, disparities in access across a country can emerge. Independent of geographical level of the contract, agreements must always ensure proper integration of HCPs' and pharmacists' opinions into decision-making.

# Tendering practices

Many countries use tendering as their preferred procurement approach for biosimilars. These tenders generally occur at the national level, but can be managed regionally, allowing for regional variation. It is possible to identify certain common factors to ensure long-term sustainability of biosimilars across countries. Such factors can be gathered under three main categories: (1) the number of winners allowed, (2) criteria used for their awarding, and (3) the length of the awarded contracts.¹⁰⁹ Tendering procedures, when set up appropriately, can be useful mechanisms to ensure not only cost savings but also good levels of supply and an environment where competition and broad access are safeguarded.¹¹⁰

# - Number of granted awards

The number of manufacturers selected for the national/regional supply of biosimilars on awarded contracts can be crucial and determine the correct functioning of biosimilar procurement in countries.

**Pros:** Awarding tenders to multiple suppliers has been shown to enhance competition and it provides noticeable cost savings without driving unsustainable price reduction.¹¹¹ In particular, the organisation of multiple tenders per region to encourage multiple manufacturers to operate in the country has proved to drive competition and maximise patient access to affordable treatments.¹¹² For example, in the UK,

authorities have allowed multiple winners in tenders, either through one national tender or through smaller sub-national tenders, each allowing for at least one winner, as seen for adalimumab biosimilars.¹¹³ This practice has supported competition through guaranteed degressive market shares based on the competitiveness of proposed tender pricing. Additionally, this tendering strategy supported sustainability through the division of the market into 11 hospital groups, with staggered tenders providing multiple opportunities to win, each of which was allocated a specific originator or biosimilar product.¹¹⁴ On a similar trend, in some other countries, such as Spain, tenders are awarded to a main supplier, but a recommended list of ranked suppliers can be also provided for those cases where the main selected winner fails to supply, or in order to distribute market shares according to ranges of price.¹¹⁵ This can provide a sustainable environment where several biosimilar providers can share a certain percentage of the market without requiring aggressive strategies to steeply reduce price.

**Cons:** Multiple winner tenders can still be unsustainable when volume guarantees are not made to winners. This can result in cases of over-supply or supply shortage and have even more unpredictable results for manufacturers that are not successful in tenders at all. Awarding tenders to a single winner can negatively impact the participation of manufacturers and competition between them, and reduce physicians' prescribing choices.¹¹⁶

For instance, some countries, such as Norway, have encountered supply problems when tenders have been awarded to only one pharmaceutical company, which in the end has struggled to provide enough product.¹¹⁷ Such processes can even be worsened, taking into consideration national contracts where a single winner must supply a whole country and market share is completely taken away from the rest of participants. Lessons learnt from this situation have evidenced that the awarding of national tenders to single winners provides an unsustainable environment for biosimilars, which has led the Norwegian Pharmaceutical Industry Association (LMI) to propose the winning of two suppliers in tendering contracts in order to avoid a second supply shortage.¹¹⁸

**Sustainability evaluation:** When deciding on the contract criteria for awarding tenders, a healthy level of competition must always be ensured. There is evidence that the selection of a single supplier can be effective in the short term and in encouraging significant price competition. However, this is unlikely to be sustainable, as it can disincentivise participation. By selecting multiple winners, healthier volumes of supply will be required from a number of suppliers, improving predictability and avoiding any unforeseeable shortages, such as have happened in previous examples.

## - Awarding criteria

Of equal importance to ensure sustainability are the criteria considered for tender awarding, which should consider multiple factors to avoid the award of tenders being completely weighted on a single consideration such as price.

**Pros:** Weighting the awarding of tenders on multiple factors as opposed to the consideration of price can avoid unsustainable price erosion and encourage participation of a good number of manufacturers in tenders.¹¹⁹ Several countries, like Switzerland, have added extra criteria to be considered when selecting tender winners, such as manufacturers' ability to supply or local manufacturing.¹²⁰ In the case of the Netherlands, despite insurance companies' pressure on price, tenders can also account for periodic updates from manufacturers on stock availability.¹²¹

The correct implementation of these policies, however, must be thoroughly controlled to ensure that additional criteria are indeed equally considered, and price does not fully govern tender award decisions. For example, in Italy, budgetary law requires consideration of additional elements beyond price (e.g. quality, organisational impact) for tender awarding. However, poor enforcement and regulation of the law has led regional authorities still to consider price as the main decision factor.

Therefore, monitoring of the correct implementation of laws ruling tenders can ensure that new included criteria are equally considered.

Equally important, the inclusion of HCPs and pharmacists into decision-making can improve the awarding criteria used in tendering practices. This is the case observed in Norway, where physicians can determine which treatments can be considered of equal clinical benefit to include in a tender. The procurement of such products will then be decided on tenders, where multidisciplinary decisions will also evaluate HCPs' clinical opinion, opening a window for the application of better awarding criteria.

Finally, in the same way that manufacturers can be required to monitor their capabilities, tenders should provide reliable estimates of volume to ensure a predictable environment, guaranteeing a minimum volume and defining a maximum cap. Covering an unexpected increase in demand may be difficult for manufacturers, as it is complicated and lengthy to increase the production scale due to the complex manufacturing process of biologics.¹²² Similarly, in cases where no minimum volumes are guaranteed, tenders could lead to a risk of unused stock and issues with scaling. Suppliers with overstock may go for highly competitive offers in pending or subsequent tender procedures, which may lead to unsustainable market dynamics.¹²³

**Cons:** Price is usually the main, sometimes the single, factor that decides a winner. In countries like Spain or Italy, regional tenders are still heavily awarded on price,^{124,125} which has led to such high discounts for biosimilars that price levels have even reached those of generic drugs.¹²⁶ Unsustainable awarding criteria in Spain have led to the majority of tenders being awarded to suppliers with no existing track record in the country, discouraging good levels of participation, especially from local participants.¹²⁷ This goes against the recent 'Action Plan for Science & Innovation' of the national government, which places R&D and innovation at the centre of Spain's recovery strategy.¹²⁸

**Sustainability evaluation:** The inclusion of criteria beyond price for awarding tenders can encourage increased competition and long-term cost savings owing to a more sustainable market. Criteria regarding supply and local manufacturing / existing presence in the country can help to avoid supply shortages and facilitate greater trust within a country. Considerations of value-added services can provide multi-stakeholder benefits from tendering procedures (e.g. opportunities for patients to benefit).

## - Contract length

Finally, the contract length for awarded tenders can also be important for establishing a predictable but competitive environment and can therefore influence participation. The reopening of tenders upon new entries in the market can have different levels of benefits and drawbacks between stakeholders, so policies to regulate this need to be thoroughly considered.

**Pros:** While short tender durations can be important to promote competition, as shorter periods can mean a more frequent renewal of suppliers, longer contracts provide better predictability for manufacturers and HCPs/patients. In order to find a balance between the two, sustainable tender guidance for implementation following first biosimilar entry has proposed reopening of tenders within 6 months to enable competition versus originators while ensuring business predictability. On the other hand, contracts of up to 12 or 24 months have been considered if multiple biosimilars are expected to launch in a short period of time. These longer awards can better contribute to sustainability in more mature countries, once a certain number of competitors is already established.¹²⁹ Long-term tenders which require an annual price improvement have also been proposed as a more sustainable practice compared to current practices where excessive competition among manufacturers can lead to unsustainable price reductions without following any criteria.

**Cons:** Policies allowing for the constant reopening of tenders upon the entrance of new competitors in the market (e.g. within 60 days in Italy) are indicative of unsustainability, resulting in further discounts

and conditions different to what was previously agreed.¹³⁰ Further to this, constant reopening of tenders can jeopardise predictability for manufacturers as well as HCPs, if available treatment options are subjected to tendering practices.

**Potential sustainability benefits:** Debates on the adequate duration of tender contracts need to consider not only opportunities to boost competition and drive cost savings but also the potential harms that this might bring. Shorter contracts can also mean constant switching of patients' treatments, which is equally unsustainable in the longer term.¹³¹ As a potential alternative, contracts could account for differences within therapeutic areas when deciding on their length – e.g. those therapy areas where longer treatment periods are expected, such as chronic disease, might require longer tenders. Independently of the country context, policies that can contribute to predictability and grant efficient access for biosimilars can also be ensured when tender operators commit to making a decision in a timely manner.

# 3.6. Biosimilar education and understanding

If biosimilars are to compete on a level playing field with originator products there needs to be confidence and trust in them from all key stakeholders. The concept of biosimilarity is fairly new for the majority of countries and has only affected a limited number of therapeutic areas.¹³² It is therefore unsurprising that public understanding still needs to be increased. The lack of complete knowledge among stakeholders, from HCPs to patients, has led to mistrust and misconceptions regarding biosimilars, on the grounds of associating cheaper alternatives with lower quality. It is also important that education targets the full range of stakeholders with influence over key access and uptake decision makers, including prescribing physicians, pharmacists and patients. Moreover, for countries where access to biosimilars is decided through contracting (e.g. Spain and Italy), educational efforts focused on payers and other decision makers is critical as these decisions often provide little additional flexibility for physicians and pharmacists with regards to prescription and/or dispensation.

# Biosimilar policies regarding public health education observed across countries include (Table 17):

- HCP and pharmacist educational programs
- Patient educational programs

# Table 17: Biosimilar education and understanding campaigns/policies observed across countries in scope



Source: CRA analysis

# HCP-targeted educational programs

Healthcare professionals can resist the use of biosimilars, which on certain occasions can be a key driver behind limited uptake of biosimilars. Reasons for this include the availability of long-term safety data and real-world evidence that is often perceived as being relevant only for the originator product and also that well-established originator products are linked to pharmaceutical companies with better visibility among HCPs and with overall higher revenues that allow for stronger marketing campaigns.

**Pros:** Given that HCP misconceptions are often key limiting factors for biosimilar success, specific HCP- and pharmacist-targeted campaigns can help to build trust in biosimilar products, resulting in equal consideration of biosimilars with originators in the long term. When developing such campaigns, leveraging help from people within the same career can prove essential to accurately reach the target population – this means, programs delivered by HCPs to educate their peers will have a better outcome, and the same principle applies for pharmacists. Educational efforts can also arise from within hospitals to educate their staff as needed, as much as leveraging governments' resources (e.g. regulatory agencies, HTAs and public drug programs) and/or materials created by the pharmaceutical industries,

professional associations and patient groups to educate stakeholders. Moreover, such efforts must be a continuum, and campaigns must therefore happen on a regular basis and through different communication channels in order to keep the scientific community constantly updated and engaged. Further to educational campaigns, certain countries like the UAE have implemented policies to counteract incorrect misconceptions and to avoid preferential treatment of originators from HCPs.¹³³

Cons: No negative effects on long-term sustainability for biosimilars have been identified.

**Sustainability evaluation:** The implementation of educational campaigns for healthcare professionals can improve their perception about biosimilars and provide better understanding of the additional value these can provide. Given HCPs and pharmacists are the final stakeholders between the product and the patients, targeted education can have benefits for a wider group of stakeholders in the same way that their miseducation can result in extremely high barriers for biosimilar success.

# Patient educational programs

There is often a direct correlation between the uptake of off-patent medicines in a country and the level of understanding of its patient population, which can be targeted via different communication channels.¹³⁴ Therefore, for cost savings and benefits obtained from biosimilars to be realised, there is a need for a policy framework which considers patient-targeted educational programs within its priorities.

**Pros:** Educational campaigns to target patient segments can provide a way to overcome the last barrier for biosimilars access. Knowledge about biosimilars' added values can empower patients, particularly in countries where HCPs especially consider patients' perspectives. While certain countries, like the Netherlands, have shown good approaches in their patient-targeted educational campaigns,¹³⁵ others, such as Belgium, still struggle with the proper targeting of the relevant population.¹³⁶

The involvement of different stakeholders in leading educational campaigns can also determine their level of success. Thus, educational efforts can come from both national organisations and pannational/international bodies. As an example of the first, the influence of French patient associations in policy creation has resulted in a plan to achieve 80% penetration by 2022.^{137, 138}

**Cons:** Political will has also been regarded as beneficial and proven to be a key element driving education in certain countries. However, the involvement of governmental bodies in such campaigns can also act as a burden in countries where there was a previous lack of trust, and government's efforts tend to be regarded as a means for costs savings only. The same can be true with regards to manufacturer-sponsored educational campaigns, which can be considered less trustworthy due to existing biases in public perception. In these cases, educational programs could be better accepted if led by other, more neutrally perceived bodies and based on clear, clinical and real-world evidence. This can be the case for educational campaigns launched by supra-national corporations like the EMA and directed to HCPs and patients,¹³⁹ or independent associations without government affiliation, as in the case of BioSim in Spain or Egualia in Italy.^{140, 141}

**Sustainability evaluation:** Increasing HCPs' and patients' understanding of the benefits of biosimilars can improve their public perception and provide a way to promote their uptake, especially in the outpatient sector. Greater knowledge about biosimilars can increase their uptake among patients and broaden their access, resulting in cost containment on the long term.

# 3.7. Prescribing

Policies which influence the prescription of biosimilars are key to determining their uptake, often the 'last hurdle' faced by patients to access biosimilars. Policies can promote or mandate usage through formal/informal recommendations or incentives/penalties. While increased use of biosimilars is a clear goal of prescribing policies, they can also have wider implications for the ability to monitor downstream usage of biosimilars (e.g. from a pharmacovigilance perspective).

# Biosimilar policies regarding dispensing observed across countries include (Table 18):

- Clinical recommendations for prescriber-initiated prescription of biosimilars
- Mandated switching to cheapest alternative
- Prescription quotas for volume of biosimilar prescription
- Financial incentives linked to volume of biosimilar prescription
- Financial penalties linked to volume of biosimilar prescription
- International non-proprietary name (INN) prescribing

## Table 18: Prescribing policies observed across countries in scope

₩ AUS	BEL	📀 BRA	CAN	FRA	DEU	GBR	ITA	<b>J</b> PN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	<mark>≉</mark> ESP	CHE	UAE	USA
Clin	ical re	ecomi	mend	ation	s for p	oresci	iber-i	initiat	ed pr	escrip	otion	of bio	simila	ars		
✓	0	0	0	✓	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	0	0	✓	0	~	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	0
Man	dated	l swite	ching	to ch	eape	st alte	ernativ	ve								
0	0	0	$\checkmark$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	✓	0	0	0	0	0
Pres	script	ion qu	lotas	for vo	olume	of bi	osimi	lar pr	escrij	ption						
0	✓	0	0	✓	✓	~	$\checkmark$	0	0	0	0	0	$\checkmark$	0	0	0
Fina	incial	incen	tives	linke	d to v	olum	e of b	iosim	ilar p	rescr	iption	1		-	-	
0	~	0	0	~	~	~	$\checkmark$	~	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Fina	incial	pena	lties I	inked	to vo	lume	of bio	osimi	lar pre	escrip	otion			-	-	
0	0	0	0	0	✓	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
de fa	acto I	NN pr	escri	bing									-			
✓	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	0	0			
	_	_	_	_	~	Policy	v applie	d in the	0	Policy	not idei	ntified c	or not ap	oplied		

Source: CRA analysis

## Clinical recommendations for prescriber-initiated prescription of biosimilars

In some countries, clinical guidelines consider cost-effectiveness principles and make recommendations to prescribe cheaper biologic products where it is medically safe and appropriate to

do so. However, these guidelines are used as recommendations and still require the physician to decide about the prescription of biosimilars.

**Pros:** Recommendations to use biosimilars in clinical guidelines are a means of promoting their use in a non-mandatory fashion and maintaining physicians' prescribing autonomy. For instance, in Australia, the 2017 update of the National Budget involved a commitment from the Government to Medicines Australia, the Generic and Biosimilar Medicines Association and the Pharmacy Guild of Australia to implement biosimilar uptake drivers. Recommendations to encourage the prescription of biosimilars rather than the reference, originator brand were included as part of these drivers.¹⁴²

If switches systematically occur, the resulting cost savings benefit the health system and continue to support broad access and increased biologic competition, and ensure that prescribers have access to a variety of treatment options.

**Cons:** Conversely, non-mandatory switching and recommendations may not be strong enough, especially in countries or therapy areas where there are pervasive misconceptions surrounding the value of biosimilars. Therefore, non-mandatory measurements must always be complemented with educational campaigns to fight misconceptions around biosimilars and, ideally, interventionalist policies. Ultimately, policies that support prescribing decisions towards '*best value biologics*' would establish equal grounds for competition between biosimilars and their originators.

**Sustainability evaluation:** Recommendations to prescribe biosimilars based on their costeffectiveness are largely a sustainable practice that can support wider use of biosimilars. However, in some countries, such measures may not be sufficient to guarantee equal opportunities for biosimilar products, and therefore, the introduction of temporary interventional policy may be required to stimulate biosimilar use.

## Mandated switching to cheapest alternative

Some policymakers choose to mandate lowest-cost switching policies. By limiting reimbursement of higher-cost originators and biosimilars, these policies ensure only the lowest-cost treatment is (initially or exclusively) prescribed.

**Pros:** Mandated switching to lowest-cost alternatives has the effect of rapidly driving biosimilar uptake, capturing cost savings for the healthcare system. Examples of these switching policies are observed in some Canadian provinces, where patients are required to switch from their originator biologic treatment to a biosimilar, reducing overall costs for the insurance plan.¹⁴³ British Columbia introduced its non-medical switching (NMS) policy in May 2019, and this has triggered other provinces (e.g. New Brunswick and Quebec) to implement and review potential implementation of NMS policies.^{144,145} Following introduction, patients are typically given six months to consult with their physician before their treatment is switched to the lowest-cost treatment. Importantly, however, there are often medical exceptions to the mandatory switch – e.g. patients under 18 years or pregnant women.

**Cons:** Mandated switching policies can create less-competitive market environments if just one product is deemed the 'lowest-cost option' and no other biosimilars are allowed in the market (e.g. as the result of a single-winner tender). Depending on the notice period given to patients regarding switching, this can result in multiple switching over short time periods resulting in confusion and also increased challenges in monitoring practices. Further to this, promotion of the use of the cheapest product diminishes the ability of manufacturers to predict their business, given the risk of being undercut and rapidly losing sales volume. The same way, leaving all the country to be supplied by a single option might further increase the chances of suffering from supply shortages.

**Potential sustainability benefits:** A mandated switch to the lowest-cost alternative might act as a driver for biosimilars uptake but it sets the grounds for diminishing competition opportunities for other stakeholders in the country. Moreover, this practice decreases the responsibility of physicians within prescribing and sends a message of cost savings above all other criteria, which can be harmful for the understanding and perception of biosimilar value. Lowest-cost switching can also result in frequent and multiple switching as prices evolve, promoting a 'race-to-the-bottom' effect with regards to price, leading to unsustainable levels of price erosion.

# Prescription quotas for volume of biosimilar prescription

Quotas define a fixed volume or proportion of prescriptions that must be made for the biosimilar. They often apply to a certain active ingredient, but they can consider a physician's prescriptions within a therapy area or their overall prescriptions.

**Pros:** Given that biosimilars are typically priced below their originator products, introduction of these quotas is a direct means of reducing healthcare spending. Depending on whether quotas are mandatory or not, their introduction can encourage or ensure that physicians consider switching/initiation where it is safe to do so.

In Germany, the National Association of Statutory Health Insurance Funds (GKV-SV) and the National Association of Statutory Health Insurance Physicians (KBV) annually define prescribing targets across therapy areas. These targets are non-binding and act as a guideline for the formation of prescription quotas at the regional level. Based on this, regional physician associations (KVs) can then define their own quotas; these quotas vary considerably between federal states.¹⁴⁶ Generally, quotas implemented at the regional level are binding, and some are even more stringent than the national prescribing targets. Consequently, this contributes to the relatively high biosimilar penetrations observed in some states, such as the 87% biosimilar infliximab market share observed in Lower Saxony (Q4 2018).¹⁴⁷

Prescription quotas that have been implemented in other countries, such as the UK, have not been binding. The NHS 'Commissioning Framework for Biological Medicines (including biosimilar medicines)' established non-mandatory biosimilar quotas in 2017.¹⁴⁸ Goals included a target to initiate 90% of treatment naïve patients on the 'best value biological medicine' within three months of the launch of a biosimilar, and at least 80% of existing patients within 12 months.¹⁴⁹

Conversely to lowest-cost switching, quotas for biosimilars more broadly still enable health price competition among biosimilars and provide equal opportunities in legislation for price differentiation, leaving biosimilar prescriptions ultimately at the choice of the physician.

**Cons:** Quotas have been criticised for not ensuring a level playing field for biosimilars and biologics to compete freely. Further, quotas are not always seen as effective measures to promote use of biosimilars if needed to achieve savings in the short term. For example, in the UK, non-mandatory quotas were not initially met for biosimilars of Remicade (taking 28 months to reach 80% of market share) and Enbrel (taking 12 months to reach 50% of market share). However, implementation of financial incentives in addition to quotas eventually drove further uptake for subsequent biosimilar launches.¹⁵⁰ Thus, while non-binding quotas do support biosimilar uptake, coupling them with other incentives (e.g. financial) increases their impact.

**Sustainability evaluation:** Prescribing quotas can boost biosimilar uptake in the short term only if correctly implemented with other prescribing incentives, but are not necessarily measures for a sustainable biosimilar market in the long term as they do not foster natural competition between the originator and the biosimilars. As an extension of this, prescribing quotas need to consider differences

across therapy areas and how competition and perception of prescribers within therapy areas evolves over time.

# Financial incentives linked to biosimilar prescribing

Similar to biosimilar quotas, provision of incentives to prescribe lower-cost products can serve as an encouragement for driving biosimilar uptake in the short term, supporting fast and efficient broadening of access to treatment.

**Pros:** Implementation of financial incentives in the UK had a marked impact on the rate at which biosimilar quotas were met in the short term. NHS England adopted the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation Scheme (GE3 Hospital Medicine Optimisation). This provided a target payment of 1% of contract value (based on the total hospital spending on the high-cost drugs) for tariff-excluded high-cost drugs, where providers met the prescribing quotas outlined in the NHS 'Commissioning Framework for Biological Medicines' (90% of naïve and 80% of existing patients).¹⁵¹ Coupled with quotas for biosimilar medicines, these incentives have resulted in the UK having some of the highest market shares for biosimilar products globally.

In addition to direct financial incentives for physicians, an alternative means of incentivising biosimilar prescribing is through the introduction of indirect gain sharing mechanisms which can provide other benefits linked to the level of cost savings realised through prescribing. These have been observed in Germany, where agreements between some insurers and groups of physicians have enabled payer savings to be shared between groups of, and individual, physicians. An example is the BioLike initiative launched by the sick fund Barmer GEK with groups of gastroenterologists and rheumatologists, which allowed for relatively higher (>50%) penetration in the tumour necrosis factor  $\alpha$  inhibitor market by sharing savings realised between the sick fund and the physician association.¹⁵²

**Cons:** As with biosimilar quotas, prescribing incentives have been criticised for being short-term solutions appropriate to boost biosimilar uptake but not long-term solutions for an equal and sustainable market. Implementation of physician incentives to drive biosimilar uptake has demonstrated to be efficient in the short term but cannot be the ultimate goal to achieve in the long run. Educational campaigns need to be developed in parallel, to ensure that biosimilar benefits sink into the scientific community as physicians obtain direct incentives from them. As educational campaigns start proving their effectiveness for biosimilar uptake, and always considering the country context, physicians' incentives can be slowly (and never abruptly) retrieved, always safeguarding that biosimilar prescribing levels do not go back to previous levels.

**Sustainability evaluation:** Incentivising biosimilar prescribing through financial bonuses can indirectly improve the understanding of their value, as physicians can realise the equal efficacy and safety of off-patent biologics. However, these measures must be considered as short-term measures to boost biosimilar uptake, while long-term durable solutions establish fundamental trust in biosimilars to drive their uptake (e.g. educational campaigns). As a result, it is always necessary to evaluate biosimilar uptake levels and consider slowly decreasing financial incentives as other sustainable policies take over.

## Financial penalties linked to biosimilar prescribing

Financial penalties act as a deterrent for physician prescribing of higher-cost originator biologics, providing cost savings for the healthcare system in a similar way to financial incentives. Penalties are implemented less frequently than incentives across countries.

**Pros:** In the same way as financial incentives linked to cost savings, financial penalties can act as mechanisms to encourage uptake of biosimilars in the short term to ensure that prescription quotas are met.

**Cons:** These policies can be seen as more obstructive than constructive and negate flexibility in prescribing by reducing physicians' treatment options. For example, in Germany, a physician's prescribing history can be audited, and if they cannot justify their use of higher-cost originators, they may face a penalty of reduced remuneration.¹⁵³ However, these audits and penalties are loosely enforced, indicating that they have lesser support as an incentive mechanism when compared to 'positive' incentives, which are generally considered to be a more sustainable means of driving biosimilar uptake.

**Sustainability evaluation:** While financial incentives maintain physicians' freedom to prescribe, financial penalties can reduce it, also affecting patients' access to broader options. Despite driving cost savings, the negative sentiment generated by these financial penalties can actually have a negative impact on biosimilars' perception and result in lower uptake in the long term.

# de facto INN prescribing

INN prescribing describes the practice by which physicians write prescriptions using only the name of the product's active compound and the pharmacist then has the opportunity to dispense their choice of a brand biologic of that INN (the originator or a biosimilar).

**Pros:** From an optics perspective, INN prescribing can support an increase in biosimilar uptake in the short term and encourages prescribers, pharmacists and patients to understand that biosimilars contain the same active ingredient as originator products.

**Cons:** However, INN prescribing also means that the differences across biosimilars (e.g. excipients) may not be considered during prescribing. Further to this, INN prescribing reduces traceability of prescribed products if no additional brand identification is recorded on pharmacovigilance systems. Many countries use INN prescribing but with the ability to differentiate between products using full INNs that include unique identification codes. For example, in Switzerland, INN prescribing is required by Swissmedic (surveillance authority for medicines), but in order to support pharmacovigilance efforts, the INN must be followed by a unique biosimilar-specific identification code, as recommended by the WHO.¹⁵⁴

**Sustainability evaluation:** INN prescribing can support an increase in biosimilar uptake in the short term and facilitate a better understanding of biosimilar products. However, this practice also raises some further challenges to a sustainable market by increasing the opportunity for non-medical switching and by reducing traceability of products. There are policy measures (e.g. unique INN suffixes) that can be put in place to overcome these situations, but this is a policy to be approached with caution and not to be implemented on its own.

# 3.8. Dispensing

In order to ensure broad access to biosimilars, it is also critical that the appropriate incentives are given to pharmacists who act as key 'gatekeepers' for access. While switching should remain a medically driven decision, adequate responsibility should be given to pharmacists to support healthcare systems to realise cost savings in a sustainable and fair manner through fair dispensation practices.

## Biosimilar policies regarding dispensing observed across countries include (Table 19):

- Automatic substitution
- Regressive retailer markups
- Reduced patient co-payments

¥. AUS	BEL	📀 BRA	<b>*</b> CAN	FRA	DEU	GBR	ITA	<b>e</b> JPN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	© ESP	+ CHE	UAE	USA
Auto	omati	c sub	stituti	ion	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
$\checkmark$	0	0	0	~	🗸 iv	0	0	0	0	~	0	0	0	0	0	✓
Reg	ressiv	ve ret	ailer r	narku	ips	-			-	-	-			-	-	-
$\checkmark$	✓	0	0	✓	0	~	0	0	0	✓	0	0	0	✓	✓	✓
Red	uced	patie	nt co-	paym	ents											
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	$\checkmark$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
					~	Pol	icy app	lied in t	the cou	0	Policy	not ide	ntified c	or not a	pplied	

#### Table 19: Dispensing policies observed across countries in scope

Source: CRA analysis

## Automatic substitution

Substitution is defined as the dispensing of one medicine instead of another equivalent and interchangeable medicine at pharmacy level without consulting the prescribing physician.¹⁵⁵ The results obtained from such a measure can present different benefits, but all of which are associated with challenges.

**Pros:** On the one hand, it has been reported that automatic substitution of biosimilars could be a method to increase knowledge about biosimilars, foster trust and increase the tendency among patients, prescribers and dispensers to use biosimilar medicines.¹⁵⁶ In some countries, automatic substitution is enabled through 'interchangeability' statuses awarded at the regulatory level. The US FDA designates biosimilar 'interchangeability' (i.e. enabling automatic switching)¹⁵⁷ and the same practice is implemented by Australia's PBAC through 'a-flag' designations which are awarded on a case-by-case basis to biosimilars deemed interchangeability: in the US further limitations are placed on substitution at the state level (as of mid-2018, 41 states and Puerto Rico have laws restricting automatic substitution)¹⁵⁸ and in both the US and Australia, physicians can indicate if brand substitution is not

^{iv} The implementation of the GSAV in 2022 will allow for automatic substitution at the pharmacy level in Germany.

permitted at the pharmacy level when prescribing. These restrictions ensure that ultimate decisionmaking regarding prescribing lies with the physician. Other countries are introducing additional legislation to mandate physician consultation before substitution is permitted (e.g. Brazil).¹⁵⁹

**Cons:** On the other hand, it is also widely thought that automatic substitution can be a bad practice which can result in greater treatment switching, negatively impacting pharmacovigilance and traceability, and hence potentially eroding long-term safety.¹⁶⁰ Where there are multiple or uncontrolled substitutions, it can become increasingly difficult to accurately trace the product and batch that was dispensed, which can have safety implications if adverse events need to be reported. Automatic substitution reduces this visibility with additional checks of dispensing required in addition to prescribing records; this is particularly true in countries that promote the use of INN prescribing and whose electronic prescription systems do not allow for specific differences in INNs (sometimes introduced by regulatory authorities) to be recorded.

In addition, automatic substitution has the potential to adversely affect treatment outcomes, for example through the introduction of the nocebo effect.¹⁶¹ This effect can arise from negative patient sentiment and unwillingness to switch, where an automatic substitution is not perceived to be medically justified, in turn impacting patients' expectations of treatment efficacy. There has been recent controversy in Germany, where the enforcement of the GSAV (a new proposed biosimilar regulation) in mid-2022 will introduce automatic substitution without notification of the physician for non-bioidentical biosimilars unless explicitly stated by physicians in prescription.¹⁶²

**Sustainability evaluation**: The decision to substitute a treatment must be made by a multidisciplinary team, and must also account for the patient's preference. Therefore, automatic substitution of therapies without common input from both prescribing physicians and dispensing pharmacists is viewed as an unsustainable practice. Their dialogue must be guaranteed to ensure that none of the following are compromised: physician's ultimate prescribing autonomy, traceability from a monitoring/pharmacovigilance perspective, existing volume / market share agreements.

# Regressive retailer markups

Markups are described as certain percentages of products' price that are provided for retailers as a bonus for their dispensing. In some cases, markups are regressive, meaning the magnitude of the markup decreases as the price of the product increases.

**Pros:** Many countries can benefit from significant cost savings by encouraging the dispensing of offpatent biologics. Some countries apply regressive markups to encourage dispensing of lower-cost drugs (e.g. France, Belgium and Norway). However, given their lower price, in many other countries the bonuses obtained from biosimilar dispensation are also consequently lower, which has imposed a disincentive for pharmacists to dispense cheaper medicines. As a result, higher percentage markups for cheaper medicines (e.g. biosimilars) ensure that lower-priced products are not penalised at the pharmacy level. The same principle can be applied through reduced markups for originator brands that have biosimilar alternatives. While this policy should not necessarily favour biosimilars over originators, it ensures that pharmacists profit equally from both products and are not incentivised to stock highercost products.

**Cons:** Regressive markups can actually result in better benefits for manufacturers of higher-cost medicines if not implemented properly. In the US, Medicare has tried to address the differential profit for originators vs. biosimilars by ensuring that providers are reimbursed with the same 6% margin that the originator product is eligible for (i.e. increased biosimilar markups). While this does ensure providers are not penalised for using biosimilar products, the policy also provides incentives for originators to maintain high prices and therefore does not facilitate cost savings.¹⁶³

**Sustainability evaluation:** Regressive markups provide an opportunity to drive biosimilars uptake, and have demonstrated to be of higher benefit than direct bonuses or incentives paid to retailers by manufacturers. Given originators' higher revenues, these direct incentives can disequilibrate the competition balance between them and biosimilars. Conversely, fair regressive markups provide a more equalised system and can improve retailers' perception of biosimilars, given the direct benefits they obtain through their dispensing. As a result, pharmacists can self-evaluate added values that biosimilars can have for the healthcare system and base their dispensing decisions on *'best value biologics'* and their clinical/organisational benefits, rather than financial incentives.

## Reduced patient co-payments

Other pharmacy-level policies incentivising use of biosimilars are related to patient co-payments.

**Pros:** In countries where co-payments are required, offering biosimilars with a lower co-pay than originators can incentivise their widespread use (and broad access for patients) while ensuring cost savings. In Australia, schemes intended to increase the uptake of generic medicines exists, where patients are required to pay extra for the branded product when there is a cheaper, generic alternative.¹⁶⁴ Consequently, there have been proposals to update policy to provide an equivalent incentive to drive biosimilar use (e.g. 50% of the originator co-payment), but this has not yet been implemented in Australia. These schemes have come under criticism for the same reasons as automatic substitution, e.g. that they can undermine physicians' prescribing autonomy. However, it is also possible to implement this policy in a sustainable manner, with appropriate measures in place to notify physicians of proposed substitution or to provide them with the option to 'opt out' of substitution practices (as in Australia). By implementing proper regulation, this will provide multi-stakeholder benefits.

**Cons:** The benefits obtained by lower patient co-payments can be banned if other unsustainable practices are in place. In some countries, patient co-payment policies are established in such a way that patients only have to pay up to a certain fixed numerical threshold (e.g. a maximum 700 CHF in Switzerland¹⁶⁵). While these regulations set fair limits for patients and the amount of out-of-pocket money they need to pay for healthcare, they might also avoid the incentivisation of biosimilar prescribing. This is also the case in Japan, where once the patient co-payment cap is reached three times, the maximum amount allowed for co-payments is further decreased. This benefits higher-cost biologics over biosimilars, as the cap is reached faster with more expensive products.

**Sustainability evaluation:** Lower patient co-payments applied for biosimilars can serve as a sustainable option to favour their dispensing over originators without unfairly affecting competition. Moreover, such policy can result in cost savings not only for payers but for a broader range of stakeholders including patients.

# 3.9. Monitoring

All drugs, including biological drugs, need to prove their safety prior to commercialisation. In the case of biosimilars, most comparability assays to demonstrate similar characteristics also include monitoring for immunogenicity and anti-protein antibodies (APA). However, given the complexity of these molecules, biologics and biosimilars need to be further monitored after their launch, to keep a long-term measure of any potential adverse events (AEs).¹⁶⁶ Systematic monitoring of usage also has a role in ensuring there is consistent biosimilar supply, hence manufacturing and procurement issues can also be tracked.

# Biosimilar policies regarding monitoring observed across countries include (Table 20):

- Post-commercialisation pharmacovigilance measures
- Transparency in usage reporting
- Monitoring of product ability to supply

₩ AUS	BEL	📀 BRA	<b>CAN</b>	FRA	DEU	GBR	ITA	<b>)</b> JPN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	SESP	+ CHE	UAE	USA
Post	t-com	merc	ialisa	tion p	harm	acovi	gilano	ce me	asure	es						
✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	$\checkmark$	✓	0	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓
Sup	ply ar	nd us	age m	onito	ring											
✓	0	0	0	0	0	✓	0	0	0	✓	0	0	0	0	0	0
	✓ Policy applied in the country												not ide	ntified c	or not a	pplied

### Table 20: Monitoring policies observed across countries in scope

Source: CRA analysis

## Pharmacovigilance measures

As a general rule, pharmacovigilance measures across countries are applied equally to both biosimilars and their originators. Special requirements for biosimilars are applied in certain countries regarding additional documentation to accompany the product for its commercialisation. This is the case for the EU, where the EMA has also served as an example for other countries like Switzerland (Swissmedic). In such countries, biosimilars need to provide additional information in the documentation for their approval (e.g. an inverted black triangle stating that the product is a biosimilar).¹⁶⁷

**Pros:** The purpose of pharmacovigilance measures is to ensure traceability of molecules upon development of AEs, to assess their safety for the patient. This process must be equally ensured for both innovative biologics and biosimilars, and therefore equivalent procedures with same requirements are deemed sufficient. Differences in the documentation accompanying biosimilars and their originators can serve as a way to increase traceability and differentiate between two molecules with the same active ingredient. Some countries, such as the US, have introduced pharmacovigilance measures to give specific identifiers to biosimilar medicines, which allow for the direct identification of the product. In the case of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, commercial names must accompany INNs, and biosimilars are specifically identified as such in the hospitals' order entry screens.¹⁶⁸ The monitoring system implemented in Norway goes even a step beyond, recognising batch-dependent differences inside these unique identifiers. These are included in a patient's history upon switching or biosimilar treatment initiation, to enable traceability of the prescribed product.¹⁶⁹

Policies must ensure that when AEs are reported, all stakeholders involved in the biosimilar pathway are included. This way, patients as well as manufacturers and HCPs should be responsible for the reporting of AEs associated with biosimilars. The establishment of simplified protocols by the authorities and their support with understandable guidance would ease the approach for this process, potentially establishing certain hierarchy (i.e. HCPs serving as a bridge between patients and authorities). Alternatively, some countries like the UAE, currently looking to enhance their biosimilars' markets, are advocating for a rather direct approach. Here, patients can directly report back to the Ministry of Health and Prevention (MOHAP).¹⁷⁰ This could, nevertheless, produce certain complications, as manufacturers do not get a notification of such reports. To avoid this, pharmacovigilance reporting systems must ensure transparency between the parts involved. An example of this latter is the KSA, where producing companies do get notified.

Cons: No negative effects on long-term sustainability for biosimilars have been identified.

**Sustainability evaluation:** Monitoring of adverse events after commercialisation is a common requirement for all marketed drugs. The use of such measures for biosimilars can provide a way of showing real-world evidence to different stakeholders and improve biosimilars' perception, demonstrating their equal efficacy and safety. Placing biosimilars at the same level of biologics sets a good environment for competition and perception of biosimilars in the long term.

# Supply and usage reporting

In order to maintain a sustainable market in the long term for all key stakeholders, commitment to market shares for biosimilar products should be ensured to avoid unsustainable levels of price erosion and to safeguard enough levels of supply without shortages. To facilitate this, transparency in supply and usage should be considered across the supply chain as a best practice policy.

**Pros:** Transparency in supply and usage can support sustainable contracting procedures. On the one hand, tenders/contracts can be arranged between payers and providers providing realistic estimates on biosimilar market shares, leveraging historical performance and country trends as reference. On the other hand, manufacturers entering tenders/contracts need to understand the level of market share they are bidding for, so they can enter at a sustainable price and commit to a realistic level of supply that will not result in supply shortages. In many cases, unsustainable contracting processes have resulted in sudden supply shortages, which can affect the pharmaceutical industry at many different levels. If medicinal products are not widely available, patient care and treatment can be compromised, leading to disease progression or an increase in AEs.¹⁷¹

Further to providing benefits at the contracting stage, ongoing supply and usage monitoring can be a policy to manage sudden shortages of medicines. This is the case for the Netherlands, where suppliers need to provide weekly updates on biosimilar availability status, or have delivery information available on their own webpage.¹⁷² Additionally, further measures are taken in the UK: if a manufacturer fails to supply in line with its tender, the corresponding authority will compensate the shortage with other competitors, adding extra pressure on the first's supply chain.¹⁷³ Increased visibility into usage of biosimilars, uptake following contracting and projections on long-term demand can help biosimilar manufacturers to scale up or scale down their supply chain as appropriate.

Cons: No negative effects on long-term sustainability for biosimilars have been identified.

**Sustainability evaluation:** Transparency in both supply (from manufacturer side) and usage (from healthcare system side) ensures a high level of predictability for all stakeholders and minimises the risk of sudden supply shortages as it can allow countries to foresee any upcoming issue and provide timely

solutions. This can also support sustainable levels of competition, if additional manufacturers can be selected to support with the supply of their products to compensate for any foreseen shortages.

# 4 – Cross-country sustainability assessment

In order to obtain an overview of the current biosimilar policy environment, this chapter provides a comparison of the sustainability ratings (**Table 21**) for each policy area across the range of countries included in the scope of this project. A rationale for each rating has been included to highlight the common themes across countries with the same rating, including the key points for improvement that could drive a more sustainable long-term environment for biosimilars. This cross-country comparison allows for identification of those policy areas with the most room for improvement and also the countries where the current biosimilar policy is unlikely to be conducive to long-term sustainability (**Table 22**).

Individual country assessments and ratings are explained in more detail in specific country landscape and sustainability assessment documents also generated as part of this research.^v The ratings have been informed by secondary research and subsequent discussions with biosimilar policy experts from each country.

#### Table 21: Sustainability rating scale

****	The policy area is considered to be sustainable for all stakeholders.
★★★★☆	Some <b>minor areas</b> for improvement were identified to result in a fully sustainable environment; however, no unsustainable policies impact the area.
★★★☆☆	Some <b>major areas</b> for improvement were identified to result in a fully sustainable environment; however, no unsustainable policies impact the area.
★★☆☆☆	There are sustainable policies in place which are being negated by the <b>presence of unsustainable policies</b> in the same/different policy area.
*****	The (lack of) policies in place are considered to <b>actively contribute to an unsustainable policy environment</b> for the majority of stakeholders.

Source: CRA analysis

^V Charles River Associates (2022). "Biosimilars: A global roadmap for policy sustainability". Available at https://www.biosimilarsroadmap.com.

	Policy Area	₩. AUS	BEL	SRA	CAN	FRA	DEU	GBR	ITA	• JPN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	© ESP	CHE	UAE	USA
ł	Manufacturing and R&D		$\star$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\star$	$\star$	$\star$	$\star$	$\bigstar$	$\checkmark$	$\star$	$\star$	$\bigstar$	$\star$	$\star$	$\star$	$\bigstar$
×	Regulatory approval	$\langle $	$\bigwedge$	$\bigwedge$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\bigstar$		$\overrightarrow{}$		$\checkmark$			$\bigwedge$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	
Ð	Health technology assessment		$\bigstar$	Priv. & Pub. Pub. HC	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\star$	$\star$	$\star$	$\star$	$\star$	$\star$	$\star$	$\star$	$\star$	$\star$	$\star$	$\star$
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	Pricing and reimbursement	$\checkmark$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	Pub. Priv.	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$		$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	Inp. Out.	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\checkmark$	Pub. Com.
and a start	Contracting	$\sum_{i=1}^{n}$	Inp. Out.	Pub. Priv.	Pub. Priv.		$\bigwedge$	$\checkmark$		N/A	$\bigstar$	Inp. Out.	Inp. Out.	$\bigstar$	Inp. Out.		$\checkmark$	Pub. Com.
	Biosimilar education and understanding	$\checkmark$		$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\checkmark$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\star$	$\bigstar$		$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	
	Prescribing	$\langle \chi$	Inp. Out.	$\bigstar$	Pub. Priv.			$\bigstar$	$\checkmark$	Inp. Out.	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\star$	$\bigstar$	$\bigwedge$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	Pub. Out.
	Dispensing	$\swarrow$		$\checkmark$		$\star$	$\bigwedge$	$\checkmark$	$\bigwedge$	$\bigstar$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\mathbf{X}$	N/A	Inp. Out.	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	Pub. Com.
~~	Monitoring	$\swarrow$		$\bigstar$		$\bigwedge$				$\bigstar$	$\checkmark$		$\bigwedge$	$\bigstar$		$\star$		
*	The policy area is considered to be sustainable for all stakeholders		Some minc were iden sustainable ( unsustainabl	or areas for atified to res environmen e policies ir	improvemen ult in a fully t; however, i npact the ar	no ea	Some ma were ide sustainable unsustaina	ijor areas fo entified to re e environme ble policies	r improvem esult in a ful ent; howeve impact the	ent ly r, no area	There a whic presen the	re sustainal ch are being ce of unsus same/differ	ble policies i negated by tainable poli ent policy a	in place the icies in rea	Th consi unsus	e (lack of) p idered to ac tainable pol majority c	oolicies in p tively contri icy environi of stakehold	lace are ibute to an ment for the lers

# Table 22: Sustainability ratings across countries in scope for each policy area

Note: Further rating detail can be found in Table 21. Com. - Commercial plans; HC. - High-cost biosimilars; Inp. - Inpatient; Out. - Outpatient; Pub. - Public sector; Priv. - Private sector

# 4.1. Manufacturing and R&D

Manufacturing and R&D policies are sustainable in the majority of the countries; however, there is some variation across countries and there are some specific challenges in Japan, the US and Brazil (**Table 23**).

Table 23: Sustainability of manufacturing and R&D policies across countries

	1		Manufacturing and R&D Cross-country comparison of policy sustainability													
XUS	BEL	SRA	CAN	FRA	DEU	GBR	ITA	JPN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	s ESP	CHE	UAE	USA
	$\star \star \star \star \star$	$\swarrow \swarrow \checkmark \bigstar \bigstar$	$\bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar$	****	****	****	*****	$\bigstar \bigstar \diamondsuit \diamondsuit \bigstar$		****	★★★★★		****	****	****	なななメ

Source: CRA analysis

*** ** - Manufacturing standards for biosimilars are the same as for the originator and therefore product quality is maintained through clear guidance. Further, to accelerate access to biosimilars, some regulators provide manufacturing exemption waivers to biosimilars that allow for manufacturing prior to originator LoE. This facilitates efficient supply at launch while still observing the full exclusivity period of the originator product. For example, European legislation allows for the efficient production of biosimilars, limiting delays to market launch.

 $\star \star \star \star \star \star \star$  – Biosimilars are held to the same manufacturing standards as originator products, and therefore quality is maintained. However, manufacturing can only begin after originator LoE, which can result in slower access to the country and delay in the benefits realised by biosimilar entry. For example, there are no manufacturing exemption waivers currently in place in Mexico that allow for biosimilars to be manufactured prior to originator LoE. However, the recent modification of the Federal Law of Industrial Property Protection has strengthened the rules for extension of patents to avoid granting of second patents without a justified reason.

 $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\sim$   $\sim$  - There is room for improvement in the regulation around safety in manufacturing of biosimilars. Moreover, transparency in the regulations governing manufacturing practices could be improved. For example, in Brazil the limited amount of transparency behind Productive Development Partnerships (PDP) contracts has led to some premature cancelation of partnerships without clear justification, leading to the loss of large amounts of invested money.

 $\star \star \star \star \star \star \star \star \star$  – Regulations allowing for loopholes regarding originator patenting can increase barriers to entry for biosimilars, for instance through extension of originator patents or implementation of secondary patents. For example, in Japan, patenting of innovative biologics per individual indications can further burden biosimilars' entry in the country. Similarly, the existing patenting environment in the US can impede biosimilar entry where reference product manufacturers erect 'patent thickets' around biologics.

 $\star$   $\stackrel{\sim}{\sim}$   $\stackrel{\sim}{\sim}$   $\stackrel{\sim}{\sim}$   $\stackrel{\sim}{\sim}$  – No countries have been found to fall within this category. However, this would be a potential scenario where biosimilars are not subjected to the same manufacturing standards as originators, increasing risks to safety and quality associated with biosimilars.

# 4.2. Regulatory approval

Regulatory approval policies are sustainable in the majority of the countries; however, there are some specific challenges in Mexico (**Table 24**).

					Cros	s-cour	Re ntry co	<b>gulat</b> o mpar	ory ap ison c	oprov of polic	<b>al</b> cy sus	tainat	oility			
₩. AUS	BEL	📀 BRA	CAN	FRA	DEU	GBR	ITA	<b>J</b> PN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	se s	CHE	UAE	USA
						****	$\bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar$		*****			$\bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar$			$\bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar$	$\Diamond \land \land \land \land \land \land$

Table 24: Sustainability of regulatory approval policies across countries

Source: CRA analysis

 $\star \star \star \star \star \star \star$  – Regulatory assessment for biosimilars is accelerated and adjusted to the latest scientific consensus regarding the utility of clinical comparative studies, requiring comparative clinical effectiveness trials when they meaningfully add value to the submission. For example, the MHRA in the UK no longer require clinical comparability studies given latest research regarding their lack of additional value to regulatory assessments.

 $\star \star \star \star \star \star \star \star$  – Streamlined regulatory assessments are used to prove biocomparability to an originator although both non-clinical and clinical studies are still required. Though these procedures are faster than the requirements for innovative biologics, further acceleration of assessments (e.g. through exclusion of clinical comparative assays where relevant) result in faster biosimilar approval without compromising quality or safety. For example, European countries following EMA's guidelines are subjected to such streamlined processes. Other countries like Canada, Australia or Switzerland created their guidelines for biosimilars approval with a strong influence from the EMA (although in Canada the review time of the regulatory process is the same for both originators and biologics).

 $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\sim$  – There are no streamlined evidence requirements but there are policies in place that encourage more accelerated assessments. For example, in the UAE manufacturers can submit for regulatory approval 2 years prior to originator LoE to facilitate efficient access at launch.

 $\star \star \star \div \star \star \star \to -$  Streamlined regulatory assessments are used to prove biocomparability to an originator via non-clinical and clinical studies. However, the existence of other unsustainable regulatory policies finally results in disadvantages for biosimilars. For example, in Mexico policies initially thought to incentivise biosimilar international import have resulted in an unfair delayed revision process for national manufacturers.

 $\star$   $\stackrel{\sim}{\sim}$   $\stackrel{\sim}{\sim}$   $\stackrel{\sim}{\sim}$   $\stackrel{\sim}{\sim}$  – No countries have been found to fall within this category. However, this would be a potential scenario where there is no distinction between innovative biologics and biosimilars in terms of the requirements for their approval, which leads to unnecessary assessments for biosimilars, delaying their access.

# 4.3. Health technology assessment

HTA policies are sustainable in the majority of the countries; however, there are some specific challenges in Belgium, Canada and France (**Table 25**).

Table 25:	Sustainability	of HTA polic	cies across	countries
-----------	----------------	--------------	-------------	-----------

<u>(</u> )	2				Cross	Hea -count	l <b>th te</b> try coi	<b>chno</b> l mpari:	l <b>ogy</b> a son of	sses: policy	sment / susta	t ainabi	lity			
<mark>≭</mark> AUS	BEL	SRA	CAN	FRA	DEU	GBR	ITA	JPN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	ESP	CHE	UAE	USA
		Priv & Pulb Pub ★ ☆ ☆ ☆ ★ ☆	* * * *	★★☆☆☆	****	$\star \star \star \star \star \star$	$\star \star \star \star \star$	*****	$\star \star \star \star \star$	****	****	****	$\star$	****	****	*****

**Pub.** – Public sector; **Priv.** – Private sector; **HC.** – High-cost biosimilars Source: CRA analysis

★★★★★ – HTA is not required for biosimilars, provided the indications included in their label are the same as their originators' and therefore have been already assessed. When HTA is used, it does not delay access and is used to inform healthcare systems regarding the organisational impact and economic value of biosimilars. No HTA requirements to determine access are regarded as a means for accelerating biosimilars' entry in the healthcare system, thus avoiding unnecessary bureaucracy with no added value. For example, most of the countries in the EU (except France and Belgium) do not require HTA for biosimilars.

 $\star \star \star \star \star \star \star$  – Though HTA procedures are still required, they are streamlined, therefore potentially resulting in accelerated biosimilar entry and/or they are used to assign uptake drivers (such as interchangeability statuses) to biosimilar products. For example, in Australia streamlining of such procedures can sometimes exclude pharmaco-economic evaluations.

 $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\sim$  – Certain evaluation is required for biosimilars in order to grant reimbursement and inclusion in the system. Although there is intention to streamline assessments versus the process for innovative biologics, they still result in an additional burden for biosimilars to gain entry to some or all of the country. For example, in France biosimilars are granted a 'non-clinical improvement rating' compared to the originator, but they are still required to go through HTA revision, leading to unnecessary patient access delays.

 $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$  – Specific rules are applied distinctively depending on the type of biosimilar, resulting in unequal disadvantages for access. For example, high-cost biosimilars in Brazil need to undergo an extra step of economic evaluation and are contracted through centralised alternative procedures, finally resulting in poorer access of patients to these treatments.

 $\star$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\sim$   $\sim$   $\sim$  - No countries have been found to fall within this category. However, this would be a potential scenario where HTA requirements for biosimilars are the same as for originators, resulting in unnecessary delay to the country.

# 4.4. Pricing and reimbursement

The level of sustainability provided by pricing and reimbursement policies varies across countries, with Brazil, Mexico and the UAE facing the biggest challenges (**Table 26**).

Table 26: Sustainabilit	/ of	pricing	and	reimbursement	policies	across	countries
		P					

- × -		Pricing and reimbursement Cross-country comparison of policy sustainability														
¥€ AUS	BEL	SRA	CAN	FRA	DEU	GBR	ITA	JPN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	s ESP	CHE	UAE	USA
な な な **	* * * * *	*****	Pub     Priv $\bigstar$ $\bigstar$ $\bigstar$ $\bigstar$ $\bigstar$ $\bigstar$	${\star}{\star}{\star}{\star}{\star}{\star}{\star}$	****		☆☆☆☆☆	${\star}{\star}{\star}{\star}{\star}{\star}$	*******		Inp. Out. $\bigstar \diamondsuit$ $\bigstar \diamondsuit$ $\bigstar \diamondsuit$ $\bigstar \diamondsuit$	${\star}{\star}{\star}{\star}{\star}{\star}{\star}$	* * ~ ~ ~	★ ★ ☆ ☆	* ☆ ☆ ☆ ☆	Pub Com ★ ★ ☆ ☆ ☆ ☆ ☆ ☆

Source: CRA analysis

★★★★★ – A transparent automatic reimbursement system ensures good predictability for the stakeholders involved. Moreover, price setting at launch is primarily influenced by country dynamics, providing a fair competitive environment without mandating arbitrary discounts at launch. For example, in Germany, the creation of pricing reference groups ensures fair competition without directly affecting originators, and binding of biosimilars' automatic reimbursement to EMA's authorisation safeguards transparency and predictability.

 $\star \star \star \star \star \star \star \star$  – Automatic reimbursement is accepted for biosimilars, provided they undergo specific mandatory discounts. However, these pricing requirements account for volumes, competition and manufacturer's profit levels, supporting business predictability and still maintaining the potential for subsequent net price competition without driving unsustainable levels of price reduction. For example, in Canada's public sector, pCPA negotiates mandatory biosimilar list-price reductions and incremental confidential rebates accounting for the different context for different biosimilars (e.g. molecule complexity, number of competitors, market share, etc.).

 $\star \star \star \star \star \star \star \star \star$  – Reimbursement of biologics is often limited, and mandatory price discounts are required for biosimilars and/or originators. Such discounts are imposed by the authorities without guarantee on volume, maximum allowed discount, or potential further price decrease through subsequent tendering procedures. This decreases predictability for the involved stakeholders and reduces fair competition baseline between biosimilars and their originators. For example, mandated discounts for biosimilars apply in Japan, Switzerland, and KSA. Moreover, originators are also required to lower their prices in the KSA.

 $\star \star \star \star \star \star \star \star$  – Reimbursement of biosimilars is limited and/or pricing systems subject biosimilars to significant and frequent revisions that can lead to further discounts in short periods of time after launch. Moreover, in some markets the implementation of list-price discounts does not account for subsequent price reductions from tendering practices. This can increase the risk of reaching unsustainable levels of price reduction in the short term and decrease the viability and predictability of the market for manufacturers. For example, in Spain biosimilar prices are re-negotiated on an annual basis, and the application of further discounts through tendering practices has exacerbated biosimilar price reductions. In Australia biosimilar price benchmarks are reduced every five years due to progressive originator discounts and the price disclosure system.
$\bigstar$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\sim$   $\sim$   $\sim$  - Biosimilar pricing is not differentiated from the approach taken with generic small molecules, resulting in significant price reductions and reduced viability for manufacturers to remain in the country. For example, in Brazil both biosimilars and generics are regarded as molecules to "increase market concurrence", which has led biosimilars to undergo discounts even up to 88%.

## 4.5. Contracting

Contracting policies vary across countries, therefore showing some variation in sustainability. Mexico and Saudi Arabia face the biggest challenges in this area (**Table 27**).

Contracting 2230) * • ٠ -----+ **1** AUS FRA* DEU* GBR SAU ESP CHE USA BEL BRA CAN ITA JPN MEX NLD NOR UAE  $\bigstar$  $\overleftarrow{}$  $\bigstar$  $\propto \propto$ ☆ ☆  $\sum$  $\overleftrightarrow$  $\checkmark$  $\bigstar$  $\overleftrightarrow$ ☆  $\overleftrightarrow$  $\overset{\wedge}{\bigtriangledown}$  $\bigstar$  $\bigstar$  $\bigstar$  $\bigstar$ ☆ ☆  $\bigstar$  $\stackrel{\frown}{\sim}$  $\stackrel{\frown}{\propto}$  $\mathbf{x}$ ☆ ☆ \$  $\stackrel{\frown}{\simeq}$ 公  $\overleftrightarrow$  $\stackrel{\frown}{\simeq}$  $\overrightarrow{\sim}$  $\bigstar$  $\bigstar$  $\overleftrightarrow$  $\stackrel{\frown}{\propto}$ N/A ☆ ☆  $\overset{\frown}{\Delta}$ ☆  $\bigstar$ \$ 2 **  $\overset{\frown}{\Box}$  $\overleftrightarrow$  $\overset{\wedge}{\bowtie}$ ☆ ☆  $\overset{\frown}{\Box}$  $\overset{\wedge}{\bigtriangledown}$  $\overset{\wedge}{\boxtimes}$  $\overleftrightarrow$ 公  $\overset{}{\leftrightarrow}$ \$  $\overset{\frown}{\Box}$  $\bigstar$  $\overset{\frown}{\Box}$  $\overset{\frown}{\Box}$  $\overleftrightarrow$  $\overset{\frown}{\Box}$ ☆  $\overset{\frown}{\Box}$ ☆ ☆ ☆☆

Table 27: Sustainability of contracting policies across countries

Public sector; Priv. – Private sector; Com. – Commercial plans; Inp. – Inpatient; Out. – Outpatient
 * Rating potentially subject to change upon implementation of upcoming substitution policies
 Source: CRA analysis

- Contracting procedures fulfil five essential requirements to support sustainability: supply, fair price levels, predictability, multidisciplinary input, and enforcement of the regulations. Policies ensure healthy levels of supply shared between various providers to avoid shortages. Moreover, price does not govern the decision-making of contracts, with more elements being considered during tender/contracts award decision-making (e.g. ability to supply, value added services, local manufacture when applicable). Contracts' length provides a predictable environment for suppliers, avoiding unexpected reopening, and contracting decisions receive input from all stakeholders as a multidisciplinary team, also considering HCPs and pharmacists, therefore resulting in best outcomes for the patients. Finally, all the previous requirements are clearly established in law and thoroughly monitored. *In Canada, direct negotiation at a provincial level with individual providers ensures that multiple biosimilars have market share across the country. Provinces use their own methodologies for negotiating contracts, incorporating considerations of biosimilar value.* 

 $\star \star \star \star \star \star \star$  – Sustainable criteria are in place for contracting procedures: they ensure healthy levels of supply between multiple suppliers within a country (either through multiple/varied direct contracts or multi-winner tenders), and product attributes beyond price are considered, as well as input from multiple stakeholders. However, poor monitoring and enforcement of these regulations results in contracting practices still applying unsustainable criteria. For example, the national budgetary law in Italy specifically sets the grounds for sustainable criteria to be applied at tenders, but regional authorities stick to old practices and avoid the current regulation.

 $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\sim$   $\sim$  – The process followed for contract awarding combines both sustainable and unsustainable criteria, with only part of the requirements described above fulfilled. For example, in Australia single winner contracts risk supply shortages. In Spain, tenders for outpatient biosimilars consider price as the main requirement for awarding, driving excessive price reduction.

 $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$  – The combination of unsustainable contracting requirements and list-pricing policies promotes issues with supply shortages and/or unsustainable levels of price reduction through tendering. Moreover, input from different stakeholders is not accounted for, in such contracting decisions. For example, exclusionary contracts are allowed in the US, which increase likelihood of supply shortages.

 $\bigstar$   $\bigtriangleup$   $\backsim$   $\backsim$   $\backsim$   $\sim$   $\backsim$  Requirements for sustainable contracting practices are highly disregarded. Moreover, the lack of (consistent) policies in place results in regional disparities in access to biosimilar products and can increase the risk for exclusionary contracts. There is also a lack of competition and / or there are frequent price revisions (e.g. through reopening of contracts). For example, recent detachment from previous contracting systems thought inefficient in Mexico has led to a currently uncertain environment where no robust regulation is in place nor applied.

## 4.6. Biosimilar education and understanding

Biosimilar education and understanding policies are sustainable in the majority of the countries, with Brazil, Japan and Mexico facing the greatest challenges (**Table 28**).

1	́_ ≛≛	Biosimilar education and understanding Cross-country comparison of policy sustainability														
₩. AUS	BEL	SRA	CAN	FRA	DEU	GBR	ITA	JPN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	se s	CHE	UAE	USA
$\mathbf{X}$	$\star$	$\star$		$\overleftrightarrow$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\star$	$\star$	$\star$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\star$	$\bigstar$	$\star$	$\bigstar$	
	$\overleftrightarrow$	☆	$\stackrel{\wedge}{\simeq}$		$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	☆	$\stackrel{\wedge}{\bowtie}$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\overleftrightarrow$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$
	$\overleftrightarrow$	☆	$\overleftrightarrow$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	☆	$\overrightarrow{\mathbf{x}}$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	☆	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\stackrel{\wedge}{\sim}$
☆	☆	☆	$\overleftrightarrow$	$\overleftrightarrow$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	☆	$\overrightarrow{\mathbf{x}}$	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	☆	☆	☆	☆	$\overleftrightarrow$
☆	☆	☆	☆	☆	★	$\bigstar$	$\bigstar$	☆	☆	$\bigstar$	★	☆	☆	☆	☆	\$

Table 28: Sustainability of biosimilar education and understanding policies across countries

Source: CRA analysis

★★★★ - Educational programs target key stakeholders and are effective in reaching target audiences via different communication channels, contributing to an overall good understanding and resulting in good uptake of biosimilars. While there is always a need to continue education, misconceptions among patients, physicians, pharmacists and policymakers are minimal. For example, educational campaigns in the Netherlands are organised periodically and delivered through different channels, therefore ensuring efficient targeting of the population.

 $\star \star \star \star \star \star \star$  – Educational programs are in place and developed in a consistent repetitive manner, therefore respondent to evolving challenges. However, there is still room for improvement to efficiently target groups of stakeholders and make the most of educational efforts in place. For example, the use of more varied channels for educational programs has been proposed in Canada (e.g. online resources, media, congresses) to gain better coverage.

 $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\sim$  - Educational campaigns are in place, but rather sporadically without continued efforts. This has led to insufficient levels of education, resulting in certain misconceptions among stakeholders. For example, more frequent and repeated educational campaigns have been suggested in Belgium as a method to improve uptake.

 $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$  - Sporadic and/or limited educational efforts have been further worsened due to limited input from national authorities, which means that there is a higher degree of misconceptions and mistrust of biosimilars across key stakeholders. For example, in the UAE education around biosimilars is limited given the lack of continued efforts from the government to promote these.

 $\bigstar$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\sim$   $\sim$   $\sim$  - No educational support from national authorities or governments and messaging only from innovator or biosimilar manufacturers results in limited uptake. Furthermore, previous misinformation or bad experiences with biosimilars results in persistent lack of trust among some or all stakeholders. For instance, quality issues with intended copies launched in Mexico resulted in physicians' mistrust in the quality of biosimilars. This was furthered by innovator manufacturers who gave out information to bias the perception of physicians and regulatory authorities against using any biosimilar regardless of its quality.

## 4.7. Prescribing

Prescribing policies still show a slight room for improvement in most countries, with differences applying between the public and private sector, and the inpatient and outpatient setting (**Table 29**).

Ę			Prescribing Cross-country comparison of policy sustainability													
¥ AUS	BEL	📀 BRA	CAN	FRA*	DEU*	GBR	ITA	JPN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	s ESP	CHE	UAE	USA
	Inp.     Out.       ★     ★       ★     ★       ★     ★       ★     ★       ★     ★	$ \Leftrightarrow \Leftrightarrow \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar $	Pub.     Priv       ★     ★       ★     ★       ★     ★       ★     ★			*****		Imp     Out       ★ ★ ☆     ☆       ★ ★ ☆     ☆			****	* * * * *	$\bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar$	☆☆☆☆☆		

Table 29: Sustainability of prescribing policies across countries

**Pub.** – Public sector; **Priv.** – Private sector; **Com.** – Commercial plans; **Inp.** – Inpatient setting; **Out.** – Outpatient setting *Rating in DEU and FRA likely to be different upon implementation of proposed legislation regarding automatic substitution Source: CRA analysis

★★★★ – Prescribing of biosimilars is encouraged through clinical recommendations, and additional incentives are in place where required (e.g. quotas, gain-sharing, indirect incentives). Moreover, biosimilar prescription considers multidisciplinary perspectives with a role for pharmacists, budget holders and patients as well as prescribing physicians to ensure maximum value for all parts of the healthcare system. For example, in Norway physicians can provide their input on contracting decisions for biosimilars, therefore avoiding a reduction in their prescribing options.

 $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\sim$  – Physicians retain prescribing autonomy either completely or within certain limits (e.g. formularies with two or more options), and biosimilar uptake is good due to implementation of policies encouraging uptake (e.g. incentives, recommendations, quotas). However, there is room for

improvement in other fields – with regards to either multidisciplinary input or the implementation of additional uptake drivers to support biosimilar uptake (e.g. incentives, gain sharing, quotas). For example, recommended quotas and incentives in France could be supplemented with better clinical recommendations and guidance for HCPs. Conversely, recommendation of biosimilars and their inclusion into Australian clinical guidelines could be further improved through financial incentives.

 $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\sim$  - Lower uptake rates for biosimilars due to either the implementation of policies that reduce physicians' autonomy to prescribe, or the lack of policies targeting physicians to motivate their prescription in addition to limited multidisciplinary input. For example, in Spain reimbursed biosimilars are decided on the contracting level (e.g. via tenders), generally without input from physicians, and thus treatment options are decreased.

 $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$  – Biosimilar prescription among physicians is not outstanding and their low uptake is further worsened by other legislation that can undermine the long-term sustainability in previous/subsequent policy areas. For example, the absence of prescription quotas for physicians in Switzerland, combined with a margin system disincentivising pharmacists, results in overall low uptake. Similarly, unfair co-payment mechanisms for outpatient lower-cost biosimilars in Japan disadvantages their use.

 $\star$   $\sim$   $\sim$   $\sim$   $\sim$   $\sim$  – No countries have been found to fall within this category. However, this would be a potential scenario where there is low uptake of biosimilars due to policies in place that discourage their use or penalties for physicians who do not meet prescribing quotas.

## 4.8. Dispensing

Dispensing policies show margin for improvement in most countries, with Japan, Germany, Switzerland, and the UAE facing the biggest challenges (**Table 30**).

<b>3</b> 4	ھم ھ		Dispensing Cross-country comparison of policy sustainability													
aus	BEL	SRA	<b>CAN</b>	FRA*	DEU*	GBR	ITA	JPN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	SP	CHE	UAE	USA
				****		☆☆☆☆☆☆		$\checkmark \Leftrightarrow \Leftrightarrow \Leftrightarrow \Leftrightarrow \bigstar$			$\bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar$	N⁄A	$\begin{array}{c c} Inp. & Out. \\ & \bigstar & \bigstar & \bigstar \\ & \bigstar & \bigstar & \bigstar \\ & \bigstar & \bigstar &$		*****	

Table 30: Sustainability of dispensing policies across countries

* Rating potentially subject to change upon implementation of upcoming substitution policies Source: CRA analysis

★★★★★ – Dispensing policies in place do not undermine physicians' autonomy but instead promote shared decision-making between them and pharmacists. Further, policies ensure that these stakeholders are fairly incentivised (i.e. to the same extent) to use biosimilars. Where substitution policies are in place, there are clear requirements to inform prescribing physicians, which are adhered to and not often opposed unless detailed clinical rationale is provided. Moreover, substitution policies do not interfere with robust tracing systems used for safety monitoring. Where relevant, patients also

realise benefits from being treated with a biosimilar through reduced patient co-payments. For example, in France current regulations ensure constant communication between pharmacists and HCPs to drive the best decision for patients.

 $\star \star \star \star \star \star \star$  – Policies are in place to ensure that dispensation of biosimilars vs. originator does not penalise the pharmacist (e.g. through lower margins). Moreover, pharmacists can receive incentives from biosimilars dispensing. However, more multidisciplinary decision-making and communication between all parties involved could increase transparency and allow for the best patient outcomes. For example, in both the UK and the Netherlands clawback systems are implemented to provide incentives to pharmacists dispensing biosimilars.

 $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\sim$  – Certain inconsistency on dispensing mechanisms can result in unequal patient access to biosimilar treatments, depending on practice setting or region/province. For example, contracting procedures in Australia might result in different drug procurement between community and hospital pharmacies, limiting patients' choices across settings.

 $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$  – Regulation currently in place does not promote substitution, but common practices among pharmacists can result in continuous switching and reduce monitoring. For example, pharmacists in Brazil and Mexico can substitute patient's treatment based on their stock availability instead of a medical-based decision, decreasing system transparency.

 $\bigstar$   $\overleftrightarrow$   $\overleftrightarrow$   $\overleftrightarrow$   $\overleftrightarrow$   $\sim$   $\sim$  - Policies have resulted in limited uptake of biosimilars, sometimes incentivising originators' dispensing and reducing incentives to prescribe lower cost biologics (e.g. biosimilars). Furthermore, unclear substitution policies can provide an unpredictable environment, impeding proper traceability. For example, dispensing policies in Japan result in higher co-payments in the long term for patients using biosimilars. In the UAE, originators' use is promoted through allowed indirect bonuses from their manufacturers to pharmacists.

## 4.9. Monitoring

Monitoring policies are sustainable in the majority of the countries; however, there is much room for improvement in Brazil and Mexico (**Table 31**).

~	5 -	Monitoring Cross-country comparison of policy sustainability														
<mark>Ж</mark> AUS	BEL	SRA	+ CAN	FRA	DEU	GBR	ITA	<b>J</b> PN	MEX	NLD	NOR	SAU	esp	CHE	UAE	USA
	$\bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar$	なななす	$\bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar$	$\bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar$	$\bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar$		$\bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar$	****	☆☆☆☆☆	$\bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar$	$\bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar$	****	$\bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar \bigstar$	****	*****	****

Table 31: Sustainability of monitoring policies across countries

Source: CRA analysis

★★★★★ – Biosimilars and originators are required to follow the same rigorous pharmacovigilance requirements and provide risk management plans to the same standards, which allows for accurate and transparent tracing of adverse events. Further to this, biosimilars are distinguished from originators in their INN (i.e. using a suffix in regulatory documents) that allows for full transparency during the monitoring process. For example, the US FDA has adopted a unique naming approach for all biosimilars in the US, which involves the addition of a unique four-letter suffix at the end of each biologic's international non-proprietary name (INN).

★★★☆☆ – Biosimilars and originators are required to follow the same rigorous pharmacovigilance requirements and provide risk management plans to the same standards. Improved or simpler protocols implemented at the national/sub-national level could improve efficiency and transparency in monitoring systems, particularly in the outpatient setting. Alternatively, better regulation or enforcement of reporting by physicians would improve results of robust pharmacovigilance requirements in place. Finally, INN-based differentiation between originators and biosimilars is not observed. For example, in Europe, despite the EMA's pharmacovigilance guidelines, there could be improved systems at the prescribing and pharmacy levels, where treatment switches are made. In Australia, improved traceability of batch-dependent differences would improve risk management plans.

 $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\bigstar$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\sim$  - No countries have been found to fall within this category. However, this would be a potential scenario where risk management plans are in place, but there is lack of transparency in nomenclature of products, limiting the differentiation between biosimilars and originators and the AEs raised by each.

 $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$   $\star$  – There are measures in place to facilitate monitoring of biosimilars, but an overall weak pharmacovigilance system, with unclear practices for physicians, can limit AE reporting. For example, in the UAE pharmacovigilance needs to be improved, given that adverse events are not always communicated to manufacturers.

 $\bigstar$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\checkmark$   $\sim$   $\sim$  - Transparency is undermined by unclear pharmacovigilance monitoring systems, or the effectiveness of these is reduced as a result of substitution practices at the pharmacy level that do not require notification of the physician, change of the prescription in paper or electronic systems, or INN prescribing. For example, vague pharmacovigilance requirements in Brazil result in low rates of AE reporting by HCPs. In Mexico, treatment substitution based on pharmacy stock availability impedes transparency in the reporting system.

These policy recommendations are intended to provide tangible and actionable recommendations for meaningful improvements to sustainability within the biosimilar sector. Where possible, recommendations have been tailored to account for broader country caveats, specific country situations and different types of biosimilars (e.g. inpatient/outpatient, rare disease (RD) and high-volume biosimilars). These outputs were reviewed offline by attendees to ensure alignment across all stakeholders and refined for the purposes of this white paper.

For each policy area, the recommendations provided following the following structure:

- Overall recommendations to ensure an ideal, long-term sustainable environment
- Recommendations for specific country situations
- Recommendations for specific-biosimilar archetypes

In the tables below, biosimilar-specific archetypes are represented with the following icons:

<b>ŧ</b> ŧŧ	High-volume products used in chronic indications	*	Oncology products	<b>F</b>	Rare disease products
-------------	--------------------------------------------------------	---	-------------------	----------	--------------------------

## 5.1. Manufacturing and R&D

Biosimilar policies should ensure the highest standard of quality but facilitate prompt market access. Importantly, the intellectual property rights (i.e. market exclusivity) of the originator should be protected, and policies should act to mitigate the risk of potential supply shortages (**Table 32**).

#### Table 32 – Key recommendations for manufacturing and R&D



	Countries with a history of supply issues								
<ul> <li>In conformed of the second seco</li></ul>	<ul> <li>In countries of sufficient scale, where there have been historical supply issues due to reliance on foreign importation, local manufacturing incentives could be considered as a potential opportunity to reduce supply shortages and boost national economies, provided competition is encouraged, and global supply chains are not interrupted.</li> <li>The biotechnological industry should leverage the benefits obtained from biosimilar use, encouraging further research and development, and contributing to the long-term increased treatment options for physicians and ultimately patients.</li> </ul>								
		Bio	similar archetypes						
	Image: N/A         Image: N/A         Image: N/A         Image: N/A         N/A								

* Manufacturing and R&D was not discussed in depth during the advisory board meetings, but takeaways and recommendations were still developed based on the input gathered from individual discussions with experts.

## 5.2. Regulatory approval

Acceleration of regulatory approval for biosimilars is critical as it ensures that patients benefit from these more cost-effective treatments at the earliest time point, while allowing payers to capture savings. Smaller agencies can derive significant benefit (e.g. improved efficiency and learnings) from referencing the decisions of larger, well-established regulatory agencies. Across biosimilar product archetypes, the need to streamline evidence requirements can vary depending on the expected population size, duration of treatment and unmet need. For instance, in the case of rare diseases, although there are small populations, the unmet need experienced by patients may warrant greater streamlining in order to support rapid market entry to alleviate the burden of disease more quickly (**Table 33**).

#### Table 33 – Key recommendations for regulatory approval



Ass age tec	Assessments and real-world evidence (e.g. from registries) should be shared between regulatory agencies, increasing transparency, ultimately to support confidence in new medicines and technologies.										
	Best practice examples										
<ul> <li>In t reg pro</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>In the UK, the MHRA no longer requires clinical comparability studies given latest research regarding their lack of additional value to regulatory assessments, streamlining the assessment process.</li> </ul>										
	Country characteristics										
Larç	ge, internationa	l regulato	ory agen	cies		Sm	aller,	national	regula	itory agend	ies
<ul> <li>It is p regula estab metho order suppo manu</li> </ul>	articularly import atory agencies (e lish a precedent ods, metrics and to ensure consis ort timelier/strear facturers.	ant for lai e.g. EMA in applyir assays ir assays ir stent decis nlined sul	rge, interr and US F ng consis n assessn sion-mak bmissions	national TDA) to tent nents, in ing and s from	•	Increa regula levera abbrev regula more I Howev should nation regula contin	sed in tors co ge rele viated tory be imited ver, lev I not c al com tory st ue to e	ternation build be e evant fore procedur odies tha capacity veraging ome at the petencie tandards evolve.	al colla xplorec es, in p t have interna e expe s and e within o	boration ar d in order to aluations ir particular fo longer time tional decis ense of dev ensuring the each count	nong , , ir lines or sions eloping at ry
CA IT	Image: Second						BI	R	₩ * AU	sa	AE
	•	Biosimila	ar a	archety	pes						
<b>ŶŇŶĬ</b>	There can be perceptions (e.g. among physicians) that greater care should be taken to demonstrate safety of products indicated for longer-term use.						cted ng ter ed ents.	<b>F</b>	Acce proce orpha explo highe	lerated reg esses for R an products ored in indic est unmet n	ulatory ) / could be ations of eed.

## 5.3. Health technology assessment

HTA should not act as a barrier to biosimilar market entry and should only be conducted in a streamlined way in specific instances where it provides additional value (**Table 34**).





	For an ideal sustainable long-term biosimilar policy environment.										
For an I	In ideal sustainable long-term biosimilar policy environment:										
• Con	ventional HTA	A should be unne	cessary, given	that t	he thera	apeutic t	penefits pro	vided for bi	osimilars		
will	pe similar to th	ne originator, and	these assess	ment	process	es can b	pe consider	ed an addif	ional		
barr	ier to entry rais	sing costs and de	elaying access	6.							
	<ul> <li>In instar</li> </ul>	nces where biosi	milar HTA is c	urrent	y a forr	nality or	results in a	n automati	0		
	decisior	n, policies to prov	vide access du	ring th	at perio	od or to i	minimise ac	cess delay	should		
	be cons	sidered.									
<ul> <li>How</li> </ul>	ever, there ar	e certain scenari	os where HTA	for bi	osimilaı	rs can st	ill be neces	sary or add	l value		
for h	ealthcare syst	tems:									
	<ul> <li>When b</li> </ul>	oiosimilars launch	or expand int	o indic	ations	that are	different to	the origina	tor's		
	<ul> <li>When the</li> </ul>	he originator proc	duct has not be	een re	imburse	ed in all o	or certain ir	ndications			
	• In order to quantify the organisational and economic value of different treatment options to										
	inform subsequent formulary decisions, treatment guidelines and prescribing practices										
	(however this should not be a barrier to country entry)										
	<ul> <li>In countries where such capabilities and capacity exist, multiple technology</li> </ul>										
	as	sessments could	l be considere	d to sı	ipport tl	his					
Whe	ere HTA is con	nducted, HTA boo	dies should se	ek to s	streamli	ne and a	accelerate t	raditional p	rocesses		
to e	nsure efficient	access to biosim	nilars.								
			Best prac	tice e	xampl	es					
• The	e majority of co	ountries in the sa	mple do not re	equire	HTA fo	r biosim	ilars if they	have the s	ame label		
as	the originator;	this applies to in	-scope market	ts from	the El	J (excep	t France ar	d Belgium)	, the		
Am	ericas (except	t for Canada), the	e UAE, Saudi	Arabia	and Au	ustralia.			,		
	· ·		Country c	harad	teristi	cs					
L	imited Origin	ator Reimburse	ment		Tr	aditiona	al HTA not	Required			
• In c	ountries where	e originator biolo	gics are	٠	Where	tradition	al HTA for	all originato	or		
typi	cally not reimb	oursed, biosimila	rs will be		produc	ts is not	conducted,	there is no	need to		
mo	e frequently s	ubjected to HTA	s to evaluate		implem	ent addi	tional HTA	for biosimil	ar		
the	r benefit. HTA	bodies should s	eek		produc	ts.					
tem	porary reimbu	irsement practice	es to avoid								
acc	ess delays.										
6.											
IVIX	BR			U	5	JP	5A	AE	СП		
			Biosimila	ir arc	hetype	es					
						HTA	for rare bio	logics is mo	ore likely		
					4	to be	streamline	d, given the	;		
imin	N/A	-685-	N/A		SYAW	additi	onal challe	nges that s	mall		
πμπμ		patient populations can give to									
						deve	op a full pa	ckage of e	vidence,		
		1	develop a full package of evidence, facilitating their market entry.								

## 5.4. Pricing and reimbursement

Differentiation of biosimilar and small molecule generic pricing policy is critical to maintaining sustainable price benchmarks for biosimilars. Automatic reimbursement or streamlining of decision-making processes will support more rapid market entry and hence, earlier realisation of biosimilar value. Finally, where implemented, pricing and reimbursement policies should reflect countries' market characteristics (e.g. the level of competition) to ensure a sustainable long-term biosimilar environment (**Table 35**).

## Table 35: Key recommendations for pricing and reimbursement

	Pricing and reimbursement Key recommendations									
For an ideal Policies difference a sustain Automat German Where a efficient o Country degree t net price in ensur	<ul> <li>Policies should distinguish between biosimilars and small molecule generics, accounting for the differences between these products and the fact that typical generic policies are unlikely to result in a sustainable pricing solution for biosimilars in the long term.</li> <li>Automatic reimbursement systems which operate in a transparent manner (e.g. as seen in Germany) support more efficient country access for biosimilars.</li> <li>Where automatic reimbursement is not used, measures to streamline P&amp;R pathways and drive more efficient access to biosimilars should be considered, such as: <ul> <li>Early initiation of negotiations (e.g. as done by the pCPA in Canada)</li> <li>Acceleration of existing processes</li> </ul> </li> <li>Country characteristics (e.g. total patient volume, number of competitors or tendering) dictate the degree to which competition will work effectively and whether it will be sustainable. Ideally, sufficient net price competition will determine prices. Mandatory discounts may have a role in some countries in ensuring predictable cost savings and avoiding unsustainably excessive price reductions.</li> </ul>									
				Best prac	tice exan	nples				
In Germ     biosimila     automat	any, the ars) ens ic reimb	e creation o sures fair c oursement	of biosimila ompetition to EMA's a	ar reference without dir authorisatic	e pricing gro ectly affection safeguar	oups (whic ing origina ds transpa	ch align itors, an arency a	pricing a d binding and predic	cross of biosir ctability.	nilars'
			(	Country o	characteri	stics				
	Ма	ndatory p	rice contro	ols		I	Dynami	ic price c	ontrols	
<ul> <li>Magnitude consider d products, i manufactu population fits-all app the long te</li> <li>Policies sh levels are price revis bottom' an sustainable</li> </ul>	e of mar ifference includin uring pro size: p roach fe erm. nould co not uns ions sh id instea e, long-	idatory dis res across g typical tr ocesses, no olicies sho or biosimila onsider saf ustainable ould be mo ad policies term cost s	counts, if a therapeutic eatment du umber of c uld recogn ars may no eguards to . For exam pnitored to should loo savings.	applied, sho c areas and uration, ompetitors ise that a c t be sustain ensure dis ple, freque avoid a 'ra ok to promo	and one-size- nable in scount ency of ce to the ote a	<ul> <li>Polici count suffici captu health</li> <li>Biosir produ same and e</li> </ul>	es shou ry partic ient leve re long- ncare sy nilars au ncts can negotia equal co	Ild safegu cipants to els of com term cos vstem. nd off-pat have acc ation tacti mpetition	ard multi ensure t npetition t savings tent origin cess to th cs to ens	iple hat exist to for the nator ne sure fair
FR	AU IT	Image: CAJPDEBEImage: CAImage: CA <th< th=""></th<>								
				Biosimil	ar archety	/pes				
<b>ŧŧŧŧ</b>		N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A Smaller patient volumes and potentially fewer competitors may necessitate refinement of rare disease pricing policy to ensure a market for biosimilars is viable.								

## 5.5. Contracting

Participation of multiple suppliers in tenders drives sustainability by fostering competition and decreasing the likelihood of supply shortages. The processes and requirements for tender or contract participation should be transparent, to ensure equal opportunity, and selection criteria used should be designed to prioritise product quality and value (**Table 36**).

#### Table 36: Key recommendations for Contracting

	Contracting Key recommendations											
<ul> <li>For an ide</li> <li>Comperparticipe of the participe of the partipe of the participe of the participe of the participe of the</li></ul>	petition within a country should be preserved by ensuring and safeguarding multiple country signants: <ul> <li>Single-winner/supplier situations at the national level should be avoided.</li> <li>Where single-winner/supplier contracts operate regionally/locally, measures should be in place to ensure multiple winners/suppliers across a country at the national level.</li> <li>Ny issues and withdrawal due to unsustainable revenues should be avoided by increasing parency during contracting procedures, providing market share guarantees to individual liers over a set period of time. Both suppliers and payers should be held to these contractual ements with appropriate enforcement measures.</li> <li>sparent, equal opportunity setting must be granted for all suppliers with an appropriate and istently applied use of contract decision-making criteria, including criteria that ensure quality and a.</li> <li>Further, these considerations should contribute meaningfully to final contractual decisions.</li> </ul> Best practice examples Canada, direct negotiation at a provincial level with individual providers ensures that multiple similars have market share across the country. Provinces use their own methodology for											
negot	iating contracts, incorporating	cons	ideration	s of bio	osimila	r value	·					
Te	ndering Procedures	Country characteristics           Pring Procedures         Direct Contracting         Hybrid Countries           Direct setting         Often Outpatient Setting         Hybrid Countries										
<ul> <li>Tender a beyond p of value ability to</li> <li>Tender c and enfo adherenc future su</li> </ul>	ften inpatient setting ward criteria should extend price and consider elements (e.g. added services) and supply. criteria should be monitored rced to ensure proper ce and predictability for ppliers.	Item inpatient settingOften Outpatient SettingHybrid CountriesOften Outpatient Setting• Second-to-country biosimilars should not be excluded through the conditions/terms agreed in contracts with first-to- market products.• There should be guidance on use of tenders vs. direct contracting. Opportunities should be applied consistently through a set of clear regulations (i.e. how this applies in inpatient vs. outpatients setting or if affected by number of biosimilar										
NOR ESP	CHE GBR DEU AUS	AU AU ME	S CAN	BEL	BRA	JPN     CHE	CAN	MEX •	BRA Maintensity Salu	AUS		
		Biosi	milar a	rchety	pes		DEL	UNE	JAU			
<b>***</b>	Products used for chronic diseases with longer periods of treatment may											

lend themselves more to	oncologic disease areas	likely to be amplified
additional value	could require greater	given smaller overall
considerations during	considerations of	market share.
tendering/contracting.	additional services (e.g.	Furthermore, there
Furthermore, tendering	physicians' training)	are likely to be fewer
(especially where	during tendering/	competitors,
contracts are shorter-	contracting. Although,	simplifying
term) may be less	given the shorter	negotiations.
attractive, given the goal	treatment duration, it may	
of reducing treatment	be simpler to field tenders	
switching (e.g. between	of shorter duration.	
different routes of		
administration).		

### 5.6. Biosimilar education and understanding

A multidisciplinary approach to education is key to maximising the sustainability of a country's biosimilar environment. This applies not only to the design of educational materials but also to the targets of educational policy, as stakeholders ranging from payers to patients can all benefit. As stakeholders' experience with biosimilars increases over time, the role education plays shifts, but ultimately it is likely to support greater biosimilar usage (**Table 37**).

#### Table 37: Key recommendations for biosimilar education and understanding

1		Biosimilar education and understanding Key recommendations
Fo	r an ide	al sustainable long-term biosimilar policy environment:
•	All key	stakeholders (e.g. governments, budget holders, HCPs, pharmacists and patients) should be
	educat	ed on the value of biosimilars to avoid bottlenecks or barriers at one point in the chain.
•	Educat	tional materials should be independently developed (from a credible source) in order to support
	eviden	ce-based education.
•	Biosim	ilar advocates should work together in a multidisciplinary manner to ensure that messaging
	across	all channels is consistent and strong.
•	Educat	tion of patients can improve their involvement in treatment decision-making and overcome
	myths	around biosimilars (e.g. perception of different efficacy between intravenous (IV) and
	subcut	aneous (SC) biosimilars).
•	Educat	tional campaigns should be carried out through peer-to-peer discussions to ensure that trust is
	mainta	ined and the message reaches the target population.
	0	Pharmacists play a key role in education due to their close contact with patients and (in
		some countries) their influence over formulary decision-making/prescribing options.
	0	Educational messages led by patient organisations could have greater impact to compatient
	م . م	hisconceptions among patients.
•	AS wei	as consistent and strong messaging, some specific factics can also be used to maximise
	enecui	Following a simple 'myth-busting' approach can increase recentivity to messaging
	0	Educational campaigns must be presented through different communication chappels (e.g.
	0	online at hospitals)
	0	Messaging should be consistently repeated over a significant period of time to ensure
		durability of messaging.
		Best practice examples
•	In the	Netherlands, government-led educational campaigns are organised periodically and delivered
	throug	on different channels, therefore ensuring efficient targeting of the population.
•	Simila	rly, in the UK and Germany, educational materials capture multi-stakeholder perspectives and
	are ta	ilored to target specific groups, ensuring broad education.

					Cou	ntry	charac	teristics				
Countries with long history and good uptake with biosimilars				e Co	ountries w	ith more of b	limited h	istory and s	l uptake			
<ul> <li>Goven can great with biosition</li> <li>There laun term educed</li> </ul>	ernments a leverage pl ter biosimil physicians imilars. rapeutic are ching (e.g. real-word cate their H	and other I hysicians lar uptake in specia eas where nephrolog evidence ICPs and	biosim who ha to sha lities n e novel gy) car from c patien	ilar a ave e are ex ewer bios h leve other ts.	dvoca experie r to imilar erage exam	ates ences ences s are long- ples t	d - to	A top-down addressing that stakeh biosimilar p supportive with gover to budget h patients.	n approa miscon holders w bolicy (ar of their u homents a holders, l	ch to educ ceptions is ith the larg nd therefor use. Educa ind policyr HCPs pha	cation and critical to gest influen re uptake) ation shoul nakers, the rmacists a	ensure nce over are d start en go on nd finally
BEL		ESP AUS	GB DE	R	IT A	A	BRA MEX	CHE	JPN	💴 SAU	<b>L</b> UAE	USA
					Bio	simil	lar arch	netypes				
<b>ŤŤŤŤ</b>	Chronic p might nee switches disease, from clea from pres physician pharmaci safety an all biosim	patients, w ed several during the can benef r messagi scribing is and sts about d efficacy illars.	/ho bir it ing the of			The educ regu arou safe for n biolo onco antik	need fo cation of ulatory b und bios ety can b more cor ogics (e. ologic m bodies).	r increased f HCPs and odies imilar e amplified nplex g. onoclonal		Additic patien campa require biosim likely t origina	onal HCP- t-targeted ligns may ed for RD ilars where o be great tor loyalty	and be e there is er

## 5.7. Prescribing

The value of products (e.g. from a cost and benefit perspective) should be considered to determine the 'best value' biosimilar. A multi-stakeholder approach should be leveraged to make this consideration, but regardless of the outcome, this should not limit prescribing physicians' autonomy in making clinical treatment decisions. In some cases (e.g. where there is biosimilar miseducation), the use of (in)direct prescribing incentives may be justified to support increased use of the 'best value' product (**Table 38**).

#### Table 38: Key recommendations for prescribing

<b>u l</b>	Prescribing Key recommendations
For an ideal su	stainable long-term biosimilar policy environment:
<ul> <li>Generally, patients. Value</li> <li>including value</li> </ul>	healthcare systems should seek to encourage the use of the 'best value' biologic(s) for alue should be defined not only by price but with the consideration of other factors alue-added services and supply.
o The pro be⊧	ere is a role for budget holders, pharmacists and physicians in the decision-making cess, and decisions affecting availability/reimbursement/prescription of biologics should made based on input from all of these stakeholders.
<ul> <li>Pre mos</li> </ul>	scribing physicians should have the ultimate decision to prescribe the 'best value' and st appropriate biologic for their individual patient.
<ul> <li>○ If the biol</li> </ul>	is selection is not in line with the multidisciplinary team's evaluation of the 'best value' ogic(s) then physicians should be asked to provide a legitimate reason.

- Ultimately, decisions affecting prescription of biologics need to be informed by appropriate and effective education and understanding of the advantages of biosimilars for the healthcare system as a whole as well as for individual patients.
- Prescribing incentives, where used, should encourage use of the 'best value' and be aligned across all key stakeholders (e.g. budget holders, pharmacists and physicians).
  - Indirect incentives (e.g. gain sharing) can provide a more effective and holistic solution to ensure physicians, patients and healthcare systems more broadly all benefit from prescription of 'best value' biologics, as the efficacy of direct benefits (e.g. financial) might be compromised if transparency is not maintained.
- Prescribing by active compound (INN prescribing) can reduce originator bias by equalising perception across all biologics of the same INN (originator and biosimilar). However, the nomenclature employed must allow for a correct differentiation of molecules (e.g. batch number, unique identifiers) to keep accurate monitoring and tracing upon switching in order to maintain a sustainable pharmacovigilance system (if other provisions do not establish this already).

#### Best practice examples

 In the UK, non-mandatory prescribing quotas still serve as an incentive for healthcare professionals. Moreover, gain-sharing mechanisms implemented at some local Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) have ensured that savings driven by biosimilars are reinvested in healthcare systems, improving their perception.

#### **Country characteristics**

Good understanding of biosimilar value among key stakeholders	Less consensus of biosimilar value among key stakeholders
<ul> <li>Where there is widespread support for the use of best value biologics, the need for long-term direct incentives should be assessed; with appropriate education, healthcare systems should indirectly encourage prescription of best value products, reducing the need for formal incentives.</li> <li>Indirect incentives (e.g. gain sharing) can provide a continuous encouragement for physicians and pharmacists to realise the value in biosimilar uptake and use.</li> </ul>	• Incentives for physicians can guarantee a first push to initiate biosimilar uptake. As active and repeated educational efforts start showing results on biosimilar acceptance, these incentives can be withdrawn slowly, never abruptly. This should always account for the country context and other policies in place, and under no circumstances should incentives be turned into penalties.

<b>BEL</b>	DEU	ESP	FRA	<b>BR</b>	ITA	• JPN	SRA	+ CHE	MEX	SAU	UAE
	NOR	<mark>≭∵</mark> AUS	SRA	CAN		USA					

		Biosi	milar archetypes	-	
<b>ŤŤŤŤ</b>	Chronic patients are subject to longer treatment duration and can therefore feel more attached to their 'brand'. Policies could consider patient incentives to encourage uptake (e.g. reduced patient co- payment). Additionally, active patient education can mitigate fear of switching to biosimilars.	<b>*</b>	N/A		Biosimilar acceptance in RD patients could be promoted by involving patient advocacy groups (PAGs) in policy decision-making. Further, RD biosimilars could leverage experience generated in other countries to instil confidence over time.

## 5.8. Dispensing

Dispensing decisions should ensure that patients receive the best outcomes while the healthcare system is able to provide the best value products. Evidence-based decisions should be made based on multidisciplinary perspectives and previous experience within the therapy area. Where pharmacists receive financial dispensing incentives, it is important that these do not discriminate against biosimilars (**Table 39**).

#### Table 39: Key recommendations for dispensing



ITA	JPN	NLD	H NOR	MEX	SAU	UAE	USA	GBR
			Bios	similar arche	etypes			
<b>ŧŤŧŤ</b>	Chronic treatr be more frequ dispensed in t outpatient set therefore goo communicatic physicians an pharmacists is especially rele	nents can lently the ting, and d on between d s evant.	*	Oncology tre the inpatient require multidisciplin decisions fro variety of exp ensure optim outcomes.	atments in setting ary m a perts to nal patient		N/A	

## 5.9. Monitoring

Pharmacovigilance policies should not apply more stringent standards to biosimilars compared to originator biologics, unless there are other policies which limit the extent of biosimilar traceability. From a supply perspective, increased transparency into biosimilar supply and demand can ensure that product shortages are avoided (**Table 40**).

#### Table 40: Key recommendations for monitoring

Ŀ	~	Monitoring Key recommendations
Fo	r an id	eal sustainable long-term biosimilar policy environment:
•	Biosi	milars should be subjected to the same pharmacovigilance standards as other biologic
	medi	cines.
	C	To ensure patient safety, national pharmacovigilance systems need to be developed to
		ensure that monitoring can be conducted on a national scale.
•	Natio	nally, stakeholder-led monitoring should be encouraged, with physicians, pharmacists and
	patie	nts being empowered and educated to report AEs through a simple process.
•	Mea	sures to maximise traceability should be implemented to facilitate easy identification of brands
	and	patch numbers on prescriptions / dispensing receipts:
	C	Electronic systems to record individual patient prescriptions and the product used to fill each
		prescription
	C	Notification systems to ensure that any changes to prescription are shared with prescribing
		physicians for approval/notification
	C	Automated systems to facilitate easy identification of patients who have been dispensed
	\ <b>\/</b>  _:	medicines hagged for recail of additional safety follow-up
•	troop	a pharmacovigliance systems are being established, the following measures which can decrease
	liace	Automatic substitution at the pharmacy level
	C	Automatic substitution at the pharmacy level
	( 	dition was and events manifesting events and harded by an induction of the second during contract respectively
•	in ac	dition, usage and supply monitoring systems should be considered during contract negotiation
	and	Monufacturers and hudget helders/progurement agencies should work colleboratively to
	C	share information regarding expected supply and demand
	_	
		Best practice examples

 In KSA, the Saudi Ministry of National Guard Health Affairs (MNGHA) has proposed a naming system for biosimilars combining the commercial name and the INN of the biosimilar, to allow proper monitoring after launch of biosimilar drugs. Physicians also need to actively engage in pharmacovigilance efforts and report to the Saudi food and drug authority about any adverse events.¹⁷⁴

			Biosimilar archetypes	
<b>ŤŤŤŤ</b>	N/A	<b></b>	Robust pharmacovigilance can be more relevant for treatments which are used in acute settings, since AEs are more likely to emerge over longer chronic regimes.	Smaller patient volumes in rare diseases may necessitate greater pharmacovigilance and monitoring efforts in order to detect relevant AEs.

## 5.10. Overarching learnings

The implementation of sustainable policies is very specific to each country situation. However, across the nine therapy areas, there are some overarching learnings that can be drawn out:

- The introduction of biosimilar policy should support the goal of sustainability, ensuring crossstakeholder perspectives are captured so that optimal value can be derived from the innovation of biosimilars.
- As a country's biosimilar landscape matures over time and stakeholder experience increases, there is a need to periodically evaluate and update policies to ensure sustainability is maintained.
- Policies are less effective when implemented in isolation; hence, implementation should consider the existing policy environment and where synergies can be leveraged across policy areas.
- Similarly, policies should adapt for variations resulting from differences between biosimilar archetypes.
- Cultivation of a sustainable global biosimilar landscape requires sharing of learning and best
  practices across countries, supporting accelerated development of countries which have less
  mature biosimilar landscapes.

## Appendix 1

Table 41. Key interature sources defining sustainability for biosimilar	Table 41: Ke	y literature se	ources defining	sustainability	/ for biosimilars
-------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------	-----------------	-----------------	----------------	-------------------

Publication	Full Title	Geographic Scope	Summary of key biosimilar sustainability findings			
Vulto et al. (2020)	Sustainability of Biosimilars in Europe: A Delphi Panel Consensus with Systematic Literature Review	Europe	<ul> <li>A sustainable biosimilar market benefits all stakeholders over a long-term period.</li> <li>Failure to focus on biosimilar sustainability can adversely affect biosimilar development and lead to increased costs and fewer incentives for innovation.</li> <li>Biosimilar sustainability should benefit all stakeholders and is broadly agreed.</li> </ul>			
Pugatch Consilium (2019)	Towards a sustainable European market for off-patent biologics	Europe	<ul> <li>Policy environment across pricing, procurement and physician autonomy / patient choice is diversified but lacks long-term vision of sustainability.</li> <li>Within these areas, there is a clear roadmap for European policy to ensure sustainability.</li> </ul>			
IQVIA Institute (2018)	Advancing Biosimilar Sustainability in Europe	Europe	<ul> <li>Sustainable biosimilar policies were analysed affecting five key elements: access, regulatory / clinical guidelines / product / incentives / competitive pressure.</li> </ul>			
. ,			<ul> <li>A sustainability assessment highlights key areas at risk of failing to achieve long-term sustainability and some potential future solutions.</li> </ul>			
GfK Country Access (2014)	Factors Supporting a Sustainable European Biosimilar Medicines Country	Europe	• Four elements considered holistically can ensure a sustainable policy framework in Europe: education and understanding, experience and use, sustainable pricing and rational decision-making.			
Other sources cons	idered					
Simoens et al. (2018)	How to realize the potential of of policymakers	f-patent biologic	als and biosimilars in Europe? Guidance to			
Kumar, A. (2018)	A Common Sense Approach To Sustainability In The Biosimilar Business					
Vulto, A. et al. (2019)	Sustainable biosimilar procureme	ent in Europe: a	review of current policies and their potential impact			
Ven den Hiven, A (2017)	Biosimilar medicines: Increasing access to modern essential medicines while supporting sustainability of healthcare systems					
Medicines for Europe (2021)	Filling the Gap: How off-patent m	nedicines can im	nprove the equity and quality of cancer care			
Simoens, S. and Vulto, A. G. (2021)	A health economic guide to coun	try access of bi	osimilars			
Dutta et al. (2020)	Identifying Key Benefits in Europ Price!	ean Off-Patent	Biologics and Biosimilar Countries: It is Not Only About			
Allens & Linklaters LLP	Biologic medicines and biosimila exclusivity	rs Protecting in	novation without patents - data exclusivity and country			
Allens & Linklaters LLP	Biologic medicines and biosimila biosimilars and the challenges the	rs: Protecting in ley pose	vestment in biologic medicines – biological medicines,			

#### Biosimilars: A global roadmap for policy sustainability

Bibliography	
AAM (2021)	Roadmaps for Ensuring Patient Access to Generic and Biosimilar Medicines: Securing Sustainable Countries
Barbier et al (2021)	Off-Patent Biologicals and Biosimilars Tendering in Europe—A Proposal towards More Sustainable Practices
IGBA (2020)	Developing a Regulatory Policy Framework Supporting Biosimilar Competition: The Opportunity for Tailored Clinical Biosimilar Development
IQVIA (2020)	The Impact of Biosimilar Competition in Europe: a review of current policies and their potential impact

This report was commissioned and funded by Organon International ("Organon"). The report was authored by individual country experts and Charles River Associates ("CRA"), who received honoraria from Organon. In particular, individual country experts were engaged by Organon and were compensated based on locally approved fair market value rates. Although editorial control remained with the authors, Organon provided commentary and review throughout the development of this report.

The conclusions set forth in this report are based on independent research, publicly available material and the contributions of the contracted experts. The views expressed in this report are the views and opinions of the authors and do not necessarily reflect or represent the views of Organon, CRA, or any of the organisations with which the authors are affiliated.

Detailed information about Charles River Associates, a trade name of CRA International, Inc., is available at www.crai.com.

Copyright © 2022 Charles River Associates

#### **Bibliography**

¹ GaBI Online (2014). "Generics and Biosimilars Initiative. Biosimilars use in Europe". Available at www.gabionline.net/Reports/Biosimilars-use-in-Europe

² Amgen Biosimilars (2021). "2021 Biosimilar Trends Report". Available at <u>https://www.amgenbiosimilars.com/commitment/-/media/Themes/Amgen/amgenbiosimilars-com/Amgenbiosimilars-com/Amgenbiosimilars-com/pdf/USA-CBU-80962_Amgen-2021-Biosimilar-Trends-Report.pdf</u>

³ Health Canada. Drug Product Database online query. Available at <u>https://health-products.canada.ca/dpd-bdpp/index-eng.isp</u> (Accessed 15 February, 2022)

⁴ Arato, T. (2016). "Japanese regulation of biosimilar products: past experience and current challenges". Available at <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4917804/#:~:text=Since%20then%2C%20seven%20biosimilar%20pro</u> ducts,have%20been%20approved%20in%20Japan.

⁵ Biomapas (n.a.). "Biosimilars in the MENA Region: Regulatory Landscape". Available at <a href="https://www.biomapas.com/biosimilars-mena-regulatory-affairs/">https://www.biomapas.com/biosimilars-mena-regulatory-affairs/</a>

⁶ Global data (2022). "New Drug Approvals and Their Contract Manufacture – 2022 Edition". Available at <a href="https://pharma.globaldata.com/Analysis/TableOfContents/New-Drug-Approvals-and-Their-Contract-Manufacture----2022-Edition">https://pharma.globaldata.com/Analysis/TableOfContents/New-Drug-Approvals-and-Their-Contract-Manufacture---2022-Edition</a>

⁷ Pugatch Consilium (2019). "*Towards a sustainable European market for off-patent biologics*". Available at <a href="https://www.efpia.eu/media/412909/towards-a-sustainable-european-market-for-off-patent-biologics-pugatch-consilium.pdf">https://www.efpia.eu/media/412909/towards-a-sustainable-european-market-for-off-patent-biologics-pugatch-consilium.pdf</a>

⁸ IQVIA Institute (2018). "Advancing Biosimilar Sustainability in Europe". Available at <a href="https://www.iqvia.com/insights/the-iqvia-institute/reports/advancing-biosimilar-sustainability-in-europe">https://www.iqvia.com/insights/the-iqvia-institute/reports/advancing-biosimilar-sustainability-in-europe</a>

⁹ Vulto et al. (2020). "Susta*inability of Biosimilars in Europe: A Delphi Panel Consensus with Systematic Literature Review*". Available at <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33213079/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33213079/</a>

¹⁰ PharmaTimes. (2021). "*15 years of biosimilar access in Europe*". Available at <u>https://www.pharmatimes.com/magazine/2021/may_2021/15_years_of_biosimilar_access_in_europe#:~:text=In%20</u> Europe%2C%20biosimilars%20have%20now,growing%20biosimilar%20competition%20and%20penetration.

¹¹ Barbier, L. (2021). "Knowledge and perception of biosimilars in ambulatory care: a survey among Belgian community pharmacists and physicians". Available at <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8218462/</u>

¹² Bellodi, M., Lopez L., Schmidt, C. (2020). "Biopharmaceuticals in Brazil: a review of the regulatory process". Available at <a href="https://arquivosmedicos.fcmsantacasasp.edu.br/index.php/AMSCSP/article/view/602">https://arquivosmedicos.fcmsantacasasp.edu.br/index.php/AMSCSP/article/view/602</a>

¹³ Moorkens, E. et al. (2020). "Economic evaluation of biosimilars for reimbursement purposes – what, when, how?" Available at <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32284827/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32284827/</a>

¹⁴ Bio (n.a.). "The Trans-Pacific Partnership and Innovation in the Bioeconomy: The Need for 12 Years of Data Protection for Biologics". Available at https://www.bio.org/sites/default/files/legacy/bioorg/docs/TPP%20White%20Paper%20_2_.pdf

https://www.bio.org/sites/default/files/legacy/bioorg/docs/TPP%20White%20Paper%20_2_.pdf

¹⁵ Lybecker, K.M. (2016). "The biologics revolution in the production of drugs". Available at https://www.fraserinstitute.org/sites/default/files/biologics-revolution-in-the-production-of-drugs.pdf

¹⁶ Bressler and Dingermann. "Establishing a new marketplace for biologic therapy with biosimilar agents: importance of extrapolation of data". Biosimilars 2015:5 41–48. Available at <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/277964270">https://www.researchgate.net/publication/277964270</a> Establishing a new marketplace for biologic therapy with bi

osimilar agents importance of extrapolation of data

¹⁷ Makurvet, F.D. (2021). "*Biologics vs. small molecules: Drug costs and patient access*". Available at <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2590098620300622">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2590098620300622</a>

¹⁸ Credevo (2022). "Generics & Biosimilars: Country Trend & Regulatory". Available at <u>https://credevo.com/articles/2020/01/31/generics-and-biosimilars-country-trend-and-regulatory/</u>

¹⁹ Bio (n.a.). "The Trans-Pacific Partnership and Innovation in the Bioeconomy: The Need for 12 Years of Data Protection for Biologics". Available at

https://www.bio.org/sites/default/files/legacy/bioorg/docs/TPP%20White%20Paper%20_2_.pdf

²⁰ United Nations (2021). "Ageing populations: We are living longer lives but are we healthier?" Available at <a href="https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/sites/www.un.org/development.desa.pd/files/files/documents/2021/Sep/und">https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/sites/www.un.org/development.desa.pd/files/files/documents/2021/Sep/und</a> esa_pd_2021_technical_paper_no.2_healthy_life_expectancy.pdf

²¹ GaBI Online (2014). "Generics and Biosimilars Initiative. Biosimilars use in Europe". Available at www.gabionline.net/White papers/Biosimilars-use-in-Europe

²² Amgen Biosimilars (2021). "2021 Biosimilar Trends Report". Available at <u>https://www.amgenbiosimilars.com/commitment/-/media/Themes/Amgen/amgenbiosimilars-com/Amgenbiosimilars-com/Amgenbiosimilars-com/pdf/USA-CBU-80962_Amgen-2021-Biosimilar-Trends-White paper.pdf</u>

²³ Amgen Biosimilars (2021). "2021 Biosimilar Trends Report". Available at <u>https://www.amgenbiosimilars.com/commitment/-/media/Themes/Amgen/amgenbiosimilars-com/Amgenbiosimilars-com/pdf/USA-CBU-80962_Amgen-2021-Biosimilar-Trends-White paper.pdf</u>

²⁴ Health Canada. Drug Product Database online query. Available at <u>https://health-products.canada.ca/dpd-bdpp/index-eng.jsp</u> (Accessed 15 February, 2022)

²⁵ Arato, T. (2016). "Japanese regulation of biosimilar products: past experience and current challenges". Available at <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4917804/#:~:text=Since%20then%2C%20seven%20biosimilar%20products,have%20been%20approved%20in%20Japan</u>.

²⁶ Biomapas (n.a.). "Biosimilars in the MENA Region: Regulatory Landscape". Available at <a href="https://www.biomapas.com/biosimilars-mena-regulatory-affairs/">https://www.biomapas.com/biosimilars-mena-regulatory-affairs/</a>

²⁷ Boersma, P. et al. (2020). "*Prevalence of Multiple Chronic Conditions Among US Adults, 2018*". Available at <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0130.htm">https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0130.htm</a>

²⁸ The King's Fund (n.a.). "Long-term conditions and multi-morbidity". Available at <a href="https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-disease-and-disability-long-term-conditions-multi-morbidity">https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-differently/trends-disease-and-disability-long-term-conditions-multi-morbidity</a>

²⁹ Global Data. Data retrieved in July 2021. Available at https://www.globaldata.com/

³⁰ Global data (2022). "*New Drug Approvals and Their Contract Manufacture – 2022 Edition*". Available at <a href="https://pharma.globaldata.com/Analysis/TableOfContents/New-Drug-Approvals-and-Their-Contract-Manufacture----2022-Edition">https://pharma.globaldata.com/Analysis/TableOfContents/New-Drug-Approvals-and-Their-Contract-Manufacture---2022-Edition</a>

³¹ Simoens et al. (2018). "How to realize the potential of off-patent biologicals and biosimilars in Europe? Guidance to policymakers". Available at <u>http://gabi-journal.net/how-to-realize-the-potential-of-off-patent-biologicals-and-biosimilars-in-europe-guidance-to-policymakers.html?print</u>

³² Kumar, A. (2018). "A Common Sense Approach To Sustainability In The Biosimilar Business". Available at <a href="https://www.bioprocessonline.com/doc/a-common-sense-approach-to-sustainability-in-the-biosimilar-business-0001">https://www.bioprocessonline.com/doc/a-common-sense-approach-to-sustainability-in-the-biosimilar-business-0001</a>

³³ Vulto, A. et al. (2019). "Sustainable biosimilar procurement in Europe: a review of current policies and their potential impact". Available at <a href="https://www.valueinhealthjournal.com/article/S1098-3015(19)32538-0/pdf">https://www.valueinhealthjournal.com/article/S1098-3015(19)32538-0/pdf</a>

³⁴ Van den Hoven, A. (2017). "Biosimilar medicines: Increasing access to modern essential medicines while supporting sustainability of healthcare systems". Available at <a href="https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1741134317694414">https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1741134317694414</a>

³⁵ Medicines for Europe (n.a.). "*Filling the gap – How off-patent medicines can improve the equity and quality of cancer care*". Available at <a href="https://www.medicinesforeurope.com/docs/Filling-the-gap.pdf">https://www.medicinesforeurope.com/docs/Filling-the-gap.pdf</a>

³⁶ Simoens, S. and Vulto, A.G. (2021). "A health economic guide to country access of biosimilars". Available at <a href="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/14712598.2021.1849132?needAccess=true">https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/14712598.2021.1849132?needAccess=true</a>

³⁷ Van den Hoven, A. (2017). "Biosimilar medicines: Increasing access to modern essential medicines while supporting sustainability of healthcare systems". Available at https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1741134317694414

³⁸ Dutta, B. et al. (2020). "Identifying Key Benefits in European Off-Patent Biologics and Biosimilar Countries: It is Not Only About Price!" Available at https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31792843/

³⁹ Dutta, B. et al. (2020). "Identifying Key Benefits in European Off-Patent Biologics and Biosimilar Countries: It is Not Only About Price!". Available at <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31792843/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31792843/</a>

⁴⁰ Allens in partnership with Linklaters LLP (n.a.). "*Biologic medicines and biosimilars: Protecting innovation without patents – data exclusivity and country exclusivity*". Available at <u>https://www.allens.com.au/globalassets/pdfs/sectors-services/ip/cuip19jul16.pdf</u>

⁴¹ https://accessiblemeds.org/sites/default/files/2021-02/AAM-Sustainable-Countries-white paper.pdf

⁴² Dutta, B. et al. (2020). "Identifying Key Benefits in European Off-Patent Biologics and Biosimilar Countries: It is Not Only About Price!". Available at <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31792843/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31792843/</a>

⁴³ Barbier et al (2021). "Off-Patent Biologicals and Biosimilars Tendering in Europe—A Proposal towards More Sustainable Practices". Available

at https://europepmc.org/backend/ptpmcrender.fcgi?accid=PMC8225063&blobtype=pdf

⁴⁴ IGBA (2020). "Developing a Regulatory Policy Framework Supporting Biosimilar Competition: The Opportunity for Tailored Clinical Biosimilar Development". Available at

https://www.igbamedicines.org/doc/IGBA%20Biosimilars%20Clinical%20Trial%20Tailoring%20policy%20paper%20Sept2020%20revision02.pdf

⁴⁵ https://ec.europa.eu/health/sites/default/files/human-use/docs/biosimilar_competition_en.pdf

⁴⁶ Allens in partnership with Linklaters LLP (n.a.). "Biologic medicines and biosimilars: Protecting investment in biologic medicines – biological medicines, biosimilars and the challenges they pose". Available at https://www.allens.com.au/globalassets/pdfs/insights/healthcare/papbio15sep16.pdf

⁴⁷ Vulto, A. et al. (2019). "Sustainable biosimilar procurement in Europe: a review of current policies and their potential impact". Available at <a href="https://www.valueinhealthjournal.com/article/S1098-3015(19)32538-0/pdf">https://www.valueinhealthjournal.com/article/S1098-3015(19)32538-0/pdf</a>

⁴⁸ AAM (2021). AAM Report. "*Roadmaps for Ensuring Patient Access to Generic and Biosimilar Medicines: Securing Sustainable Markets*". Available at <u>https://accessiblemeds.org/sites/default/files/2021-02/AAM-Sustainable-Countries-white paper.pdf</u>

⁴⁹ Vulto et al. (2020). "Sustainability of Biosimilars in Europe: A Delphi Panel Consensus with Systematic Literature Review". Available at https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33213079/

⁵⁰ Pugatch Consilium (2019). "*Towards a sustainable European market for off-patent biologics*". Available at <a href="https://www.efpia.eu/media/412909/towards-a-sustainable-european-country-for-off-patent-biologics-pugatch-consilium.pdf">https://www.efpia.eu/media/412909/towards-a-sustainable-european-country-for-off-patent-biologics-pugatch-consilium.pdf</a>

⁵¹ IQVIA Institute (2018). "Advancing Biosimilar Sustainability in Europe". Available at <a href="https://www.igvia.com/insights/the-igvia-institute/white-papers/advancing-biosimilar-sustainability-in-europe">https://www.igvia.com/insights/the-igvia-institute/white-papers/advancing-biosimilar-sustainability-in-europe</a>

⁵² PharmaTimes. (2021). "*15 years of biosimilar access in Europe*". Available at <a href="https://www.pharmatimes.com/magazine/2021/may_2021/15">https://www.pharmatimes.com/magazine/2021/may_2021/15</a> years of biosimilar access in europe#:~:text=In%20</a> Europe%2C%20biosimilars%20have%20now,growing%20biosimilar%20competition%20and%20penetration.

⁵³ Barbier, L. (2021). "Knowledge and perception of biosimilars in ambulatory care: a survey among Belgian community pharmacists and physicians". Available at <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8218462/</u>

⁵⁴ Martínez, M.P. (2020). "Gobierno mexicano realizará la compra de medicamentos para 2021 vía UNOPS". Available at <u>https://www.eleconomista.com.mx/politica/Gobierno-mexicano-realizara-la-compra-demedicamentos-para-2021-via-UNOPS-20201005-0035.html</u>

⁵⁵ Biosimilar medicines. (2020) "*Market review – biosimilar medicine markets*". Available at <a href="https://www.medicinesforeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Biosimilar%20Country%20Review-Final.pdf">https://www.medicinesforeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Biosimilar%20Country%20Review-Final.pdf</a>

⁵⁶ Bellodi, M., Lopez L. and Schmidt, C. (2020). "*Biopharmaceuticals in Brazil: a review of the regulatory process*". Available at <u>https://arquivosmedicos.fcmsantacasasp.edu.br/index.php/AMSCSP/article/view/602</u>

⁵⁷ Pharma Boardroom (2018). "*Regulatory, pricing and reimbursement – Mexico*". Available at <u>https://pharmaboardroom.com/legal-articles/regulatory-pricing-and-reimbursement-mexico/</u>

⁵⁸ Pharma Boardroom (2018). "*Regulatory, pricing and reimbursement – Mexico*". Available at https://pharmaboardroom.com/legal-articles/regulatory-pricing-and-reimbursement-mexico/

⁵⁹ PharmaTimes Online (2017). "US beats EU on drug review times, approvals". Available at http://www.pharmatimes.com/news/us_beats_eu_on_drug_review_times,_approvals_1190995#:~:text=Among%20th e%20142%20therapeutic%20agents,369%20days%20for%20the%20EMA.

⁶⁰ Welch, A.R. (2017). "A deep dive into Brazil's biosimilars PDPs". Available at https://www.biosimilardevelopment.com/doc/a-deep-dive-into-brazil-s-biosimilar-pdps-0001

⁶¹ Pharma Boardroom (2018). "*Regulatory, pricing and reimbursement – Mexico*". Available at <a href="https://pharmaboardroom.com/legal-articles/regulatory-pricing-and-reimbursement-mexico/">https://pharmaboardroom.com/legal-articles/regulatory-pricing-and-reimbursement-mexico/</a>

⁶² Lexology (2020). "Change in data exclusivity for pharmaceutical products in the United Arab Emirates". Available at <a href="https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=f3ddb9d9-f84d-44b0-bfdb-1cefa611df7c">https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=f3ddb9d9-f84d-44b0-bfdb-1cefa611df7c</a>

⁶³ Medicines for Europe (n.a.). "SPC Manufacturing waiver". Available at <u>http://www.spcwaiver.com/en/</u>

⁶⁴ <u>https://www.medicinesforeurope.com/news/us-interference-unacceptable-in-eu-legislative-proposal-for-an-spc-manufacturing-waiver/</u>

⁶⁵ EFPIA (n.a.). "Legal analysis on how the 'manufacturing waiver' impacts the European patent extension mechanism". Available at <a href="https://www.efpia.eu/media/288698/white-paper-the-impact-of-the-manufacturing-waiver-on-the-european-patent-extension-mechanism.pdf">https://www.efpia.eu/media/288698/white-paper-the-impact-of-the-manufacturing-waiver-on-the-european-patent-extension-mechanism.pdf</a>

⁶⁶ EMA (2017). "*Biosimilars in the EU, Information guide for healthcare professionals*". Available at <a href="https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/leaflet/biosimilars-eu-information-guide-healthcare-professionals_en.pdf">https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/leaflet/biosimilars-eu-information-guide-healthcare-professionals_en.pdf</a>

⁶⁷ EPR (2021). "New regulatory guidance could lead to UK biosimilar boom". Available at <a href="https://www.europeanpharmaceuticalreview.com/article/157326/new-regulatory-guidance-could-lead-to-uk-biosimilar-boom/">https://www.europeanpharmaceuticalreview.com/article/157326/new-regulatory-guidance-could-lead-to-uk-biosimilar-boom/</a>

⁶⁸ Gov.uk (2020). "*MHRA draft guidance on the licensing of biosimilar products*". Available at <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/mhra-draft-guidance-on-the-licensing-of-biosimilar-products</u>

⁶⁹ IGBA (2020). "Developing a Regulatory Policy Framework Supporting Biosimilar Competition: The Opportunity for Tailored Clinical Biosimilar Development". Available at https://www.igbamedicines.org/doc/IGBA%20Biosimilars%20Clinical%20Trial%20Tailoring%20policy%20paper%20S

https://www.igbamedicines.org/doc/IGBA%20Biosimilars%20Clinical%20Trial%20Tailoring%20policy%20paper%20S ept2020%20revision02.pdf

⁷⁰ IGBA (2020). "Developing a Regulatory Policy Framework Supporting Biosimilar Competition: The Opportunity for Tailored Clinical Biosimilar Development". Available at

https://www.igbamedicines.org/doc/IGBA%20Biosimilars%20Clinical%20Trial%20Tailoring%20policy%20paper%20Sept2020%20revision02.pdf

⁷¹ Swisscare. (n.d.) "*Guidance document authorization biosimilar HMV4*". Available at <a href="https://www.swissmedic.ch/swissmedic/en/home/humanarzneimittel/authorisations/information/anpassung_wlbiosimilar.html">https://www.swissmedic.ch/swissmedic/en/home/humanarzneimittel/authorisations/information/anpassung_wlbiosimilar.html</a>

⁷² Niazi, S. (2020). "Do we need comparative efficacy testing for biosimilars?". Available at https://www.biosimilardevelopment.com/doc/do-we-need-comparative-clinical-efficacy-testing-for-biosimilars-0001

https://www.biosimilardevelopment.com/doc/do-we-need-comparative-clinical-efficacy-testing-for-biosimilars-0001. [Accessed 27 August]

⁷³ Tesser, J. et al. (2017). "*Biosimilars and the extrapolation of indications for inflammatory conditions*". Available at <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5322938/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5322938/</a>

⁷⁴ WHO (2016). "*Regulatory Collaboration*". Available at <u>https://www.who.int/medicines/publications/druginformation/WHO-DI_30-4_RegCollaboration.pdf</u>

⁷⁵ U.S. Food & Drug Administration (FDA) (2018). "BIOSIMILARS ACTION PLAN: Balancing Innovation and Competition". Available at <a href="https://www.fda.gov/media/114574/download">https://www.fda.gov/media/114574/download</a> [Accessed 27 August]

⁷⁶ U.S. Food & Drug Administration (FDA) (2018). "*BIOSIMILARS ACTION PLAN: Balancing Innovation and Competition*". Available at <u>https://www.fda.gov/media/114574/download</u> [Accessed 27 August]

⁷⁷ HTA Glossary (2020). "*Updated definition of HTA*". Available at http://htaglossary.net/health+technology+assessment

⁷⁸ Ascef, B.D. et al. (2020). "*Health technology assessment of biosimilars worldwide: a scoping review*". Available at <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-020-00611-y</u>

⁷⁹ Moorkens, E. et al. (2020). "Economic evaluation of biosimilars for reimbursement purposes – what, when, how?". Available at <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32284827/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32284827/</a>

⁸⁰ Australian Government, Department of Health (2021). "*Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme. Procedure guidance for listing medicines on the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme*". Available at <a href="https://www.pbs.gov.au/industry/listing/procedure-guidance/files/Procedure-guidance-for-listing-medicines-on-the-Pharmaceutical-Benefits-Scheme-v2.1.pdf">https://www.pbs.gov.au/industry/listing/procedure-guidance/files/Procedure-guidance-for-listing-medicines-on-the-Pharmaceutical-Benefits-Scheme-v2.1.pdf</a>

⁸¹ Ascef, B.D. et al. (2020). "*Health technology assessment of biosimilars worldwide: a scoping review*". Available at <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-020-00611-y</u>

⁸² Ascef, B.D.,et al. (2020). "*Health technology assessment of biosimilars worldwide: a scoping review*". Available at <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-020-00611-y">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-020-00611-y</a>

⁸³ Dutta, B. et al. (2020). "Identifying Key Benefits in European Off-Patent Biologics and Biosimilar Countries: It is Not Only About Price!" Available at <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40259-019-00395-w</u>

⁸⁴ Merlin, T. et al. (2014). "What's in a name? Developing definitions for common health technology assessment product types of the international network of agencies for health technology assessment (inahta)". Available at <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25397872/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25397872/</a>

⁸⁵ GfK Country Access (2014). "Factors Supporting a Sustainable European Biosimilar Medicines Market". Available at <a href="https://www.biosimilars-nederland.nl/wp-">https://www.biosimilars-nederland.nl/wp-</a>

content/uploads/2015/08/EGA GFK White Paper Summary Sustainable European Biosimilars Country.pdf

⁸⁶ Deloitte (n.d.). "*Biosimilars in global countries*". Available at <a href="https://www2.deloitte.com/hu/en/pages/life-sciences-and-healthcare/articles/gx-winning-with-biosimilars-oppties-global-mkts.html">https://www2.deloitte.com/hu/en/pages/life-sciences-and-healthcare/articles/gx-winning-with-biosimilars-oppties-global-mkts.html</a>

⁸⁷ EUR-Lex (n.d.). "Transparency of decisions regulating the prices and the reimbursement of medicinal products in EU countries". Available at <a href="https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=LEGISSUM%3Al21144">https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=LEGISSUM%3Al21144</a>

⁸⁸ FDHA/FOPH (2021). "*Differentiated cost shares for drugs and medicinal products*". Available at <a href="https://www.bag.admin.ch/bag/en/home/versicherungen/krankenversicherung/krankenversicherung-leistungen-tarife/Arzneimittel/Differenzierter-Selbstbehalt-bei-Arzneimitteln.html">https://www.bag.admin.ch/bag/en/home/versicherungen/krankenversicherung/krankenversicherung-leistungen-tarife/Arzneimittel/Differenzierter-Selbstbehalt-bei-Arzneimitteln.html</a>

⁸⁹ FDHA/FOPH (2020) "Cost sharing – frequently asked questions (FAQ)". Available at <u>https://www.bag.admin.ch/bag/en/home/versicherungen/krankenversicherung/krankenversicherung-versicherte-mit-</u>wohnsitz-in-der-schweiz/praemien-kostenbeteiligung/kostenbeteiligung.html

⁹⁰ McKinsey & Company (2019). "Understanding the opportunity in Japan's biosimilar country". Available at <a href="https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/life-sciences/our-insights/understanding-the-opportunity-in-japans-biosimilar-country">https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/life-sciences/our-insights/understanding-the-opportunity-in-japans-biosimilar-country</a>

⁹¹ Inserro, A. (2019). "Which Reimbursement Changes Can Help Encourage Biosimilar Uptake?" Available at https://www.centerforbiosimilars.com/view/which-reimbursement-changes-can-help-encourage-biosimilar-uptake

⁹² Marton, G. (2020). "*Bringing Biosimilars to Market in Europe*". Available at https://www.pharmexec.com/view/bringing-biosimilars-to-country-in-europe

⁹³ Mehr, S. (2018). "*Plans Use Step Therapy to Encourage Utilization of Remicade Over Biosimilars*". Biosimilars Review & White paper (BR&R). Available at

https://biosimilarsrr.com/?s=Plans+Use+Step+Therapy+to+Encourage+Utilization+of+Remicade+Over+Biosimilars

⁹⁴ Chambers, J.D. et al. (2020). "Coverage for Biosimilars vs Reference Products Among US Commercial Health Plans". Available at <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.2229</u>.

⁹⁵ Biosimilars Council, Association for Affordable Medicines (2019). "*White Paper Part 2: Failure to Launch: Barriers to Biosimilar Country Adoption*". Available at <a href="https://www.biosimilarscouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/AAM-Biosimilars-Council-Failure-to-Launch-2-web.pdf">https://www.biosimilarscouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/AAM-Biosimilars-Council-Failure-to-Launch-2-web.pdf</a>

⁹⁶ Vandenplas et al. (2021). "Off-Patent Biological and Biosimilar Medicines in Belgium: A Country Landscape Analysis". Available at https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2021.644187/full

⁹⁷ GaBI Online. (2012). "*Biosimilars policies in Italy*". Available at <u>https://www.gabionline.net/white papers/Biosimilars-policies-in-Italy</u>

⁹⁸ Vaujany, A. (2021). Allen & Ovrey. "New pricing agreement in France includes provisions on biosimilars pricing for the first time". Available at <a href="https://www.jdsupra.com/legalnews/new-pricing-agreement-in-france-2440026/">https://www.jdsupra.com/legalnews/new-pricing-agreement-in-france-2440026/</a>

⁹⁹ Biomapas (n.d.). "Saudi FDA's new pricing guidelines and impact on the region". Available at https://www.biomapas.com/saudi-fdas-new-pricing-guidelines-and-impact-on-the-region/

¹⁰⁰ SKP (2016). "Payers' price & country access policies supporting a sustainable biosimilar medicines country". Available at <a href="https://www.medicinesforeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Simon-Kucher-2016-Policy-requirements-for-a-sustainable-biosimilar-country-FINAL-white paper_for-publication.pdf">https://www.medicinesforeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Simon-Kucher-2016-Policy-requirements-for-a-sustainable-biosimilar-country-FINAL-white paper_for-publication.pdf</a>

¹⁰¹ Pant et al. (2018) "International policies on the appropriate use of biosimilar drugs". Available at <a href="https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/es0333">https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/es0333</a> international-policies-on-use-of-biosimilar-drugs.pdf

¹⁰² Vandenplas, Y. et al (2021). "Off-Patent Biological and Biosimilar Medicines in Belgium: A Market Landscape Analysis". Available at https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2021.644187/full

¹⁰³ Moorkens, E. et al. (2017). "*Policies for biosimilar uptake in Europe: An overview*". Available at <a href="https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0190147">https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0190147</a>

¹⁰⁴ SEFAP (n.d.). "Sistema de precios de referencia: ¿Hasta dónde conviene que baje el precio de los medicamentos?" Available at https://www.sefap.org/2014/07/16/sistema-de-precios-de-referencia-hasta-donde-conviene-gue-baje-el-precio-de-los-medicamentos/

¹⁰⁵ Global Legal Insights (2021). "*Pricing and reimbursement laws and regulations 2021 – Belgium*". Available at <u>https://www.globallegalinsights.com/practice-areas/pricing-and-reimbursement-laws-and-regulations/belgium#chaptercontent3</u>

¹⁰⁶ Smeeding, J. et al. (2019). "*Biosimilars: Considerations for payers*". Available at <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6355057/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6355057/</a>

¹⁰⁷ Office of the Law Revision Counsel – Washington, DC (2017). "*Regulation of biological products*". Available at <a href="http://uscode.house.gov/view.xhtml?reg=(title:42%20section:262%20edition:prelim">http://uscode.house.gov/view.xhtml?reg=(title:42%20section:262%20edition:prelim)</a>

¹⁰⁸ Arad, N. et al (2021). "*Realizing the benefits of biosimilars: what the US can learn from Europe*". Available at https://healthpolicy.duke.edu/sites/default/files/2021-04/Realizing%20the%20Benefits%20of%20Biosimilars.pdf

¹⁰⁹ Barbier, L. et al. (2021) "Off-patent biologicals and biosimilars tendering in Europe – A proposal towards more sustainable practices". Available at <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8247/14/6/499</u>

¹¹⁰ Barbier, L. et al. (2021) "Off-patent biologicals and biosimilars tendering in Europe – A proposal towards more sustainable practices". Available at <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8247/14/6/499</u>

¹¹¹ Barbier, L. et al. (2021) "Off-patent biologicals and biosimilars tendering in Europe – A proposal towards more sustainable practices". Available at <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8247/14/6/499</u>

¹¹² EuroPharmaceutical Review (2020). "*The rise of biosimilars – navigating regulatory complexity in Europe*". Available at <a href="https://www.europeanpharmaceuticalreview.com/article/137503/the-rise-of-biosimilars-navigating-regulatory-complexity-in-europe/">https://www.europeanpharmaceuticalreview.com/article/137503/the-rise-of-biosimilars-navigating-regulatory-complexity-in-europe/</a>

¹¹³ Blake Dark, "UK Lessons learned From Multi-Winner Tenders". (Presentation, DIA Biosimilars Conference 2020, October 7, 2020).

¹¹⁴ NHS England (2018). Commissioning intentions: adalimumab. Available at <u>https://www.sps.nhs.uk/wp-</u> content/uploads/2018/09/20180925-Contractual-Commissioning-Intentions-Adalimumab_corporate-template.pdf

¹¹⁵ Alvarez, E.M. (2017). "*The auction of medicines in Andalucia. Controversial issues and future prospects*". Available at <a href="https://revistasonline.inap.es/index.php/REALA/article/download/10422/11082?inline=1">https://revistasonline.inap.es/index.php/REALA/article/download/10422/11082?inline=1</a>

¹¹⁶ PharmaExec (2020). "*Bringing biosimilars to market in Europe*". Available at <u>https://www.pharmexec.com/view/bringing-biosimilars-to-country-in-europe</u>

¹¹⁷ IHS Markit (2018) "*Norwegian pharma industry calls for tendering and IRP reforms*". Available at <a href="https://ihsmarkit.com/research-analysis/norwegian-pharma-industry-calls-for-tendering-and-irp-reforms.html">https://ihsmarkit.com/research-analysis/norwegian-pharma-industry-calls-for-tendering-and-irp-reforms.html</a>

¹¹⁸ IHS Markit (2018) "*Norwegian pharma industry calls for tendering and IRP reforms*". Available at https://ihsmarkit.com/research-analysis/norwegian-pharma-industry-calls-for-tendering-and-irp-reforms.html

¹¹⁹ Barbier, L. et al. (2021) "Off-patent biologicals and biosimilars tendering in Europe – A proposal towards more sustainable practices". Available at <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8247/14/6/499</u>

¹²⁰ Biosimilar medicines (2020) "*Market review – biosimilar medicine markets*". Available at <a href="https://www.medicinesforeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Biosimilar%20Country%20Review-Final.pdf">https://www.medicinesforeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Biosimilar%20Country%20Review-Final.pdf</a>

¹²¹ Vogler, S. et al. (2017). "*Tendering for off-patent outpatient medicines*". Available at <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/317622739 Tendering for off-</u>patent outpatient medicines Lessons learned from experiences in Belgium Denmark and the Netherlands

¹²² IDBS Blog (2021). "Beating the Capacity Crunch: Rethinking the Biopharma Supply Chain to Avoid Shortages". Available at <u>https://www.idbs.com/2021/06/beating-the-capacity-crunch-rethinking-the-biopharma-supply-chain-to-avoid-shortages/</u>

¹²³ Barbier et al. (2021). "Off-Patent Biologicals and Biosimilars Tendering in Europe—A Proposal towards More Sustainable Practices". Available at <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34073861/</u>

¹²⁴ Alvarez, E.M. (2017). "*The auction of medicines in Andalucia. Controversial issues and future prospects*". Available at <a href="https://revistasonline.inap.es/index.php/REALA/article/download/10422/11082?inline=1">https://revistasonline.inap.es/index.php/REALA/article/download/10422/11082?inline=1</a>

¹²⁵ GaBI Online (2013). "*Regional tenders on biosimilars in Italy: potentially competitive?*" Available at <u>http://gabi-journal.net/regional-tenders-on-biosimilars-in-italy-potentially-competitive.html</u>

¹²⁶ DiarioFarma (2020). "*Biosimilares: el acuerdo marco del Ingesa baja el precio hasta el 85*%". Available at <u>https://www.diariofarma.com/2020/01/24/el-acuerdo-marco-del-ingesa-sobre-biosimilares-pide-descuentos-de-hasta-</u> <u>el-85</u>

¹²⁷ Alvarez, E.M. (2017). "The auction of medicines in Andalucia. Controversial issues and future prospects". Available at <a href="https://revistasonline.inap.es/index.php/REALA/article/download/10422/11082?inline=1">https://revistasonline.inap.es/index.php/REALA/article/download/10422/11082?inline=1</a>

¹²⁸ Government of Spain (2020). "Pedro Sánchez presents Action Plan for Science and Innovation, with 1.06 billion euros in direct investment". Available at

https://www.lamoncloa.gob.es/lang/en/presidente/news/Paginas/2020/20200907_rd-i.aspx

¹²⁹ Barbier, L. et al. (2021) "Off-patent biologicals and biosimilars tendering in Europe – A proposal towards more sustainable practices". Available at <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8247/14/6/499</u>

¹³⁰ AJMC (2021). "Survey: European Union needs to fine-tune its biosimilars procurement". Available at <u>https://www.centerforbiosimilars.com/view/survey-european-union-needs-to-fine-tune-its-biosimilars-procurement-process</u>

¹³¹ AJMC (2021). "Survey: European Union needs to fine-tune its biosimilars procurement". Available at <a href="https://www.centerforbiosimilars.com/view/survey-european-union-needs-to-fine-tune-its-biosimilars-procurement-process">https://www.centerforbiosimilars.com/view/survey-european-union-needs-to-fine-tune-its-biosimilars-procurement-process</a>

¹³² USP (n.d.). "*Timeline: Generic medicines in the US*". Available at <u>https://www.usp.org/our-impact/generics/timeline-of-generics-in-us</u>

¹³³ Mergers and Acquisitions (2018). "*UAE Issues New Code Governing the Promotion and Distribution of Medical Products*". Available at <a href="https://www.tamimi.com/law-update-articles/uae-issues-new-code-governing-promotion-distribution-medical-products/">https://www.tamimi.com/law-update-articles/uae-issues-new-code-governing-promotion-distribution-medical-products/</a>

¹³⁴ Heikkila, R. et al. (2011). "Do people regard cheaper medicines effective? Population survey on public opinion of generic substitution in Finland". Available at

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/49773765_Do_people_regard_cheaper_medicines_effective_Population_su rvey on public opinion of generic substitution in Finland

¹³⁵ Biosimilars Nederland (n.d.). "*Initiative Group Biosimilars The Netherlands*". Available at <u>https://www.biosimilars-nederland.nl/initiative-group-biosimilars-the-netherlands/</u>

¹³⁶ Federal Agentschap voor Geneesmiddelen en Gezondheidsproducten (FAGG) (2018). "*Nieuwe campagne om patienten te informeren over biologische geneesmiddelen en om het voorschrijven van biosimilaire geneesmiddelen aan te moedigen*". Available at

https://www.fagg.be/nl/news/nieuwe_campagne_om_patienten_te_informeren_over_biologische_geneesmiddelen_e n_om_het

¹³⁷ GaBI Online (2020). *"France aims to reach 80% biosimilar penetration by 2022"*. Available at <u>https://www.gabionline.net/policies-legislation/France-aims-to-reach-80-biosimilar-penetration-by-2022</u>

¹³⁸ EPR (2020). "*The rise of biosimilars – navigating regulatory complexity in Europe*". Available at <a href="https://www.europeanpharmaceuticalreview.com/article/137503/the-rise-of-biosimilars-navigating-regulatory-complexity-in-europe/">https://www.europeanpharmaceuticalreview.com/article/137503/the-rise-of-biosimilars-navigating-regulatory-complexity-in-europe/</a>

¹³⁹ European Medicines Agency and the European Commission (2019). "*Biosimilars in the EU: Information guide for healthcare professionals*". Available at <u>https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/leaflet/biosimilars-eu-information-guide-healthcare-professionals_en.pdf</u>

¹⁴⁰ Asociación Española de Biosimilares (BioSim) (n.d.) "*Guías y folletos – recursos sobre medicamentos biosimilares*". Available at <u>https://www.biosim.es/guias-y-folletos/</u>

¹⁴¹ Remuzat, C. et al. (2016). "Supply-side and demand-side policies for biosimilars: an overview in 10 European member states". Available at <a href="https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/20016689.2017.1307315">https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/20016689.2017.1307315</a>

¹⁴² Australian Government, Department of Health (2017). "*Biosimilar uptake drivers. Canberra (AU*)". Available at <a href="http://www.pbs.gov.au/general/biosimilars/biosimilar-uptake-drivers-q-and-a.pdf">http://www.pbs.gov.au/general/biosimilars/biosimilar-uptake-drivers-q-and-a.pdf</a>

¹⁴³ Canadian Society of Intestinal Research (2021). "*Provincial and Territorial Biologics Policies*". Available at <a href="https://badgut.org/information-centre/a-z-digestive-topics/provincial-biologics-policies/">https://badgut.org/information-centre/a-z-digestive-topics/provincial-biologics-policies/</a>

¹⁴⁴ BC Pharmacare Biosimilars Initiative. "*Biosimilars Initiative for Prescribers*". Available at <a href="https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/health/practitioner-professionalresources/pharmacare/prescribers/biosimilars-initiative-prescribers">https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/health/practitioner-professionalresources/pharmacare/prescribers/biosimilars-initiative-prescribers.</a>

¹⁴⁵ Alberta Blue Cross. "Government-sponsored Biosimilar Initiative". Available at https://www.ab.bluecross.ca/government-plan/biosimilar-initiative.php.

¹⁴⁶ Moorkens et al. (2020). "Learnings from Regional Market Dynamics of Originator and Biosimilar Infliximab and Etanercept in Germany". Available at <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8247/13/10/324</u>

¹⁴⁷ Moorkens et al. (2020). "*Learnings from Regional Market Dynamics of Originator and Biosimilar Infliximab and Etanercept in Germany*". Available at <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8247/13/10/324">https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8247/13/10/324</a>

¹⁴⁸ NHS England (2017). "*Commissioning framework for biological medicines (including biosimilar medicines*)". Available at <a href="https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/biosimilar-medicines-commissioning-framework.pdf">https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/biosimilar-medicines-commissioning-framework.pdf</a>

¹⁴⁹ TwoLabs Pharma Services (2018). "*NHS England targeting £150 million in savings through rapid adoption of biosimilar adalimumab*". Available at <a href="https://twolabs.com/nhs-england-targeting-150-million-in-savings-through-rapid-adoption-of-biosimilar-adalimumab/">https://twolabs.com/nhs-england-targeting-150-million-in-savings-through-rapid-adoption-of-biosimilar-adalimumab/</a>

¹⁵⁰ Tyer D. Pharmaphorum (2019). "*Biosimilars in the UK: where are we now and where does the NHS want to go*?" Available at <a href="https://pharmaphorum.com/views-analysis-country-access/biosimilars-in-the-uk/">https://pharmaphorum.com/views-analysis-country-access/biosimilars-in-the-uk/</a>

¹⁵¹ Tyer D. Pharmaphorum. (2019). "*Biosimilars in the UK: where are we now and where does the NHS want to go*?". Available at <a href="https://pharmaphorum.com/views-analysis-country-access/biosimilars-in-the-uk/">https://pharmaphorum.com/views-analysis-country-access/biosimilars-in-the-uk/</a>

¹⁵² Moorkens et al. (2020). "Learnings from Regional Market Dynamics of Originator and Biosimilar Infliximab and Etanercept in Germany". Available at https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8247/13/10/324

¹⁵³ IQVIA (2018). "Advancing biosimilar sustainability in Europe". Available at <u>https://www.iqvia.com/-/media/iqvia/pdfs/institute-white papers/advancing-biosimilar-sustainability-in-europe.pdf?_=1628700569054</u> [Accessed 11 August 2021]

¹⁵⁴ Swiss Medical Weekly (2019) "*Position statement on the use of biosimilars in inflammatory bowel disease*". Available at <a href="https://smw.ch/article/doi/smw.2019.20148">https://smw.ch/article/doi/smw.2019.20148</a>

¹⁵⁵ European Medicines Agency (EMA)

¹⁵⁶ Vogler, S. (2021). "Policies to Encourage the Use of Biosimilars in European Countries and Their Potential Impact on Pharmaceutical Expenditure". Available at https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2021.625296/full

¹⁵⁷ Reinke, T. (2019). "Why Biosimilars Can Never Be Identical To Originators – and Why They Don't Need To Be". Available at <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30883316/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30883316/</a>

¹⁵⁸ Furrow, M. (2019). "*Biosimilars and the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act*". Available at <u>https://www.dlapiper.com/~/media/files/people/furrow-michael/biosimilars-and-the-biologics-price-competition-and-innovation-act-bpcia.pdf?la=en&hash=42D9F3039DA2E6B404B80FF47C17EE155D3F5A20 [Accessed 11 August]</u>

¹⁵⁹ Pharma Boardroom (2020). "Biosimilars and biologics in Brazil". Available at <u>https://pharmaboardroom.com/legal-articles/biosimilars-biologics-brazil/</u>

¹⁶⁰ Afzali, A. et al. (2021) "*The Automatic Substitution of Biosimilars: Definitions of Interchangeability are not Interchangeable*". Available at <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12325-021-01688-9</u>

¹⁶¹ Afzali, A. et al. (2021). "*The Automatic Substitution of Biosimilars: Definitions of Interchangeability are not Interchangeable*". Available at <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8107170/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8107170/</a>

¹⁶² Moorkens et al. (2020). "Learnings from Regional Market Dynamics of Originator and Biosimilar Infliximab and Etanercept in Germany". Available at https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8247/13/10/324

¹⁶³ Arad N. et al. (2021). "*Realizing the benefits of biosimilars: What the U.S. Can Learn from Europe*". Available at <a href="https://healthpolicy.duke.edu/publications/realizing-benefits-biosimilars-what-us-can-learn-europe">https://healthpolicy.duke.edu/publications/realizing-benefits-biosimilars-what-us-can-learn-europe</a>

¹⁶⁴ Bird & Bird (2017). "Government moves to legislate to increase generic and biosimilar medicine uptake and cut medicine prices". Available at <u>https://www.twobirds.com/en/news/articles/2017/australia/government-moves-to-increase-generic-and-biosimilar-medicine-uptake-and-cut-medicine-prices</u>

¹⁶⁵ FDHA/FOPH (2020). "Health insurance: Premiums and co-payment". Available at <a href="https://www.bag.admin.ch/bag/en/home/versicherungen/krankenversicherung/krankenversicherung-versicherte-mit-wohnsitz-in-der-schweiz/praemien-kostenbeteiligung.html">https://www.bag.admin.ch/bag/en/home/versicherungen/krankenversicherung/krankenversicherung-versicherte-mit-wohnsitz-in-der-schweiz/praemien-kostenbeteiligung.html</a>

¹⁶⁶ European Medicines Agency (EMA). (2016). "*Guideline on good pharmacovigilance practices (GVP)*". Available at <a href="https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/scientific-guideline/guideline-good-pharmacovigilance-practices-gvp-product-population-specific-considerations-ii_en-0.pdf">https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/scientific-guideline/guideline-good-pharmacovigilance-practices-gvp-product-population-specific-considerations-ii_en-0.pdf</a>

¹⁶⁷ European Medicines Agency (EMA). (n.d.). "*Medicines under additional monitoring*". Available at <a href="https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/human-regulatory/post-authorisation/pharmacovigilance/medicines-under-additional-monitoring">https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/human-regulatory/post-authorisation/pharmacovigilance/medicines-under-additional-monitoring</a>

¹⁶⁸ Khan, M.A. et al. (2020). "*Emerging role of biosimilars in oncology-hematology in Saudi Arabia: a practical perspective*". Available at <a href="https://meridian.allenpress.com/innovationsjournals-JQSH/article/3/1/22/434853/Emerging-Role-of-Biosimilars-in-Oncology">https://meridian.allenpress.com/innovationsjournals-JQSH/article/3/1/22/434853/Emerging-Role-of-Biosimilars-in-Oncology</a>

¹⁶⁹ AJMC. (2017) "*Learning from the Norwegian experience with Biosimilars*". Available at https://www.centerforbiosimilars.com/view/learning-from-the-norwegian-experience-with-biosimilars

¹⁷⁰ Gabi Online (2018) "2nd MENA stakeholder meeting on Biosimilars 2018 – White paper". Available at <u>http://gabi-journal.net/2nd-mena-stakeholder-meeting-on-biosimilars-2018-white paper.html</u>

¹⁷¹ Dranitsaris, G. et al. (2017). "*Drug tendering: drug supply and shortage implications for the uptake of biosimilars*". Available at

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/320169253 Drug tendering Drug supply and shortage implications for t he uptake of biosimilars

¹⁷² Vogler, S. et al. (2017). "*Tendering for off-patent outpatient medicines*". Available at <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/317622739 Tendering for off-</u>patent_outpatient_medicines_Lessons_learned_from_experiences_in_Belgium_Denmark_and_the_Netherlands

¹⁷³ KPMG (2019) "Improving healthcare delivery in hospitals by optimized utilization of medicines". Available at https://www.medicinesforeurope.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/20190903 Hospital-Reform-Study final.pdf

¹⁷⁴ Khan, M.A. et al. (2020). "*Emerging role of biosimilars in oncology-hematology in Saudi Arabia: a practical perspective*". Available at <u>https://meridian.allenpress.com/innovationsjournals-JQSH/article/3/1/22/434853/Emerging-Role-of-Biosimilars-in-Oncology</u>